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EURO MEDIUM TERM NOTE PROGRAMME

Under this euro medium term note programme (the "Programme"), BNP Paribas' ("BNPP", the
"Bank" or the "Issuer") may from time to time issue Notes in bearer or registered form (respectively,
"Bearer Notes" and "Registered Notes" and, together, the "Notes") denominated in any currency
agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) (as defined below). This Base Prospectus ("Base
Prospectus" or "this Document") supersedes and replaces all previous offering circulars or
prospectuses prepared in connection with the Programme. Any Notes (as defined below) issued
under the Programme on or after the date of this Document are issued subject to the provisions
described herein. This does not affect any Notes already in issue. This Base Prospectus constitutes
a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation. The "Prospectus
Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of 14 June 2017, as amended. Notes may be issued
whose return (whether in respect of any interest payable on such Notes and/or their redemption
amount) is linked to one or more indices including custom indices ("Index Linked Notes") or one or
more shares of any company(ies) (including two or more shares which are attached to each other
so that they trade as a single unit ("Stapled Shares"), global depositary receipts and/or American
depositary receipts) ("Share Linked Notes") or one or more inflation indices ("Inflation Linked
Notes") or one or more commodities or commodity indices ("Commodity Linked Notes") or one or
more interests or units in funds or one or more fund indices or euro fund insurance or investment
policies or capitalisation contracts ("Fund Linked Notes") or the credit of a specified entity or entities
("Credit Linked Notes") or one or more fund shares or interests in exchange traded funds,
exchange traded notes, exchange traded commodities or other exchange traded products (each an
"exchange traded instrument") ("ETI Linked Notes") or one or more foreign exchange rates
("Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes") or one or more underlying interest rate
("Underlying Interest Rate Linked Notes") or any combination thereof ("Hybrid Notes") as more
fully described herein. Notes may provide that settlement will by way of cash settlement ("Cash
Settled Notes") or physical delivery ("Physical Delivery Notes") as provided in the applicable Final
Terms.

The Notes will be issued to one or more of the Dealers specified below (each a "Dealer" and together
the "Dealers", which expression shall include any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme
from time to time) on a continuing basis by way of private or syndicated placements.

The Issuer has determined and agreed with the Dealers to remove the limit on the aggregate nominal
amount of the Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

The Notes may be governed by English law or French law, as specified in the applicable Final Terms,
and the corresponding provisions in the terms and conditions will apply to such Notes.

This Base Prospectus received approval no. 23-268 on 30 June 2023 from the Autorité des marchés
financiers (the "AMF") and will be valid for a period of one year following the date of its approval by
the AMF. The obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus in the event of a significant new factor,
material mistake or material inaccuracy does not apply when this Base Prospectus is no longer valid.

This Base Prospectus has been approved as a base prospectus by the AMF in France as competent
authority pursuant to the Prospectus Regulation. The AMF only approves this Base Prospectus as
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meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the
Prospectus Regulation. Approval by the AMF should not be considered as an endorsement of the
Issuer or of the quality of the Notes. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability
of investing in the Notes.

Upon such approval, application may be made for Notes issued under the Programme during a
period of 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus to be listed and/or admitted to trading on
Euronext Paris and/or a Regulated Market (as defined below) in another Member State of the
European Economic Area (the "EEA"). Euronext Paris is a regulated market for the purposes of the
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended (each such regulated market
being a "Regulated Market"). References in this Base Prospectus to Notes being "listed" (and all
related references) shall mean that such Notes have been listed and admitted to trading on Euronext
Paris or, as the case may be, a Regulated Market (including the regulated market of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange (including the professional segment of the regulated market of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange)) or the Euro MTF exchange regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(the "Euro MTF Market") (including the professional segment of the Euro MTF) or on such other or
further stock exchange(s) as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s). The
Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes. The relevant final terms (the forms of each contained herein)
in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not such Notes will be admitted to trading,
and, if so, the relevant Regulated Market or other or further stock exchange(s). Except in certain
specified circumstances the specific terms of each Tranche will be set forth in a set of final terms to
this Base Prospectus which is the final terms document (the "Final Terms") which will be completed
at the time of the agreement to issue each Tranche of Notes and (other than in the case of Exempt
Notes) which will constitute final terms for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation
which will be filed with the AMF. This Base Prospectus and any supplement thereto will be available
on the Issuer's websites (https://invest.bnpparibas/en/search/debt/documents).

The requirement to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation only applies to Notes
which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EEA and/or offered to the public in
the EEA other than in circumstances where an exemption is available under Article 1(4) and/or 3(2)
of the Prospectus Regulation. The requirement to publish a prospectus under the Financial Services
and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") only applies to Notes which are admitted to trading on a UK
regulated market as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 on markets in financial instruments as
it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "EUWA")
("UK MiFIR") and/or offered to the public in the United Kingdom other than in circumstances where
an exemption is available under section 86 of the FSMA.

The Issuer may issue Notes for which no prospectus is required to be published under (i) the
Prospectus Regulation and/or (ii) Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of 14 June 2017 as it forms part of
domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK Prospectus Regulation"), as the case may be
("Exempt Notes") under this Base Prospectus. See "Exempt Notes" in the "Overview of this Base
Prospectus" section below. The AMF has neither approved nor reviewed information contained in
this Base Prospectus in connection with Exempt Notes. Canadian dollar denominated Notes settling
and clearing through CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. ("CDS", and such Notes
"Canadian Notes") may be issued as Exempt Notes only.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the "Securities Act") or the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the
United States. The Notes are being offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities
Act ("Regulation S") and, until the expiry of the 40 days after the completion of the distribution of all
of the Notes of the relevant Tranche, may not be offered, sold, resold, held, traded, pledged,
redeemed, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, within the United States or to, or for the
account or benefit of, a U.S. person except in accordance with Regulation S or pursuant to an
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities
Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them in Regulation S under the
Securities Act. See "Subscription and Sale — Selling Restrictions — United States".
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Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange in accordance with the Luxembourg
Act dated 16 July 2019 on prospectuses for securities (Loi relative aux prospectus pour valeurs
mobilieres) (the "Prospectus Act") for Notes (including Exempt Notes) issued under the
Programme to be admitted to the Official List and admitted to trading on the Euro MTF Market during
the twelve-month period from the date of this Base Prospectus. This Base Prospectus also
constitutes a prospectus for the purpose of the Prospectus Act; however, the AMF has not verified
that this is the case. The Euro MTF is not a regulated market for the purposes of Directive
2014/65/EU, as amended.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see
"Documents Incorporated by Reference" below), the information on the websites to which this Base
Prospectus refers does not form part of this Base Prospectus unless that information is incorporated
by reference into the Base Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the AMF.

BNPP's long-term credit ratings are A+ with a stable outlook (S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited
("Standard & Poor's")), Aa3 with a stable outlook (Moody's Investors Service Ltd. ("Moody's")),
AA- with a stable outlook (Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited ("Fitch")) (which is the long-term rating
assigned to BNPP's senior preferred debt by Fitch) and AA (low) with a stable outlook (DBRS Rating
GmbH ("DBRS Morningstar")) and BNPP's short-term credit ratings are A-1 (Standard & Poor's),
P-1 (Moody's), F1+ (Fitch) and R-1 (middle) (DBRS Morningstar). BNPP's Tier 2 instruments ratings
are BBB+ (Standard & Poor's), Baa2 (Moody's), A- (Fitch) and A (DBRS Morningstar). BNPP's Non
Preferred Senior debt ratings are A- (Standard & Poor's), Baal (Moody's), A+ (Fitch) and A (high)
(DBRS Morningstar). Each of Standard & Poor's, Fitch and DBRS Morningstar is established in the
European Union and is registered under the Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the
"CRA Regulation"). The ratings issued by Moody's have been endorsed by Moody’s Deutschland
GmbH, Frankfurt am Main in accordance with the CRA Regulation. Moody’s Deutschland GmbH,
Frankfurt am Main is established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation.
As such each of Standard & Poor's, Fitch, DBRS Morningstar and Moody’s Deutschland GmbH,
Frankfurt am Main is included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the European
Securities and Markets Authority on its website (at https://www.esma.europa.eu/credit-rating-
agencies/cra-authorisation) in accordance with the CRA Regulation. Moody's is established in the
United Kingdom and is registered in accordance with Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 as it forms
part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK CRA
Regulation"). Moody's is included in the list of credit rating agencies published by the Financial
Conduct Authority on its website (https:/reqgister.fca.org.uk) in accordance with the UK CRA
Regulation. None of Standard & Poor's, Fitch or DBRS Morningstar are established in the United
Kingdom and have not applied for registration under the UK CRA Regulation. To the extent that the
ratings issued by Standard & Poor's, Fitch and DBRS Morningstar have been endorsed by a credit
rating agency that is established in the United Kingdom and registered under the UK CRA
Regulation, the ratings issued by Standard & Poor's, Fitch and DBRS Morningstar may be used for
regulatory purposes in the United Kingdom in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation. Notes
issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. A security rating is not a recommendation to
buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time.

Arranger for the Programme
BNP PARIBAS

Dealers
BNP Paribas Arbitrage S.N.C. BNP PARIBAS



IMPORTANT NOTICES

Overview of the BRRD and its Implication for the Notes

By its acquisition of the Notes, each holder acknowledges, accepts, consents and agrees to be bound
by the effect of the exercise of the Bail-in or Loss Absorption Power by the relevant resolution authority.
Please also refer to the "Risks" section and the "Investment Considerations" section of this Base
Prospectus.

1.

What is the BRRD?

The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (2014/59/EU), as amended ("BRRD") requires
the governments of all EU member states to provide their relevant resolution authorities with a
set of tools to intervene sufficiently early and quickly in an unsound or failing institution so as to
ensure the continuity of that institution's critical financial and economic functions, while
minimising the impact of that institution's failure on the broader economy and financial system.

Directive (EU) 2019/879 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019
amending the BRRD as regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalisation capacity of credit
institutions and investment firms and Regulation (EU) 2019/877 of the European Parliament
and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending the Single Resolution Mechanism Regulation
(Regulation 806/2014) as regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalisation capacity of credit
institutions and investment firms, have been published on 7 June 2019 in the Official Journal of
the European Union. They amend a number of key EU banking directives and regulations,
including the BRRD, the Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council
of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of
credit institutions and investment firms ("CRD"), the Regulation 2013/575 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions
and investment firms ("CRR"), and the Single Resolution Mechanism.

On 18 April 2023, the European Commission presented a legislative package to adjust and
further strengthen the EU’s existing bank crises management and deposit insurance ("CMDI")
framework by amending the BRRD, the SRMR and the Deposit Guarantee Scheme Directive
("DGSD"). The legislative package will now be discussed by the European Parliament and the
Council. If implemented as proposed, senior preferred obligations (such as Senior Preferred
Notes) will no longer rank pari passu with any deposits of the Issuer. As such, there could be
an increased risk of an investor in senior preferred obligations (such as Senior Preferred Notes)
losing all or some of its investment. This proposal will be discussed and amended by the
European Parliament and the European Council before any final adoption (whose date is
unknown).

The BRRD contains four resolution tools and powers (the "Resolution Tools") which may be
used alone or in combination where the relevant resolution authority considers that (a) an
affected institution is failing or likely to fail, (b) there is no reasonable prospect that any
alternative private sector measures would prevent the failure of such affected institution within
a reasonable timeframe, and (c) a resolution action is in the public interest: (i) sale of business
— which enables the relevant resolution authorities to direct the sale of the affected institution
or the whole or part of its business on commercial terms; (ii) bridge institution — which enables
the relevant resolution authorities to transfer all or part of the business of the affected institution
to a "bridge institution" (an entity created for this purpose that is wholly or partially in public
control); (iii) asset separation — which enables the relevant resolution authorities to transfer
impaired or problem assets to one or more publicly owned asset management vehicles to allow
them to be managed with a view to maximising their value through eventual sale or orderly
wind-down (this can be used together with another resolution tool only); and (iv) Bail-In Power
(as defined in paragraph 3 below).

It is important to note that protections are granted to the creditors of an EU bank in case of the
exercise of a Resolution Tool over such bank. The most important one is the principle known
as the "no creditor worse off principle”" as specified in the BRRD. This principle is intended to
ensure that the creditors of a bank which is subject to the exercise of any Resolution Tool under
the BRRD shall not incur greater losses than they would have incurred if such affected bank



had been wound up under normal insolvency proceedings. For this purpose, the relevant
resolution authorities have to ensure that it is assessed at the time of exercise of any Resolution
Tool whether shareholders and creditors of an affected bank would have received better
treatment if such affected bank had entered into normal insolvency proceedings. The BRRD
has been implemented in France through Ordinance No.2020-1636 dated 21 December 2020
relating to the resolution regime in the banking sector (the "Ordinance"). In particular, the
Ordinance has implemented Article 48(7) of BRRD which requires Member States to modify
their national insolvency law to ensure that claims resulting from funds rank in insolvency below
any other claims that do not result from own funds as defined by the CRR (the "Own Funds").
The transposition of this provision by the Ordinance has modified the rules governing the order
of creditors' claims applicable to French credit institutions in insolvency proceedings.
Subordinated obligations and deeply subordinated obligations of the Issuer issued before the
entry into force of those provisions will keep their contractual ranking if they are, or have been,
fully or partially recognized as Own Funds.

Article L.613-30-3, I, 5° of the French Code monétaire et financier states that, as from 28
December 2020, it should not be possible for liabilities of a credit institution that are not Own
Funds to rank pari passu with Own Funds.

Therefore, a new rank within subordinated obligations has been created for subordinated
obligations or deeply subordinated obligations of the Issuer, issued as from 28 December 2020
if and when they completely cease to constitute tier 2 capital or additional tier 1 capital
instruments of the Issuer. They will rank in priority to tier 2 capital instruments and additional
tier 1 capital instruments of the Issuer in order to comply with article L.613-30-3, I, 5° of the
French Code monétaire et financier.

Consequently,

(i) as long as subordinated obligations are recognised as tier 2 capital instruments, they
will rank as tier 2 capital instruments, and, if they are no longer recognised as tier 2
capital instruments, they will automatically rank as "Disqualified Subordinated
Obligations"; and

(i) as long as deeply subordinated obligations are recognised as additional tier 1 capital
instruments, they will rank as additional tier 1 capital instruments of the Issuer, and, if
they are no longer recognised as additional tier 1 capital instruments, they will
automatically rank as disqualified additional tier 1 obligations and will rank pari passu
with the Disqualified Subordinated Obligations;

without any action from the Issuer and without obtaining the consent of the creditors of
subordinated obligations or any other obligations.

All subordinated obligations or deeply subordinated obligations granted by the Issuer prior to
the date of entry into force of the Ordinance that are, or have been, fully or partially recognised
as Own Funds of the Issuer, rank and as long as they are outstanding will rank as tier 2 capital
instruments or additional tier 1 capital instruments of the Issuer as the case may be, in
accordance with their contractual terms.

Is the Issuer subject to the BRRD?

Yes, the Issuer is a credit institution incorporated in France and is subject to the BRRD and the
French legislation having implemented the BRRD, and Regulation (EU) No 806/2014, as
amended.

Under French legislation having implemented the BRRD, substantial powers are granted to the
Autorité de contréle prudentiel et de résolution ("ACPR"), the French resolution authority,
and/or to other relevant resolution authorities in the EU, to implement resolution measures in
respect of a French credit institution (including, for example, the Issuer) and certain of its
affiliates (each a "relevant entity") to protect and enhance the stability of the financial system
if the relevant French resolution authorities consider the failure of the relevant entity has
become likely and certain other conditions are satisfied including the use of the Resolution
Tools.



The exercise of any Resolution Tool or any suggestion of any such exercise under the BRRD
over the Issuer could adversely affect the value of the Notes. You may therefore lose all or a
substantial part of your investment in the Notes.

In addition, the resolution powers could be exercised (i) prior to the commencement of any
insolvency proceedings in respect of the Issuer, and (ii) by the relevant French resolution
authority without your consent or any prior notice to you. Accordingly, you may not be able to
anticipate a potential exercise of any such resolution powers over the Issuer.

What is "Bail-In Power"?

"Bail-In Power" means the power of the relevant resolution authority to write down or convert
to equity certain claims of unsecured creditors of a failing institution. In particular, the obligations
of the Issuer in respect of the Notes can be reduced (in part or in whole), cancelled, modified,
or converted into shares, other securities or other obligations of the Issuer or any other person.

In addition, capital instruments may be written down or converted into shares or other
instruments of ownership either in connection with a resolution proceeding, or in certain other
cases described below without or prior to a resolution proceeding. Capital instruments for these
purposes include common equity tier 1, additional tier 1 and tier 2 instruments, such as the
Subordinated Notes.

The relevant resolution authority must write down capital instruments, or convert them into
shares or other instruments of ownership in any of the following circumstances (the so called
"point of non-viability"):

() where the determination has been made that conditions for resolution have been met,
before any resolution action is taken;

(ii) the appropriate authority determines that unless that power is exercised in relation to
the relevant capital instruments, the institution or the group will no longer be viable; or

(iii) extraordinary public financial support is required by the institution, except in certain
circumstances.

Are the Issuer's obligations under the Notes subject to the "Bail-In Power"?

If any Bail-In Power is exercised with respect to the Notes, you may not be able to recover all
or even part of the amount due under the Notes from the Issuer, or you may receive a different
security issued by the Issuer (or another person) in place of the amount (if any) due to you
under the Notes, which may be worth significantly less than the amount due to you under the
Notes at expiry.

The effect of the exercise of the Bail-In Power by the relevant French resolution authority over
the Issuer may include and result in any of the following, or some combination thereof:

o the reduction of all, or a portion, of the amounts payable by the Issuer under the terms
of the Notes (including a reduction to zero);

o the conversion of all, or a portion, of the amounts due under the Notes into shares or
other securities or other obligations of the Issuer or of another person, including by
means of an amendment, modification or variation of the contractual terms, in which
case you agree to accept in lieu of your contractual rights under the terms of the Notes
any such shares, other securities or other obligations of the Issuer or another person;

. the cancellation of the Notes;

. the amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Notes or amendment of the amount
of interest payable on the Notes, or the date on which the interest becomes payable,
including by suspending payment for a temporary period; and/or

. if applicable, the variation of the terms of the Notes, if necessary to give effect to the
exercise of the Bail-In Power by the relevant resolution authority.

Article L. 613-56-9 of the French Code monétaire et financier specifies conditions for
contractual recognition of the Bail-in Power. Any financial contract entered into by an entity



referred to in Section | of Article L.613-34 of the French Code monétaire et financier that creates
an obligation or substantially modifies an existing obligation as from 28 December 2020 and
which is governed by the law of a third country shall include a clause specifying that the parties
acknowledge that such obligation may be subject to the exercise by the relevant resolution
authority of the Bail-In Power as if the contract was governed by the law of a Member State.

Accordingly, if any Bail-In Power is exercised over the Issuer with respect to Notes, you
may not be able to recover all or even part of the amount due under the Notes, or you
may receive a different security issued by the Issuer (or another person) in place of the
amount (if any) due to you under the Notes, which may be worth significantly less than
the amount due to you under the Notes at expiry.

In addition, the exercise of the Resolution Tools may also result, after any transfer of all
or part of the Issuer's business or separation of any of its assets, in the Noteholders
(even in the absence of any such write down or conversion) being left as the creditors
of the Issuer, whose remaining business or assets is insufficient to support the claims
of all or any of the creditors of the Issuer (including the Noteholders).

There are significant risks inherent in the holding of the Notes, including the risks in
relation to their subordination, the circumstances in which the Notes may be written
down or converted to ordinary shares and the implications on prospective purchasers
of Notes (such as a substantial loss), the circumstances in which such prospective
purchasers may suffer loss as a result of holding the Notes are difficult to predict and
the quantum of any loss incurred by investors in the Notes in such circumstances is
also highly uncertain. For more information, please also refer to the "Risks" section of
this Base Prospectus.

Disclaimer statement for Notes

In relation to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain, Notes issued in connection with this Base Prospectus
and related offering documents must be in registered form and must only be marketed to existing
account holders and accredited investors as defined by the CBB (as defined below) in the Kingdom of
Bahrain where such investors make a minimum investment of at least U.S.$ 100,000 or any equivalent
amount in other currency or such other amount as the CBB may determine.

This offer does not constitute an offer of securities in the Kingdom of Bahrain in terms of Article (81) of
the Central Bank and Financial Institutions Law 2006 (decree Law No. 64 of 2006). This Base
Prospectus and related offering documents have not been and will not be registered as a prospectus
with the Central Bank of Bahrain ("CBB"). Accordingly, no Notes may be offered, sold or made the
subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase nor will this Base Prospectus or any other related
document or material be used in connection with any offer, sale or invitation to subscribe or purchase
Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in the Kingdom of Bahrain, other than as marketing to
accredited investors for an offer outside Bahrain.

The CBB has not reviewed, approved or registered this Base Prospectus or related offering documents
and it has not in any way considered the merits of the Notes to be marketed for investment, whether in
or outside the Kingdom of Bahrain. Therefore, the CBB assumes no responsibility for the accuracy and
completeness of the statements and information contained in this document and expressly disclaims
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this document.

No offer of Notes will be made to the public in the Kingdom of Bahrain and this Base Prospectus must
be read by the addressee only and must not be issued, passed to, or made available to the public
generally.

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (2020 Revised
Edition) of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA") — Unless otherwise
specified in the applicable Final Terms in respect of any Notes, all Notes issued or to be issued under
the Programme shall be capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products (as
defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and
Specified Investment Products (as defined in the Monetary Authority of Singapore (the "MAS") Notice



SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on
Recommendations on Investment Products).

Guidance under the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the "HKMA") circular - In October 2018, the
HKMA issued a circular regarding enhanced investor protection measures on the sale and distribution
of debt instruments with loss-absorption features and related products (the "HKMA Circular"). Under
the HKMA Circular, debt instruments with loss-absorption features, being subject to the possibility of
being written-down or converted to ordinary shares, and investment products that invest mainly in, or
whose returns are closely linked to the performance of such instruments (together, "Loss-Absorption
Products"), may only be offered to professional investors (as defined in the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) and its subsidiary legislation, "Professional Investors") in
Hong Kong. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms in respect of any Notes, all Notes
issued or to be issued under the Programme may contain loss-absorption features and may be
considered Loss-Absorption Products under the HKMA Circular. Investors in Hong Kong should not
purchase Notes with loss-absorption features unless they are Professional Investors and
understand the risks involved. Such Notes are generally not suitable for retail investors in Hong
Kong in either the primary or the secondary markets.

Notice to Canadian Purchasers of Notes other than Canadian Notes

Prospective Canadian purchasers of Notes are advised that the information contained within this Base
Prospectus has not been prepared with regard to matters that may be of particular concern to Canadian
purchasers. Accordingly, prospective Canadian purchasers of Notes should consult with their own legal,
financial and tax advisers concerning the information contained within the Base Prospectus and as to
the suitability of an investment in the Notes in their particular circumstances.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a Canadian purchaser
with remedies for rescission or damages if this Base Prospectus (including any amendment thereto)
contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by
the Canadian purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the Canadian
purchaser's province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the
securities legislation of the Canadian purchaser's province or territory for particulars of these rights or
consult with a legal advisor.

Prospective Canadian purchasers are hereby notified that: (a) any of the Issuer or the Dealers may be
required to provide personal information pertaining to any Canadian purchaser as required to be
disclosed in Schedule 1 of Form 45-106F1 under National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions
("NI45-106") (including the Canadian purchaser's name, address, telephone number and the aggregate
purchase price of any Notes purchased) ("personal information"), which Form 45-106F1 may be
required to be filed under NI 45-106, (b) such personal information may be delivered to the Ontario
Securities Commission ("OSC") and/or other applicable securities regulators in accordance with NI 45-
106, (c) such personal information is collected indirectly by the OSC and other applicable Canadian
securities regulators under the authority granted under the securities legislation of Ontario and other
applicable Canadian securities laws, (d) such personal information is collected for the purposes of the
administration and enforcement of the securities legislation of the relevant Canadian jurisdiction, and
(e) the contact information in each local Canadian jurisdiction for questions about the collection of such
personal information as at the date of the Base Prospectus is as follows:

Ontario Securities Commission Autorité des marchés financiers

20 Queen Street West, 22nd Floor 800, Square Victoria, 22e étage

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3S8 C.P. 246, Tour de la Bourse

Telephone: (416) 593- 8314 Montréal, Québec H4Z 1G3

Toll free in Canada: 1-877-785-1555 Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or 1-877-525-0337

Facsimile: (416) 593-8122 Facsimile: (514) 864-6381 (For privacy

Email: exemptmarketfilings@osc.gov.on.ca requests only)

Public official contact regarding indirect Email: financementdessocietes@Iautorite.qc.ca

collection of information: Inquiries Officer Public official contact regarding indirect collection
of information: Corporate Secretary




Alberta Securities Commission British Columbia Securities Commission

Suite 600, 250 - 5th Street SW P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre
Calgary, Alberta T2P 0R4 701 West Georgia Street

Telephone: (403) 297-6454 Vancouver, British Columbia V7Y 1L2
Toll free in Canada: 1-877-355-0585 Inquiries: (604) 899-6581

Facsimile: (403) 297-2082 Toll free in Canada: 1-800-373-6393
Public official contact regarding indirect collection | Facsimile: (604) 899-6581

of information: FOIP Coordinator Attention: FOI Inquiries

Email: FOIl-privacy@bcsc.bc.ca
Public official contact regarding indirect collection
of information: FOI Inquiries

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of The Manitoba Securities Commission

Saskatchewan 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue

Suite 601 - 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 4K5

Regina, Saskatchewan S4P 4H2 Telephone: (204) 945-2548

Telephone: (306) 787-5879 Toll free in Manitoba 1-800-655-5244

Facsimile: (306) 787-5899 Facsimile: (204) 945-0330

Public official contact regarding indirect collection | Public official contact regarding indirect collection

of information: Director of information: Director

Nova Scotia Securities Commission Financial and Consumer Services

Suite 400, 5251 Duke Street Commission (New Brunswick)

Duke Tower 85 Charlotte Street, Suite 300

P.O. Box 458 Saint John, New Brunswick E2L 2J2

Halifax, Nova Scotia B3J 2P8 Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Telephone: (902) 424-7768 Toll free in Canada: 1-866-933-2222

Facsimile: (902) 424-4625 Facsimile: (506) 658-3059

Public official contact regarding indirect collection | Email: info@fcnb.ca

of information: Executive Director Public official contact regarding indirect collection
of information: Chief Executive Officer and Privacy
Officer

Each prospective Canadian purchaser that purchases any Notes will be deemed to have authorised the
indirect collection of the personal information by the OSC and/or other applicable Canadian provincial
securities regulators, and to have acknowledged and consented to its name, address, telephone
number and other specified information, including the aggregate purchase price paid by the Canadian
purchaser, being disclosed to relevant Canadian securities regulatory authorities, and to have
acknowledged that such information may become available to the public in accordance with
requirements of applicable Canadian laws.

Upon receipt of this Base Prospectus, each Canadian purchaser is hereby deemed to confirm that it
has expressly requested that all documents evidencing or relating in any way to the sale of Notes
described herein (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any purchase confirmation or any notice) be
drawn up in the English language only. Par la réception de ce document, chaque acheteur canadien
est réputé avoir confirmé par les présentes qu'il a expressément exigé que tous les documents faisant
foi ou se rapportant de quelque maniere que ce soit a la vente des titres décrits aux présentes (incluant,
pour eviter toute incertitude, toute confirmation d'achat ou tout avis) soient rédigés en anglais
seulement.

IMPORTANT - EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies
"Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as:

(i) "Applicable”, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and
should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA.
Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the
"PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to
retail investors in the EEA has been prepared, and therefore, offering or selling the Notes or



otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the
PRIIPs Regulation; or

(ii) "Applicable, other than in the jurisdiction(s) for which a key information document will be made
available", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and
should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA, other
than in those jurisdiction(s) where a key information document required pursuant to the PRIIPs
Regulation will be made available. Consequently, no key information document required by the
PRIIPs Regulation for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retalil
investors in the EEA has been prepared, other than in respect of the jurisdiction(s) for which a
key information document will be made available, and therefore offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the
PRIIPs Regulation; or

(iii) "Not applicable", then the Notes may be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retalil
investor in the EEA, provided that, where a key information document is required pursuant to
the PRIIPs Regulation, the Notes may only be offered, sold or otherwise made available to
retail investors in the EEA in jurisdiction(s) for which a key information document has been
made available. Consequently, if no key information document required by the PRIIPs
Regulation for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors
in the EEA has been prepared, offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available
to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation, other than in
respect of the jurisdiction(s) for which a key information document will be made available.

For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined
in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended "MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the
meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer
would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a
qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation.

IMPORTANT - UK RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies
"Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors" as:

() "Applicable", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and
should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United
Kingdom (the "UK"). Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU)
No 1286/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal)
Act 2018 ("EUWA") (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise
making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared, and therefore, offering
or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be
unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation; or

(i) "Not applicable", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to
and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the UK,
unless a key information document required pursuant to the UK PRIIPs Regulation will be made
available. Therefore, offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any
retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation, unless, where a key
information document required by the UK PRIIPs Regulation for offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK, such key information document
has been prepared and is made available.

For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as
defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue
of the EUWA,; (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 ("FSMA") and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU)
2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article
2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA,; or (iii) not
a qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law
by virtue of the EUWA.
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EU BENCHMARKS REGULATION

Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to one or more "benchmarks" for the
purposes of Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June
2016, as amended (the "EU Benchmarks Regulation"). In this case, and in respect of a Non-Exempt
Offer of Notes only, a statement will be included in the applicable Final Terms as to whether or not the
relevant administrator of the "benchmark" is included in ESMA's register of administrators under Article
36 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation. Certain "benchmarks" may either (i) not fall within the scope of
the EU Benchmarks Regulation, by virtue of Article 2 of that regulation or (ii) transitional provisions in
Article 51 of the EU Benchmarks Regulation may apply to certain other "benchmarks", which would
otherwise be in scope, such that at the date of the applicable Final Terms, the administrator of the
"benchmark" is not required to be included in the register of administrators.

MiFID Il product governance / target market — The Final Terms in respect of any Notes will include
a legend entitled "MiFID Il product governance/target market assessment" which will outline the target
market assessment in respect of the Notes, taking into account the five categories in item 18 of the
Guidelines published by ESMA on 5 February 2018, and which channels for distribution of the Notes
are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor”
as defined in MiFID Il) should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a
distributor subject to MiFID Il is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect
of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the Product
Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "MiFID Product Governance Rules"),
any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither
the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose
of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MiIFIR product governance / target market — The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include
alegend entitled "UK MiFIR product governance/target market assessment" which will outline the target
market assessment in respect of the Notes, taking into account the five categories referred to in item
18 of the Guidelines published by ESMA on 5 February 2018 (in accordance with the FCA's policy
statement entitled "Brexit our approach to EU non-legislative materials"), and which channels for
distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending
the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a
distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook
(the "UK MIFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and
determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR
Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such
Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a
manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

11



Table of Contents

Overview Of this Base ProSPECIUS .......coiiiiiiiieii ettt e sbe e e naee e 16

This section sets out a general description of the Programme, including a description of the
Issuer and agents under the Programme, as well as a description of certain provisions relating
to the Notes, such as a description of the different forms and types of Notes that may be issued
under the Programme.

This section sets out certain risks in respect of the Issuer and the Notes.

INVESTMENT CONSIACIAIIONS. ... e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeennanans 59

This section sets out certain investment considerations the Issuer considers relevant to the
Notes.

User's guide 10 the Base ProSPECIUS ........oouiiiiiiiiiie ettt e 81

This section provides a guide to navigating the Base Prospectus and reading the Final Terms.

Forward-LooKiNg STatemMENntS ........ooiiiiiiiee e 85

This section gives disclosure in respect of forward-looking statements in written materials and
in oral statements relating to BNPP and the BNP Paribas Group.

Presentation of Financial INfOrMatioN .........ooieei et e et e e e e e e e e e er e s 85

This section gives disclosure on the presentation of financial information and the accounting
standards used in the preparation of BNPP's audited consolidated financial statements.

Documents Incorporated by REferenCe .........oouei i 86

This section incorporates selected financial and other information in respect of the Issuer from
other publicly available documents. It also incorporates by reference certain other specific
documents relating to the Notes, such as terms and conditions and forms of Final Terms relating
to Notes issued under previous base prospectuses.

Terms and Conditions of the English Law NOES ........coiiiiiiiii e 99

This section sets out the general terms and conditions that are applicable to all English Law
Notes.

Terms and Conditions of the FrenCh LaW NOLES ..........o oo eaeeeees 213

This section sets out the general terms and conditions that are applicable to all French Law
Notes.

Annex 1 Additional Terms and Conditions for Payouts ...........ccceiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 312

This Annex sets out different economic or "payout" terms in respect of different types of
payouts, coupon rates and entitlement amounts applicable to Notes that may be issued under
the Base Prospectus. The definitions and formulae relating to SPS Coupon Rates, Payouts and
Entitlement Amounts and Fixed Income Coupon Rates and Payouts set out in this section will
be completed in the applicable Final Terms.

Annex 2 Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked NOteSs..........ccooovviiiieieieiiieiieeeeeeeeeeeeeees 403

12



This Annex applies if the Notes are specified as being Index Linked Notes in the applicable
Final Terms. It sets out the additional terms and conditions relevant to Index Linked Notes.

Annex 3 Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked NOteS.........coooiiiiiiieieeee e

This Annex applies if the Notes are specified as being Share Linked Notes in the applicable
Final Terms. It sets out the additional terms and conditions relevant to Share Linked Notes.

Annex 4 Additional Terms and Conditions for Inflation Linked NOteS..........coooiieieeeeeeiiieieeieeeeeeeeeee

This Annex applies if the Notes are specified as being Inflation Linked Notes in the applicable
Final Terms. It sets out the additional terms and conditions relevant to Inflation Index Linked
Notes.

Annex 5 Additional Terms and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes .........cccccceiieiiieniiceeniene

This Annex applies if the Notes are specified as being Commodity Linked Notes in the
applicable Final Terms. It sets out the additional terms and conditions relevant to Commodity
Linked Notes.

Annex 6 Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked NOtES .........ccooeiiviiiivieieeiiiiieeeeeeeee e

This Annex applies if the Notes are specified as being Fund Linked Notes in the applicable
Final Terms. It sets out the additional terms and conditions relevant to Fund Linked Notes.

Annex 7 Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked NOtES ........ueveiieeeeeeeeee e,

This Annex applies if the Notes are specified as being Credit Linked Notes in the applicable
Final Terms. It sets out the additional terms and conditions relevant to Credit Linked Notes

Annex 8 Additional Terms and Conditions for ETI Linked NOtES ........cooueeiiieeeeeeeeee e

This Annex applies if the Notes are specified as being ETI Linked Notes in the applicable Final
Terms. It sets out the additional terms and conditions relevant to ET/ Linked Notes.

Annex 9 Additional Terms and Conditions for Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes ...............

This Annex applies if the Notes are specified as being Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked
Notes in the applicable Final Terms. It sets out the additional terms and conditions relevant to
Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes.

Annex 10 Additional Terms and Conditions for Underlying Interest Rate Linked Notes ....................

This Annex applies if the Notes are specified as being Underlying Interest Rate Linked Notes
in the applicable Final Terms. It sets out the additional terms and conditions relevant to
Underlying Interest Rate Linked Notes.

USE OF PrOCEEAS......eeeeeeee ettt e e e et e e e e e e e et e e e eeaeeeaet e e sseesesesaaeeeeeesennnnnns

This section describes how the Issuer will generally apply the net proceeds of each issue of
Notes.

Description 0f BNPP INAICES .......eeiiiieiie e

This section is relevant where the Notes reference a BNPP Custom Index. BNPP Custom
Indices come from one of the fifteen index families listed in this section.

Connected Third Party INAICES ......ueii ittt ettt e be e s b e saee e eaee

13



This section provides disclosure on where investors can obtain information relating to the
performance of and the rules governing an Index which is specified in the applicable Final
Terms to be a Connected Third Party Index.

[RTe ] 01K A { A TSN N 0 (=Y

This section provides an overview of the form in which Notes may be issued under the
Programme.

Clearing SYSTEIMS ... .ot s e s b e e s b e s e e s are e s ne e e sne e e nne e

This section sets out disclosure relevant to the clearing systems through which Notes may be
cleared.

[FOrmM Of] FINAl TEIMS ...ttt e et e e s b e e e e et e e e s e e e e s e nbe e e e e nnnes

This section provides a template of the Final Terms for non-Exempt Notes which will be
completed with the issue specific details of the relevant Series of non-Exempt Notes. The Final
Terms for an issue of Notes will complete the terms and conditions applicable to such Notes
(including any additional terms and conditions).

[Form of] Final Terms for EXemMPt NOTES ......oueeiiiiiii e

This section provides a template of the Final Terms for Exempt Notes which will be completed
with the issue specific details of the relevant Series of Exempt Notes. The Final Terms for an
issue of Exempt Notes will complete the terms and conditions applicable to such Exempt Notes
(including any additional terms and conditions).

L2 - o) o SR
This section provides a general overview of certain tax considerations relating to the Notes.
FrenCh TaXatiON c....ee ottt et b e s bt s ab e e st s be e e sbe e ene e
This section provides an overview of certain French tax considerations relating to the Notes.

(o] alo Aol q T I IF= D= Ui o] o EUU PR PTOUSRUPROPIR

This section provides an overview of certain Hong Kong tax considerations relating to the
Notes.

U.S. Dividend Equivalent WithhoIding ..........coooiroiioiei e

This section provides an overview of the U.S. withholding tax applicable to "dividend equivalent”
payments under Section 871(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

Foreign Account Tax ComplianCe ACE.......oueei it s aee e

This section provides an overview of the application of the Foreign Account Tax Compliance
Act to the Notes.

Certain Considerations for ERISA and Other Employee Benefit Plans..........cccoooeevceiie e

This section provides an overview of certain considerations relating to the application of the
provisions of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (as amended).

10 oX- ot g1 o] (o] g =TaTo IS -1 TSRS

14



This section sets out the restrictions to which offers, sales, re-sales or deliveries of any Notes,
or distribution of any offering material relating to any Notes are subject in various jurisdictions.

GENEral INFOIMELION ..ot e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeaaaeenes

This section gives general information about the Issuer, the Programme and the Notes,
including the authorisation of the Programme and the approval of the Base Prospectus and
listing of the Notes, where investors can obtain copies of certain documents relating to the
Issuer and the Programme, the statutory auditors of the Issuer and the clearing systems
through which Notes may be cleared.

Responsibility StatEMENT.........oo e

This section sets out the responsibility statement given on behalf of BNPP that sets out its
responsibility in respect of the contents of the Base Prospectus.

15



OVERVIEW OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS

OVERVIEW OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and qualified in its entirety
by, the remainder of this Document and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Series
(as defined below in "Terms and Conditions of the English Law Notes" and the "Terms and Conditions
of the French Law Notes") of Notes, the applicable Final Terms. Subject as provided in the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes, any of the following (including, without limitation, the type of Notes which may
be issued pursuant to the Programme) may be varied or supplemented as agreed between the Issuer,
the relevant Dealer(s) and the Principal Paying Agent (if applicable).

This overview constitutes a general description of this Base Prospectus for the purposes of Article 25(1)
of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 of 14 March 2019, as amended (the
"Delegated Regulation”).

Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes" and the "Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Notes" and the "Terms and Conditions of the French Law Notes" shall have the same meaning in
this overview:

Issuer
BNP PARIBAS ("BNPP" or the "Bank" and, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the "Group" or
"BNP Paribas Group")

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEl): ROMUWSFPUSMPRO8K5P83

Risk Factors

There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued
under this Base Prospectus. In addition, there are certain factors which are material for the purpose of
assessing the market risks and legal risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme, risks
relating to the structure of a particular Series of Notes and risks relating to the Underlying Reference or
the disruption and adjustment provisions of a particular Series of Notes issued under the Programme.
All of these are set out under "Risks". Additional considerations associated with an investment in the
Notes are also set out under "Investment Considerations".

Description
Euro Medium Term Note Programme.

Arranger
BNP PARIBAS

Dealers

BNP PARIBAS

BNP Paribas Arbitrage S.N.C.

and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the Programme Agreement

Certain Restrictions

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which particular laws, guidelines,
regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which
comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time
(see "Subscription and Sale" below).

Issue Method

Notes may be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.
Principal Paying Agent

BNP Paribas

Registrar
BNP Paribas, Succursale de Luxembourg

Currencies
Notes may be denominated in any currency or currencies agreed between the Issuer and the Dealer(s),
subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory restrictions.

Status of the Notes
Notes may be issued on either a senior or a subordinated basis.
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OVERVIEW OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS

Senior Notes
Senior Notes may be Senior Preferred Notes or Senior Non Preferred Notes.

(a) If the Notes are "Senior Preferred Notes", the Notes will be Senior Preferred Obligations and
the Notes and (if applicable) the relative Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsecured and
senior obligations of the Issuer and rank and will at all times rank:

(i) pari passu among themselves and with other Senior Preferred Obligations;
(ii) senior to Senior Non Preferred Obligations; and
(iii) junior to present and future claims benefiting from other preferred exceptions.

Subject to applicable law, in the event of the voluntary or judicial liquidation (/iquidation amiable
ou liquidation judiciaire) of the Issuer, bankruptcy proceedings or any other similar proceedings
affecting the Issuer, the rights of Noteholders to payment under the Senior Preferred Notes

rank:
(A) junior to present and future claims benefiting from other preferred exceptions; and
(B) senior to Senior Non Preferred Obligations.
(b) If the Notes are "Senior Non Preferred Notes", the Notes will be Senior Non Preferred

Obligations and the Notes and (if applicable) the relative Coupons are direct, unconditional,
unsecured and senior obligations of the Issuer and rank and will at all times rank:

(i) pari passu among themselves and with other Senior Non Preferred Obligations;

(i) senior to Eligible Creditors of the Issuer, Ordinarily Subordinated Obligations and any
other present or future claims otherwise ranking junior to Senior Non Preferred
Obligations; and

(iii) junior to present and future claims benefiting from preferred exceptions including
Senior Preferred Obligations.

Subject to applicable law, in the event of the voluntary or judicial liquidation (/iquidation amiable
ou liquidation judiciaire) of the Issuer, bankruptcy proceedings or any other similar proceedings
affecting the Issuer, the rights of Noteholders to payment under the Senior Non Preferred Notes
rank:

(A) junior to Senior Preferred Obligations; and

(B) senior to any Eligible Creditors of the Issuer, Ordinarily Subordinated Obligations and
any other present or future claims otherwise ranking junior to Senior Non Preferred
Obligations.

"Eligible Creditors" means creditors holding subordinated claims (including subordinated securities
issued pursuant to article L. 228-97 of the French Code de commerce) that rank or are expressed to
rank senior to obligations or instruments of the Issuer that constitute Ordinarily Subordinated
Obligations.

"Ordinarily Subordinated Obligations" means any subordinated obligations (including subordinated
securities issued pursuant to article L. 228-97 of the French Code de commerce) or other instruments
issued by the Issuer which rank, or are expressed to rank, pari passu among themselves, and are direct,
unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer but in priority to préts participatifs
granted to the Issuer, titres participatifs issued by the Issuer and any deeply subordinated obligations
of the Issuer (engagements dits "super subordonnés”, i.e. engagements subordonnés de dernier rang).

"Senior Preferred Obligations" means any senior obligations (including the Senior Preferred Notes)
of, or other instruments issued by, the Issuer, which fall or are expressed to fall within the category of
obligations described in article L. 613-30-3-I1-3° of the French Code monétaire et financier.

"Senior Non Preferred Obligations" means any senior (chirographaires) obligations (including the
Senior Non Preferred Notes) of, or other instruments issued by, the Issuer, which fall or are expressed
to fall within the category of obligations described in article L. 613-30-3-I-4° of the French Code
monétaire et financier.
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Subordinated Notes
BNPP may issue Subordinated Notes.

It is the intention of the Issuer that the proceeds of the issue of the Subordinated Notes be treated for
regulatory purposes as Tier 2 Capital. Condition 2(b)(i) will apply in respect of the Subordinated Notes
for so long as such Subordinated Notes are treated for regulatory purposes as Tier 2 Capital (such
Subordinated Notes being hereafter referred to as "Qualifying Subordinated Notes"). Should the
principal and interest of any outstanding Qualifying Subordinated Notes be fully excluded from Tier 2
Capital (the "Disqualified Subordinated Notes"), Condition 2(b)(ii) will automatically replace and
supersede Condition 2(b)(i) for such Disqualified Subordinated Notes without the need for any action
from the Issuer and without consultation of the holders of such Subordinated Notes or the holders of
any other Notes outstanding at such time.

The Subordinated Notes are issued pursuant to the provisions of Article L. 228-97 of the French Code
de commerce.

(a) Status of Qualifying Subordinated Notes

If the Notes are Qualifying Subordinated Notes, subject as provided in sub-paragraph (ii) below,
their principal and interest constitute and will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and
subordinated obligations of BNPP and rank and will rank pari passu among themselves and
pari passu with any obligations or instruments of BNPP that constitute Ordinarily Subordinated
Obligations.

Subject to applicable law, in the event of the voluntary or judicial liquidation (liquidation amiable
ou liquidation judiciaire) of BNPP, bankruptcy proceedings, or any other similar proceedings
affecting BNPP, the rights of the holders in respect of principal and interest to payment under
the Qualifying Subordinated Notes will be:

(i) subordinated to the full payment of:
(A) the unsubordinated creditors of BNPP;
(B) any subordinated creditor ranking or expressed to rank senior to the

Disqualified Subordinated Notes;
(C) any Disqualified Subordinated Note issued by BNPP; and
(D) Eligible Creditors of BNPP; and

(i) paid in priority to any préts participatifs granted to BNPP, titres participatifs issued by
BNPP and any deeply subordinated obligations of BNPP (obligations dites "super
subordonnées" i.e. engagements subordonnés de dernier rang).

(b) Status of Disqualified Subordinated Notes

If the Notes are Disqualified Subordinated Notes, their principal and interest constitute and will
constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations (in accordance with
paragraph 5° of Article L. 613-30-3 | of the French Code monétaire et financier created by
Ordinance No0.2020-1636 dated 21 December 2020 relating to the resolution regime in the
banking sector implementing Article 48(7) of BRRD under French law) of BNPP and rank and
will rank pari passu (a) among themselves and (b) with any and all instruments that have (or
will have) such rank (including for the avoidance of doubt instruments issued on or after 28
December 2020 initially treated as Additional Tier 1 Capital and which subsequently lost such
treatment).

Subject to applicable law, in the event of the voluntary or judicial liquidation (/iquidation amiable
ou liquidation judiciaire) of BNPP, bankruptcy proceedings, or any other similar proceedings
affecting BNPP, the rights of the holders in respect of principal and interest to payment under
the Disqualified Subordinated Notes will be:

() subordinated to the full payment of the unsubordinated creditors of BNPP and any
subordinated creditor ranking or expressed to rank senior to the Disqualified
Subordinated Notes; and
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(ii) paid in priority to Eligible Creditors of BNPP, Qualifying Subordinated Notes issued by
BNPP, any préts participatifs granted to BNPP, titres participatifs issued by BNPP and
any deeply subordinated obligations of BNPP (obligations dites "super subordonnées”
i.e. engagements subordonnés de dernier rang).

"Eligible Creditors" means creditors holding subordinated claims (including subordinated securities
issued pursuant to article L. 228-97 of the French Code de commerce) that rank or are expressed to
rank (i) senior to obligations or instruments of the Issuer that constitute Ordinarily Subordinated
Obligations and (ii) junior to Disqualified Subordinated Notes.

"Ordinarily Subordinated Obligations" means any subordinated obligations (including subordinated
securities issued pursuant to article L. 228-97 of the French Code de commerce) or other instruments
issued by the Issuer which rank, or are expressed to rank, pari passu among themselves, and are direct,
unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer but in priority to préts participatifs
granted to the Issuer, titres participatifs issued by the Issuer and any deeply subordinated obligations
of the Issuer (engagements dits "super subordonnés”, i.e. engagements subordonnés de dernier rang).

Maturities

The Notes will have such maturities as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s),
subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may be allowed or required from time to time by
the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the Issuer or the
relevant Specified Currency.

Issue Price
Notes may be issued at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par and either on a fully paid or partly
paid basis.

Form of Notes
The Notes will be issued in either bearer or registered form as described in "Form of the Notes".
Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes and vice versa.

Notes
Notes may be issued as:

(a) Fixed Rate Notes, where the interest (if any) payable will be calculated by reference to a fixed
rate of interest;

(b) Resettable Notes, where the interest (if any) payable will be calculated by reference to a rate
of interest that resets periodically;

(c) Floating Rate Notes, where the interest (if any) payable will be calculated by reference to a
floating rate plus or minus a margin;

(d) Zero Coupon Notes and other non-interest bearing Notes which do not bear or pay interest, but
may be issued at a discount to their principal amount;

(e) Index Linked Notes, where the interest (if any) payable on and/or the amount payable, or assets
deliverable, on redemption of the Notes is determined by reference to an Index or a Basket of
Indices (or index futures or options contracts);

) Share Linked Notes, where the interest (if any) payable on and/or the amount payable, or
assets deliverable, on redemption of the Notes is determined by reference to a Share (or a
Stapled Share) or a Basket of Shares (which may be comprised of one or more Stapled
Shares);

(9) ETI Linked Notes, where the interest (if any) payable on and/or the amount payable, or assets
deliverable, on redemption of the Notes is determined by reference to an ETI Interest or a
Basket of ETI Interests;

(h) Commodity Linked Notes, where the interest (if any) payable on and/or the amount payable, or
assets deliverable, on redemption of the Notes is determined by reference to a Commodity or
a Commodity Index or a Basket of Commodities or Commaodity Indices;
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(i) Inflation Linked Notes, where the interest (if any) payable on and/or the amount payable, or
assets deliverable, on redemption of the Notes is determined by reference to an Inflation Index
or a Basket of Inflation Indices;

() Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate, where the interest (if any) payable on and/or the amount payable,
or assets deliverable, on redemption of the Notes is determined by reference to a FX Rate or a
Basket of FX Rates;

(k) Fund Linked Notes, where (i) unless the Fund is a Euro Fund, the interest (if any) payable on
and/or the amount payable, or assets deliverable, on redemption of the Notes is determined by
reference to a Fund or a Basket of Funds or a Fund Index or a Basket of Fund Indices or (ii) if
the Fund is a Euro Fund, the interest (if any) payable on and/or the amount payable on
redemption of the Notes is determined by reference to the gross rate of return in respect of a
Euro Fund;

)} Underlying Interest Rate Linked Notes, where the interest (if any) payable on and/or the amount
payable, or assets deliverable, on redemption of the Notes is determined by reference to a
single Underlying Interest Rate or a basket of Underlying Interest Rates;

(m) Credit Linked Notes, where the interest (if any) payable on and/or the amount payable, or
assets deliverable, on redemption of the Notes is determined by reference to a single Reference
Entity or a basket of Reference Entities; and

(n) Hybrid Notes or any combination of the foregoing.

Redemption

The terms under which Notes may be redeemed (including the maturity date, the amount payable or
deliverable on redemption and whether the Notes may be redeemed in instalments, as well as any
provisions relating to early redemption) will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at
the time of issue of the relevant Notes, specified in the applicable Final Terms and, if applicable,
summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.

Notes may be redeemed early for tax reasons, (in the case of Subordinated Notes) upon the occurrence
of a Capital Event or (in the case of Senior Non Preferred Notes and, if specified in the applicable Final
Terms, in the case of Subordinated Notes and Senior Preferred Notes) in certain circumstances relating
to the Issuer's or the Group's MREL/TLAC Requirements. If specified in the applicable Final Terms,
Notes may be redeemed early at the option of the Issuer or at the option of the Noteholders at the
Optional Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Optional Redemption
Amount in respect of each Note shall be either: (i) the Calculation Amount multiplied by the percentage
specified in the applicable Final Terms; or (ii) the SPS Call Payout (in the case of early redemption at
the option of the Issuer) or the SPS Put Payout (in the case of early redemption at the option of the
Holders).

The Notes may also be redeemed early following the occurrence of certain disruption, adjustment,
extraordinary or other events.

If Payout Switch Election or Automatic Payout Switch is specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, the amount payable or deliverable on redemption may be switched from one amount payable
or deliverable to another.

Interest

The Notes may or may not bear or pay interest. Interest paying Notes will either bear or pay interest
determined by reference to a fixed rate, a resetting rate, a floating rate and/or a rate calculated by
reference to one or more Underlying Reference(s) (each an "Underlying Reference").

Zero Coupon Notes and other Notes which do not bear or pay interest may be offered and sold at a
discount to their nominal amount.

The Interest will be calculated and payable on such date or dates as determined by the Issuer and the
relevant Dealer(s) at the time of issue of the relevant Notes specified in the applicable Final Terms and,
if applicable, summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.

The Interest may be any of the following as specified in the applicable Final Terms:

. Fixed Rate (including SPS Fixed): paying a fixed rate of interest.

20



OVERVIEW OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS

Resettable: paying a rate of interest that resets periodically.

. Floating Rate (including SPS Variable Amount): paying a floating rate of interest which may be
calculated by reference to a reference rate (such as (and in the case of Exempt Notes only not
limited to), EURIBOR, BBSW, NIBOR, PRIBOR, STIBOR, WIBOR, SONIA, SOFR, €STR,
SARON or TONA).

o Linked Interest (including SPS Coupons: Stellar, Cappuccino, Ratchet, Driver, Nova and FI
Coupons: FX Vanilla, Transition): paying an amount linked to the performance of one or more
Underlying Reference(s).

o Conditional (including SPS Coupons: Digital, Snowball Digital, Accrual Digital, and FI Coupons:
FI Digital, FX Digital, Range Accrual, FX Range Accrual, FX Memory, PRDC, FI Digital Floor
and FI Digital Cap): paying an amount either related or unrelated to the performance of the
Underlying Reference(s), if certain conditions are met.

o Combination (including SPS Coupons: Sum, Option Max and FI Coupon: Combination Floater):
combining two or more coupon types.

o FI Target Coupon.

o Duration Adjusted Coupon.

These rates and/or amounts of interest payable may be subject to a maximum or a minimum.

If Coupon Switch Election or Automatic Coupon Switch is specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, the rate may be switched from one specified rate to another.

If Additional Switch Coupon is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, an Additional
Switch Coupon Amount will be payable on the Interest Payment Date following such switch.

The terms applicable to each Series of such Notes will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s) at the time of issue of the relevant Notes, specified in the applicable Final Terms and, if
applicable, summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.

Final Redemption and Payout Methodology
Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Note entitles its holder to receive from
the Issuer:

(a) Final Redemption:

(i) The Final Redemption Amount, being either a specified percentage of its principal
amount or an amount equal to the Final Payout (see Payout Conditions 1.2 and 2.3)
specified in the applicable Final Terms; or

(i) in the case of Physical Delivery Notes, the Entitlement (see Payout Condition 1.4),
being the quantity of the Relevant Assets specified in the applicable Final Terms equal
to the Entitlement specified in the applicable Final Terms; or

(iii) in the case of Notes which may either be Cash Settled Notes or Physical Delivery
Notes, depending on whether certain conditions are met, either (A) a Final Redemption
Amount being either a specified percentage of its principal amount or an amount equal
to the Final Payout specified in the applicable Final Terms or (B) the Entitlement, being
the quantity of the Relevant Assets specified in the applicable Final Terms equal to the
Entitlement specified in the applicable Final Terms,

in each case on or around the Maturity Date.

Notwithstanding the above, if the Notes are Credit Linked Notes, redemption shall be at the
amount and/or by delivery of the assets specified in the Credit Linked Conditions and the
applicable Final Terms.

(b) If Automatic Early Redemption is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms and an
Automatic Early Redemption Event occurs, the Automatic Early Redemption Amount (see
Payout Condition 1.3).
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(c) If an Issuer Call, an Issuer Clean-Up Call or a Noteholder Put is specified as applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, the relevant Optional Redemption Amount specified in the applicable
Final Terms.

The terms of a Series of Notes are comprised of (i) the Conditions, (ii) the applicable Final Terms and
(as applicable), (iii) the Annex relevant to the relevant Underlying References and (iv) if selected in the
applicable Final Terms, the Interest Rate and/or Payout(s) selected from Annex 1 to the Conditions (the
"Payout Annex") specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Investors must review the Conditions and (as applicable), the Annex relevant to the relevant
Underlying Reference and the Payout Annex, together with the applicable Final Terms to
ascertain the terms and conditions applicable to the Notes.

Final Payouts
Structured Products Securities (SPS) Final Payouts
(1) Fixed Percentage Notes: fixed term products which have a return equal to a fixed percentage.

(2) Reverse Convertible Notes (Reverse Convertible, Reverse Convertible Standard): fixed term
products which have a return linked to both the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and a knock-in level. There is no capital protection and these products pay coupons.

(3) Vanilla Notes (Call, Call Spread, Put, Put Spread, Digital, Knock-in Call, Knock-out Call, Range
Accrual): fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of the Underlying
Reference(s). The return is calculated by reference to various mechanisms (including knock-in
or knock-out features). There may be total, partial or no capital protection.

(4) Asian Notes (Asian, Asian Spread, Himalaya, Talisman): fixed term products which have a
return linked to the performance of the Underlying Reference(s) determined through an
averaging method. The return is calculated by reference to various mechanisms (including a
cap, a floor or lock-in features). There may be total, partial or no capital protection.

(5) Auto-callable Notes (Autocall, Autocall One Touch, Autocall Standard): fixed term products that
include an automatic early redemption feature. The return is linked to the performance of the
Underlying Reference(s). The return is calculated by reference to various mechanisms
(including a knock-in feature). There may be total, partial or no capital protection.

(6) Indexation Notes (Certi plus: Booster, Certi plus: Bonus, Certi plus: Leveraged, Certi plus: Twin
Win, Certi plus: Super Sprinter, Certi plus: Generic, Certi plus: Generic Knock-in, Certi plus:
Generic Knock-out): fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of the
Underlying Reference(s). The return is calculated by reference to various mechanisms
(including knock-in or knock-out features). There may be total, partial or no capital protection.

(7) Ratchet Notes: fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of the
Underlying Reference(s). The return is equal to the sum of returns determined on a given
formula (which can be capped or floored). There may be total, partial or no capital protection.

(8) Sum Notes: fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of the Underlying
Reference(s). The return calculation is the weighted sum of returns determined using different
payout formulae. There may be total, partial or no capital protection.

(9) Option Max Notes: fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of the
Underlying Reference(s). The return is the maximum return calculation of different payout
formulae. There may be total, partial or no capital protection.

(10) Stellar Notes: fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of a basket of
Underlying References. The return calculation, which is subject to a floor, is made up of the
average returns of each Underlying Reference in the basket, each being subject to both a cap
and a floor.

(11) Driver Notes: fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of a basket of
Underlying References. The return calculation, which is subject to a floor, is determined by
reference to the average return of the basket, where the performance of one or more of the
best performing Underlying Reference(s) is set at a fixed level.

22



OVERVIEW OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS

(12)  Transition Notes: fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of the
Underlying Reference(s). The return is calculated by reference to various mechanisms
(including knock-in and automatic early redemption features) combined with trigger events
which determine the allocation between the amount that will be reimbursed and the amount
linked to the performance of the Underlying Reference(s). There may be partial or no capital
protection and these products may pay coupons.

Fixed Income (Fl) Final Payouts

(1) FI FX Vanilla Notes: fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of the
Underlying Reference(s). The return is calculated by reference to various mechanisms
(including knock-in or knock-out features). There may be total, partial or no capital protection.

(2) Digital Notes (Digital Floor, Digital Cap, Digital Plus): fixed term products which have a fixed or
variable return depending on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s). The return is
calculated by reference to various mechanisms (including floor or cap conditions and knock-in
and/or knock-out features).

(3) Inflation Notes: fixed term products which have a return linked to the performance of the
Underlying Reference(s).

Entitlement Amounts
The Entitlement Amount may be determined on the basis of the following payouts:

Delivery of Worst-Performing Underlying
Delivery of Best-Performing Underlying
Delivery of the Underlying

Delivery of Accumulator Underlying

If Delivery of Worst-Performing Underlying, Delivery of Best-Performing Underlying or Delivery of the
Underlying is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Entitlement Amount will be rounded down to
the nearest unit of each Relevant Asset capable of being delivered and in lieu thereof the Issuer will
pay an amount equal to the Rounding and Residual Amount. If Delivery of Accumulator Underlying is
specified in the applicable Final Terms, in addition to delivery of the Entitlement Amount, the Issuer will
pay an amount equal to the Rounding and Residual Amount.

Automatic Early Redemption

If an Automatic Early Redemption Event, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, occurs, the Notes
will be redeemed early at the Automatic Early Redemption Amount on the Automatic Early Redemption
Date.

Unless SPS Accumulator AER Payout is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Automatic Early
Redemption Amount in respect of each nominal amount of Notes equal to the Calculation Amount will
be equal to the Automatic Early Redemption Payout specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if not
set out, an amount equal to the product of (i) the Calculation Amount in respect of such Note and (ii)
the sum of the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Percentage and the relevant AER Rate specified
in the applicable Final Terms relating to the Automatic Early Redemption Date. If SPS Accumulator
AER Payout is specified in the applicable Final Terms, an Automatic Early Entitlement Amount will be
deliverable, equal to the SPS Accumulator AER Payout, together with payment of a residual cash
amount (if any).

Automatic Early Redemption Payouts
SPS Automatic Early Redemption Payout

SPS Target Automatic Early Redemption Payout
SPS Transition Automatic Early Redemption Payout
SPS Accumulator AER Payout

Target Automatic Early Redemption

FI Underlying Automatic Early Redemption

23



OVERVIEW OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS

FI Coupon Automatic Early Redemption

Taxation

Subject to Condition 6(d) of the English law Notes or Condition 6(e) of the French law Notes all
payments in respect of Notes will be made without deduction for or on account of withholding taxes
imposed by France or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax,
unless such deduction or withholding is required by law. In the event that any such deduction is made,
the Issuer will, save in certain limited circumstances, be required to pay additional amounts to cover the
amounts so deducted.

If Condition 6(d) of the English law Notes or Condition 6(e) of the French law Notes specified as
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer shall not be liable for or otherwise obliged to pay
any tax, duty, withholding or other payment which may arise as a result of the ownership, transfer,
presentation and surrender for payment, or enforcement of any Note and all payments made by the
Issuer shall be made subject to any tax, duty, withholding or other payment which may be required to
be made, paid, withheld or deducted.

Negative Pledge
The terms of the Notes will not contain a negative pledge provision.

Events of Default

The terms of the Senior Preferred Notes where one or more Events of Default are specified as
applicable in the applicable Final Terms will contain events of default including non-payment, non-
performance or non-observance of the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Notes and the insolvency
or winding up of the Issuer.

Governing Law

English Law Notes:

The Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the Notes (except for Conditions 2(a) and 2(b) to
the extent applicable to the Notes, which are governed by French law) and any non-contractual
obligations arising out of or in connection with any of them will be governed by and shall be construed
in accordance with English law.

French Law Notes:

The Agency Agreement and the Notes are governed by, and construed in accordance with, French law,
and any action or proceeding in relation thereto shall be submitted to the jurisdiction of the competent
courts in Paris within the jurisdiction of the Paris Court of Appeal (Cour d'Appel de Paris).

Ratings

BNPP's long term credit ratings are A+ with a stable outlook (S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited), Aa3
with a stable outlook (Moody's Investors Service Ltd.), AA- with a stable outlook (Fitch Ratings Ireland
Limited) (which is the long-term rating assigned to BNPP's senior preferred debt by Fitch) and AA (low)
with a stable outlook (DBRS Rating GmbH) and BNPP's short-term credit ratings are A-1 (S&P Global
Ratings Europe Limited), P1 (Moody's Investors Service Ltd.), F1+ (Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited) and
R-1 (middle) (DBRS Rating GmbH).

Notes issued under the Base Prospectus may be rated or unrated.

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to
suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Listing and Admission to Trading

Notes issued under this Base Prospectus may be listed and admitted to trading on Euronext Paris, the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (including the professional segment of the regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange), the Euro MTF Market (including the professional segment of the Euro
MTF Market) or such other regulated market, organised market, third country market, SME market or
other trading system specified in the applicable Final Terms, or may be issued on an unlisted basis.

Selling Restrictions

The Notes will be freely transferable, subject to the offering and selling restrictions in the United States,
the European Economic Area, Australia, Austria, Bahrain, Belgium, Canada, Dubai International
Financial Centre, France, Hong Kong, Japan, the Republic of Korea, the Netherlands, the People's
Republic of China, Portugal, the Republic of Italy, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Taiwan,
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United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom and under the Prospectus Regulation and the laws of
any jurisdiction in which the relevant Notes are offered or sold.

Exempt Notes

The requirement to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation only applies to Notes which
are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area and/or offered to
the public in the European Economic Area other than in circumstances where an exemption is available
under Article 1(4) and/or Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Regulation. The requirement to publish a
prospectus under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") only applies to Notes which
are admitted to trading on a UK regulated market as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 on markets
in financial instruments as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal)
Act 2018 ("EUWA") ("UK MiFIR") and/or offered to the public in the United Kingdom other than in
circumstances where an exemption is available under section 86 of the FSMA. Under this Base
Prospectus, the Issuer may issue Exempt Notes (being Notes for which no prospectus is required to be
published under the Prospectus Regulation or the FSMA, as the case may be). In the case of Exempt
Notes, any terms and conditions not contained in this Base Prospectus which are applicable to such
Exempt Notes will be set out in a final terms document (the "Final Terms for Exempt Notes"). For the
purposes of any Exempt Notes, references in the Conditions to "Final Terms" shall be deemed to include
a reference to the "Final Terms for Exempt Notes". For the avoidance of doubt, the Final Terms for
Exempt Notes does not constitute "final terms" as such term is used under the Prospectus Regulation.
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RISKS

Prospective purchasers of the Notes offered hereby should consider carefully, among other things and
in light of their financial circumstances and investment objectives, all of the information in this Base
Prospectus and, in particular, the risks set forth below (which the Issuer, in its reasonable opinion,
believes represents or may represent the risks known to it which may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil
its obligations under the Notes) in making an investment decision. Investors may lose the value of their
entire investment in certain circumstances.

Terms used in this section and not otherwise defined have the meanings given to them in the relevant
Conditions.

Risk Factors Relating to BNPP

Risk Factors relating to BNPP are set out in "Risk Factors" under Chapter 5 on pages 315 to 330 of the
BNPP 2022 Universal Registration Document (in English) and page 122 of the First Amendment to the
BNPP 2022 Universal Registration Document (in English) (each as defined below), which are
incorporated by reference in this document. See section entitled "Documents Incorporated by
Reference" of this Base Prospectus.

The following risk factors are identified as the main risk factors specific to BNPP:

1. A substantial increase in new provisions or a shortfall in the level of previously recorded
provisions exposed to credit risk and counterparty risk could adversely affect the BNP Paribas
Group’s results of operations and financial condition.

2. An interruption in or a breach of the BNP Paribas Group’s information systems may cause
substantial losses of client or customer information, damage to the BNP Paribas Group’s
reputation and result in financial losses.

3. The BNP Paribas Group may incur significant losses on its trading and investment activities
due to market fluctuations and volatility.

4. Adjustments to the carrying value of the BNP Paribas Group’s securities and derivatives
portfolios and the BNP Paribas Group’s own debt could have an adverse effect on its net
income and shareholders’ equity.

5. The BNP Paribas Group’s access to and cost of funding could be adversely affected by a
resurgence of financial crises, worsening economic conditions, rating downgrades, increases
in sovereign credit spreads or other factors.

6. Adverse economic and financial conditions have in the past had and may in the future have an
impact on the BNP Paribas Group and the markets in which it operates.

7. Laws and regulations adopted in recent years, particularly in response to the global financial
crisis, as well as new legislative proposals, may materially impact the BNP Paribas Group and
the financial and economic environment in which it operates.

8. The BNP Paribas Group may incur substantial fines and other administrative and criminal
penalties for non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and may also incur losses
in related (or unrelated) litigation with private parties.

Risk Factors Relating to the Notes

In addition to the risks relating to the Issuer (including default risk) that may affect the Issuer's ability to
fulfil its obligations under the Notes, a number of the risks described below may be relevant to a specific
Series of Notes, depending on the terms of those Notes. The effect of this compounding of risks is
likely to increase the volatility of the Notes and increase the possibility that a Noteholder loses some or
all of their investment or does not receive the anticipated return.

Such risks will vary depending on the type of Notes issued, in particular in relation to Notes
("Underlying Reference Linked Notes") the interest and/or redemption amount in respect of which is
linked to the value of one or more index, share (including shares which are attached to each other
trading as a single unit ("Stapled Shares")), GDR or ADR, inflation index, commodity, commodity index,
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unit, interest or share in a fund, fund index (or basket of fund indices), a euro fund insurance or
investment policy or capitalisation contract, the credit of one or more reference entity, interest in an
exchange traded funds, exchange traded notes, exchange traded commodities or other exchange
traded products (each an "exchange traded instrument" or "ETI"), foreign exchange rate, underlying
interest rate or the combination of any of the foregoing or such other underlying or basis of reference
(each an "Underlying Reference").

Risks relating to the structure of the Notes
Risks associated with specific types of Notes
Fixed Rate Notes

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that if interest rates subsequently increase above the
rate paid on the Fixed Rate Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Notes.

Resettable Notes

A holder of securities with an interest rate that will be periodically reset during the term of the relevant
securities, such as Resettable Notes, is also exposed to the risk of fluctuating interest rate levels and
uncertain interest income. This may negatively affect a holder's overall return on its investment.

Floating Rate Notes

Interest on Floating Rate Notes cannot be anticipated. Due to varying interest income, investors are not
able to determine a definite yield of Floating Rate Notes at the time they purchase them, so that their
return on investment cannot be compared with that of investments having longer fixed interest periods.
If the Conditions of the Notes provide for frequent interest payment dates, investors are exposed to the
reinvestment risk if market interest rates decline. That is, investors may reinvest the interest income
paid to them only at the relevant lower interest rates then prevailing. In addition, the Issuer's ability to
issue both Fixed Rate Notes may affect the market value and secondary market (if any) of the Floating
Rate Notes (and vice versa).

Zero Coupon Notes and Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium

Changes in market interest rates generally have a substantially stronger impact on the prices of Zero
Coupon Notes, and Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium, than on the prices of ordinary
notes because the discounted issue prices are substantially below par. If market interest rates increase,
Zero Coupon Notes, and Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium, can suffer higher price
losses than other notes having the same maturity and credit rating, which in turn could negatively affect
a Noteholder's overall return on its investment.

Underlying Reference Linked Notes

Underlying Reference Linked Notes are securities which often do not provide for predetermined
redemption amounts and/or interest payments but amounts payable (whether in respect of principal
and/or interest) or deliverable will be dependent upon the performance of the Underlying Reference
which themselves may contain substantial credit, interest rate, foreign exchange, correlation, time
value, political and/or other risks. The exposure to the Underlying Reference in many cases will be
achieved by the Issuer entering into hedging arrangements. Prospective purchasers should note that
under the terms of Underlying Reference Linked Notes they are exposed to the performance of these
hedging arrangements and the events that may affect these hedging arrangements and consequently
the occurrence of any of these events may affect the value of the Notes. An investment in Underlying
Reference Linked Notes therefore entails significant risks that are not associated with similar
investments in a conventional fixed or floating rate debt security. In addition, there may be regulatory
and other ramifications associated with the ownership of Underlying Reference Linked Notes. General
and specific risks relating to Underlying Reference Linked Notes are set out below.

An early redemption of the Notes may have an adverse economic effect on Noteholders

In the event that the Issuer would be required to pay additional amounts in respect of any Notes due to
any withholding as provided in Condition 6 of the English Law Notes or Condition 6 of the French Law
Notes, the Issuer may redeem all of the Notes then outstanding in accordance with the Conditions of
the Notes.
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In the event that one or more Events of Default (as defined in General Condition 8 of the English Law
Notes or General Condition 8 of the French Law Notes) occur, the Notes (other than Senior Non
Preferred Notes, Subordinated Notes and Senior Preferred Notes, the Final Terms of which provide
that no Events of Default are applicable) may become immediately due and repayable at their Early
Redemption Amount. In addition, in the case of certain Underlying Reference Linked Notes, if
"Automatic Early Redemption Event" is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, on
the occurrence of an Automatic Early Redemption Event, the Notes will be automatically redeemed at
their Automatic Early Redemption Amount. Also in the case of certain Underlying Reference Linked
Notes, if an Additional Disruption Event and/or an Optional Additional Disruption Event occurs (and
"Delayed Redemption on the Occurrence of Additional Disruption Event and/or Optional Additional
Disruption Event" is not specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms), the Issuer may redeem
the Notes early.

The Early Redemption Amount payable in circumstances where the Notes are to be redeemed prior to
the Maturity Date is specific to each Early Redemption Event specified in the applicable Final Terms.
The Calculation Method specified in the applicable Final Terms may vary in respect of each Early
Redemption Event and (in respect of Underlying Reference Linked Notes) may not take into account
the potential return on the performance of such Underlying Reference(s). Following an early
redemption, a Noteholder generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds (if any) at
an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the relevant Notes being redeemed, and may
only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. As a consequence, the Noteholder may lose some or
all of their investment. Prospective purchasers should consider reinvestment risk in light of other
investments available at that time.

Risks Relating to Automatic Early Redemption of the Notes

In the case of Notes that include an Automatic Early Redemption feature, the longer the time remaining
until the scheduled Maturity Date of the Notes, the higher the probability that an Automatic Early
Redemption Event will occur.

In the event that the relevant level, value or price of the Underlying Reference approaches the level that
triggers the Automatic Early Redemption Event, the Noteholder may not be able to sell the Notes in the
secondary market before the occurrence of an Automatic Early Redemption Event (see also "Possible
liquidity of the Notes in the Secondary Market" below).

If the relevant level, value or price of the Underlying Reference(s) reaches the level that triggers the
Automatic Early Redemption Event, the product will automatically redeem before the scheduled maturity
date. Depending on the applicable payout the Noteholder may lose some or all of their investment in
the Notes.

Redemption at the option of the Issuer

Pursuant to Condition 5 of the English Law Notes or Condition 5 of the French Law Notes, the Issuer
has the right to redeem any Notes at its option upon the occurrence of a Withholding Tax Event, a
Gross-Up Event, a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event, with respect to the Subordinated Notes only
upon the occurrence of a Capital Event or a Tax Deduction Event or with respect to the Senior Non
Preferred Notes upon the occurrence of a MREL/TLAC Criteria Event or an Administrator/Benchmark
Event (each a “Special Event”), as specified in the applicable Final Terms as the case may be. The
Issuer may also, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, redeem any Notes at its option if the
Issuer exercises an Issuer Call and/or an Issuer Clean-Up Call.

In particular, with respect to the Issuer Clean-up Call, there is no obligation for the Issuer to inform
Noteholders if and when the threshold of 75 per cent., or any higher percentage specified in the
applicable Final Terms, of the initial aggregate principal amount of a particular Series of Notes has been
reached or is about to be reached, and the Issuer’s right to redeem will exist notwithstanding that
immediately prior to the serving of a notice in respect of the exercise of the Issuer Clean-up Call, the
Notes may have been trading significantly above par, thus potentially resulting in a loss of capital
invested.

The early redemption feature upon the occurrence of a Special Event, an Issuer Call or an Issuer Clean-
up Call is subject, for Subordinated Notes and Senior Non Preferred Notes or, in the case of Senior
Preferred Notes, if "Prior permission of the Relevant Regulator" is specified as applicable in the
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applicable Final Terms, to certain conditions. The redemption of any Notes may limit the market value
of the Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a
manner which achieves a similar effective return.

The Final Terms for a particular issue of Notes may provide for early redemption at the option of the
Issuer. Such right of termination is often provided for securities in periods of high interest rates. If the
market interest rates decrease, the risk to Noteholders that the Issuer will exercise its right to redeem
the Notes early increases. As a consequence, the yields received upon redemption may be lower than
expected, and the redeemed face amount of the Notes may be lower than the purchase price for the
Notes paid by the Noteholder. As a consequence, the Noteholder may not receive the total amount of
the capital invested. In addition, investors that choose to reinvest monies they receive through an early
redemption may be able to do so only in securities with a lower yield than the redeemed Notes. As a
consequence, the Noteholder may lose some or all of its investment.

Minimum trading amount may affect a Noteholder's ability to transfer their Notes

If the Notes have a minimum trading amount, a Noteholder will not be permitted to transfer its Notes
prior to redemption without purchasing enough additional Notes to hold the minimum trading amount.
The Noteholder may not be able to purchase additional Notes, in which case they will have to wait until
redemption of the Notes to realise any value. If they are able to purchase additional Notes, this may be
at a price higher than their original investment and is likely to adversely affect the overall return they
achieve on their investment.

Risks associated with Notes traded in integral multiples that are different to the minimum
Specified Denomination

With respect to English law Notes, if the Notes are traded in denominations consisting of a minimum
Specified Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, such
Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not integral
multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. If at any time a Noteholder holds an amount which
is less than the minimum Specified Denomination they would not be able to sell or transfer the remainder
of such holding without first purchasing a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum
Specified Denomination. In these circumstances, there is a risk that the price to purchase additional
Notes may be greater than the original price paid by the investor and/or such Notes may be illiquid and
difficult to trade.

The Notes may be undated securities with no specified maturity date

The Notes may be undated securities with no fixed redemption or maturity date. The Issuer is under no
obligation to redeem the undated Notes at any time. The Noteholders may not have the right to require
the redemption of the Notes except if (i) an Event of Default occurs, in the case of Senior Preferred
Notes, if specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, or (ii) an order is made or an effective
resolution is passed for liquidation (liquidation judiciaire or liquidation amiable) of the Issuer, in the case
of Senior Non Preferred Notes and Subordinated Notes.

Risk related to the absence of restrictions regarding the ability of the Issuer to issue other notes of equal
or senior ranking

The Conditions of the Notes do not contemplate any restrictions limiting the amount of debt securities
of equal or senior ranking that the Issuer could issue. The issuance of such securities could reduce the
amount the holders of Notes would receive in case of liquidation of the Issuer.

Risks associated with Notes where certain specific information is not known at the beginning of an offer
period

Where an indicative range is specified in the Final Terms at the start of an offer period in respect of the
issue price, Gearing, Gearing Up, FR Rate, Rate component, AER Exit Rate, Bonus Coupon, Up Cap
Percentage, any Constant Percentage, barrier value or level, Floor Percentage, Knock-in Level and/or
Knock-out Level, prospective purchasers of Notes should note that the actual price, rate, level or
percentage, as applicable, selected from within the indicative range specified for the issue price,
Gearing, Gearing Up, FR Rate, Rate component, AER Exit Rate, Bonus Coupon, Up Cap Percentage,
any Constant Percentage, barrier value or level, Floor Percentage, Knock-in Level and/or Knock-out
Level, as applicable, in respect of any Notes may have a negative impact on the interest payable and/or
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final return on the Notes when compared with another price, rate, level or percentage, as applicable,
within the indicative range.

Prospective purchasers of Notes will be required to make their investment decision based on the
minimum and/or maximum price, rate, level or percentage, as applicable, or the indicative range rather
than the actual price, rate, level or percentage, as applicable, which will only be fixed after the
investment decision is made but will apply to the Notes once issued. Where a minimum and/or maximum
price, rate, level or percentage, as applicable, or an indicative range is specified in the Final Terms in
respect of the Rate of Interest, Minimum Rate of Interest, Maximum Rate of Interest, Margin, FR Rate,
Rate and/or AER Exit Rate, prospective purchasers of Notes should, for the purposes of evaluating the
risks and benefits of an investment in the Notes, assume that the actual Rate of Interest, Minimum Rate
of Interest, Maximum Rate of Interest, Margin, FR Rate, Rate and/or AER Exit Rate, as applicable,
which will apply to the Notes will be the lowest rate specified in the range and make their decision to
invest in the Notes on that basis.

If the rate of interest payable on the English Law Notes or the amount payable or deliverable on
redemption of the English Law Notes changes during the life of the Notes, Noteholders may receive
less than expected

If specified in the applicable Final Terms and the Issuer exercises its Coupon Switch Election or Payout
Switch Election or if an Automatic Coupon Switch Event or Automatic Payout Switch Event occurs (see
Condition 3(k) of the English Law Notes (Coupon Switch)) (in the case of a Coupon Switch Election or
an Automatic Coupon Switch Event) or Condition 5(m) of the English Law Notes ( Payout Switch) (in the
case of a Payout Switch Election or an Automatic Payout Switch Event), the coupon or redemption
payout, as the case may be, on such Notes will change during the life of the Notes and investors may
receive a return which differs from, and may be significantly less than, that which they expected to
receive as of the Issue Date or they may receive no return.

The terms of the Notes do not contain a negative pledge and the Issuer is entitled to incur additional debt

There is no negative pledge in respect of the Notes and the Conditions of the Notes place no restrictions
on the incurrence by the Issuer of additional obligations that rank pari passu with, or senior to, the
Notes. In addition, the Issuer may pledge assets to secure other notes or debt instruments without
granting an equivalent pledge or security interest and status to the Notes. An increase of the outstanding
amount of such securities or other liabilities could reduce the amount (if any) recoverable by the
Noteholders on a winding-up of the Issuer, if the amount outstanding exceeds the assets of the Issuer.
Noteholders could suffer a loss of their entire investment if the Issuer becomes insolvent (whether
voluntarily or otherwise).

Risks Relating to the Market
The trading market for the Notes may be volatile and may be adversely impacted by many events

The market for debt securities is influenced by the economic and market conditions, interest rates,
currency exchange rates and inflation rates in Europe and other industrialised countries and areas.
Events in France, Europe or elsewhere may cause market volatility and such volatility may adversely
affect the price of Notes and that economic and market conditions may have any other adverse effect.

Such factors may mean that the trading price of the Notes is below the Final Redemption Amount or
the value of the Entitlement, as applicable and accordingly, Noteholders may receive an amount or an
asset with a value significantly lower than the amount that they invested to purchase the Notes.

The market value of the Subordinated Notes could also be adversely impacted by any write-down of or
similar event relating to capital instruments of other issuers. For example, on 19 March 2023, the Swiss
Financial Market Supervisory Authority, FINMA, announced that, in connection with the takeover of
Credit Suisse by UBS, the extraordinary government support provided by Swiss authorities would
trigger a complete write-down of Additional Tier 1 Capital instruments of Credit Suisse (the “CS AT1").
The write-down was to occur despite the fact that the holders of ordinary shares of Credit Suisse
(constituting Common Equity Tier 1 capital) were to receive consideration in connection with the
takeover. The FINMA announcement had a significant adverse impact on the market value of Additional
Tier 1 Capital instruments issued by institutions outside Switzerland, and to a lesser extent on
subordinated notes including those of the Issuer. On 20 March 2023, the Single Resolution Board, the
European Banking Authority and ECB Banking Supervision announced that, under the resolution
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framework in the European Union, common equity instruments are the first ones to absorb losses, and
only after their full use would Additional Tier 1 Capital instruments be required to be converted or written
down. Any future announcement of a write-down of Subordinated Notes or other capital instruments of
a financial institution whether in a European Member State or elsewhere, and whether or not in
connection with a resolution proceeding (particularly, in the latter case, if the ordinary hierarchy of
creditors is not respected), could have a significant adverse impact on the market value of the
Subordinated Notes, regardless of whether a similar situation would be dictated by the Terms and
Conditions of the Subordinated Notes.

A Note's purchase price may not reflect its inherent value

Prospective investors in the Notes should note that the purchase price of a Note does not necessarily
reflect its inherent value. Any difference between a Note's purchase price and its inherent value may
be due to a number of different factors including, without limitation, prevailing market conditions and
fees, discounts or commissions paid or accorded to the various parties involved in structuring and/or
distributing the Note. Any such difference in value could negatively affect the return an investor may
receive. For further information prospective investors should refer to the party from whom they are
purchasing the Notes. Prospective purchasers may also wish to seek an independent valuation of
Notes prior to their purchase.

Possible illiquidity of the Notes in the secondary market

An active trading market for the Notes may not develop, and, if one does develop, it may not be
maintained. If an active trading market for the Notes does not develop or is not maintained, the market
or trading price and liquidity of the Notes may be adversely affected. If additional and competing
products are introduced in the markets, this may adversely affect the value of the Notes. It is not possible
to predict the price at which Notes will trade in the secondary market. The Issuer may, but is not obliged
to, list Notes on a stock exchange. Also, to the extent Notes of a particular issue are redeemed in part,
the number of Notes of such issue outstanding will decrease, resulting in a diminished liquidity for the
remaining Notes of such issue. A decrease in the liquidity of an issue of Notes may cause, in turn, an
increase in the volatility associated with the price of such issue of Notes. A lack of liquidity for the Notes
may mean that investors are not able to sell their Notes or may not be able to sell their Notes at a price
equal to the price which they paid for them, and consequently investors may suffer a partial or total loss
of the amount of their investment.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, they will be
exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of their holding.

Holders of Notes denominated in any currency other than their domestic currency are exposed to the
risk of changing foreign exchange rates (including devaluation of the Specified Currency of the Notes
or revaluation of the holder's home currency). This risk is in addition to any performance risk that relates
to the Issuer or the type of Note being issued.

A credit rating reduction may result in a reduction in the trading value of the Notes

The value of the Notes is expected to be affected, in part, by investors' general appraisal of the
creditworthiness of the Issuer. Such perceptions are generally influenced by the ratings accorded to the
outstanding securities of BNPP by standard statistical rating services, such as Moody's, Standard &
Poor's, DBRS Morningstar and Fitch. A reduction in the rating, if any, accorded to outstanding debt
securities of BNPP by one of these or other rating agencies could result in a reduction in the trading
value of the Notes.

Exchange control risks

There is a risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Settlement Currency (as specified in the
applicable Final Terms) and/or the currency in which the Notes are denominated, such as government
and monetary authorities, may impose or modify (as some have done in the past) exchange controls
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability to transfer of funds in and out of
the relevant country. Such exchange controls, if imposed would have a negative impact on the amount
a Noteholder is able to realise from Notes denominated in an affected Settlement Currency.

The imposition of exchange controls in respect of a Relevant Currency could significantly increase the
risk of an FX Settlement Disruption Event (as defined in Condition 4(a)(ll)(vi) (Payments, Physical
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Delivery and Exchange of Talons) of the English Law Notes and Condition 4(a)(vi) (Payments and
Physical Delivery) of the French Law Notes) occurring. If a FX Settlement Disruption Event occurs,
payments of principal and/or interest (if applicable) may (i) occur at a different time than expected and
that no additional amount of interest will be payable in respect of any delay in payment of principal
and/or interest and (ii) be made in USD or euro as selected by the Issuer acting in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner. The occurrence of an FX Settlement Disruption Event could have a
significant adverse impact on the amount a Noteholder receives in respect of the Notes and may mean
that the Noteholder is unable to receive payment in the desired currency. If the Noteholder receives
payment in USD or euro, it may not be able to exchange the amount received into the relevant
Settlement Currency or it may only be able to do so at an exchange rate that significantly adversely
impacts the amount the Noteholder ultimately receives in the Settlement Currency.

Risks relating to Notes denominated in CNY

Where the Notes are denominated in CNY, prospective investors in the Notes should note that CNY is
not completely freely convertible at present. The government of the People's Republic of China ("PRC")
continues to regulate conversion between CNY and foreign currencies.

Although from 1 October 2016, Renminbi has been added to the Special Drawing rights basket created
by the International Monetary Fund and policies further improving accessibility to Renminbi to settle
cross-border transactions in foreign currencies were implemented by the People's Bank of China in
2018, the PRC government may not liberalise the control over cross-border CNY remittances in the
future or that new PRC regulations may be promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting
the remittance of CNY into or outside the PRC.

The current size of CNY-denominated financial assets outside the PRC is limited. The limited availability
of CNY outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of the Notes. To the extent the Issuer is required to
source CNY in the offshore market to service the Notes, the Issuer may not be able to source such
CNY on satisfactory terms, if at all.

Where the Notes are denominated in CNY, all payments to investors in respect of the Notes will be
made solely by transfer to a CNY bank account maintained in the CNY Settlement Centre (for this
purpose, excluding the PRC) in accordance with prevailing rules and procedures. The Issuer cannot be
required to make payment by any other means (including in any other currency or by transfer to a bank
account in the PRC unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms).

The occurrence of a CNY Payment Disruption Event may lead to postponement or payment in an
alternative currency

Access to CNY funds for the purposes of making payments under the Notes or generally may not remain
available or may become restricted. Pursuant to Condition 4(a)(l) of the English Law Notes or Condition
4(a)(l) of the French Law Notes, if the applicable Final Terms specify that "CNY Payment Disruption
Event" is applicable to the Notes, and the Calculation Agent determines acting in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner that a CNY Payment Disruption Event has occurred and is continuing
and such event is material in relation to the Issuer's payment obligations under the Notes, unless
otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Affected Payment Date may be postponed
to a later date or the Issuer's payment obligations under the Notes may be replaced with the obligation
to pay the Equivalent Amount of the relevant Interest Amount, Final Redemption Amount or other
amount payable (if applicable) on the relevant Affected Payment Date or the relevant CNY Payment
Disruption Cut-off Date, as the case may be. As a consequence, the Noteholder may lose some or all
of its investment.

Withholding tax

The Notes may be subject to withholding taxes in circumstances where the Issuer is not obliged to make
gross up payments and this would result in holders receiving less interest than expected and could
significantly adversely affect their return on the Notes.

Legal risks
Meetings of Noteholders

The Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings (including by way of conference call
or by use of a video conference platform) of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests
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generally (see Condition 13 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver) of the English Law
Notes and Condition 12 (Meeting and Voting Provisions) of the French Law Notes). These provisions
permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders, including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at
the relevant meeting, Noteholders who did not consent to the Written Resolutions and Noteholders who
voted in a manner contrary to the majority. General meetings or written consultations may deliberate
on any proposal relating to the modification of the conditions of the Notes subject, in the case of French
Law Notes, to the limitations provided by French law. Only holders of French Law Notes will, in certain
circumstances, be grouped for the defence of their common interests in a separate legal entity called
"Masse" (as defined in General Condition 12 (Meeting and Voting Provisions)). If the applicable Final
Terms specify "No Masse", Noteholders will not be grouped in a masse having legal personality
governed by the provisions of the French Code de commerce and will not be represented by a
representative of the masse. While it is not possible to assess the likelihood that the Conditions will
need to be amended during the term of the Notes by a meeting of the Noteholders, if a decision is
adopted by a majority of Noteholders and such modifications impair or limit the rights of Noteholders,
this may negatively affect the market value of the Notes.

Potential Conflicts of Interest

BNPP and/or any of its Affiliates or agents may engage in activities or arrangements in a range of
capacities that may result in conflicts of interest between their own financial interests and those of any
Noteholders, for example, by:

() engaging in trading activities (including hedging activities) relating to the Underlying Reference
or Reference Entity and other instruments or derivative products based on or relating to the
Underlying Reference or Reference Entity of any Notes for their proprietary accounts or for
other accounts under their management;

(ii) underwriting future offerings of shares or other securities relating to an issue of Notes or acting
as financial adviser or in a commercial banking capacity to certain companies or companies
whose shares or other securities are included in a basket in respect of a Series of Notes;

(iii) acting in a number of different capacities in relation to any Underlying Reference (including, but
not limited to an underlying Index (including a Custom Index), including, but not limited to, as
issuer of the constituents of the Index (or Custom Index, as the case may be), index sponsor
or calculation agent);

(iv) engaging in business, such as investing in, extending loans to, providing advisory services to,
entering into financing or derivative transactions with a company that has issued shares or debt
instruments, a fund that has issued fund shares or units, an exchange traded instrument
comprising the relevant Underlying Reference or a Reference Entity;

(V) receiving a fee for performing any services or entering into any transactions described above;

(vi) publishing research reports relating to any Underlying Reference or Reference Entity, which
express views that are inconsistent with purchasing or holding the Notes; or

(vii) making determinations regarding the occurrence of various events in respect of the Notes and
the applicable consequences in its role as Calculation Agent or Issuer, as the case may be, of
the Notes.

Any of the conflicts of interest described above could have a material adverse effect on the value of the
Notes and the return a Noteholder can expect to receive on their Notes, as none of BNPP and/or any
of its Affiliates or agents, acting in any capacity, is required to have regard to the interests of the
Noteholders. Prospective purchasers should also refer to the description of the role of the Calculation
Agent in the "Investment Considerations" section below.

BNPP (including its branches in various jurisdictions) performs various agency roles under the
Programme. As a result, potential conflicts of interest may arise between these roles. Such potential
conflicts of interests are mitigated using different management teams and information barriers within
BNPP, but the possibility of conflicts of interest arising cannot be completely eliminated.
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Change of law

The Conditions of the English Law Notes are based on English law in effect as at the date of this Base
Prospectus. The Conditions of the French Law Notes are based on French law in effect as at the date
of this Base Prospectus. There may be judicial decisions or changes to administrative practice or
changes to English law or French law, as applicable, after the date of this Base Prospectus and any
such change could materially adversely impact the value of any Notes affected by it.

French Insolvency Law

BNPP is a société anonyme with its corporate seat in France. In the event that BNPP becomes
insolvent, insolvency proceedings will generally be governed by the insolvency laws of France to the
extent that, where applicable, the "centre of main interests" (as construed under Regulation (EU)
2015/848, as amended) of BNP Paribas is located in France.

Directive (EU) 2019/1023 on preventive restructuring frameworks, on discharge of debt and
disqualifications, and on measures to increase the efficiency of procedures concerning restructuring,
insolvency and discharge of debt, and amending Directive (EU) 2017/1132 has been transposed into
French law by Ordonnance 2021-1193 dated 15 September 2021. Such ordonnance, which has applied
since 1 October 2021, amends French insolvency laws notably with regard to the process of adopting
restructuring plans under insolvency proceedings. According to this ordonnance, "affected parties"
(including in particular creditors, and therefore the Noteholders) shall be treated in separate classes
which reflect certain class formation criteria for the purpose of adopting a restructuring plan. Classes
will be formed in such a way that each class comprises claims or interests with rights that reflect a
sufficient common interest based on verifiable criteria. Noteholders will no longer deliberate on the
proposed restructuring plan in a separate assembly, meaning that they will no longer benefit from a
specific veto power on this plan. Instead, Noteholders will be treated in the same way as other affected
parties and will be grouped into one or more classes (potentially including other types of creditors) and
their dissenting vote may be overridden by a cross-class cram down.

Neither the scope of Directive (EU) 2019/1023 nor the scope of the ordonnance cover financial
institutions, unless the competent authority chooses to make them applicable. As a consequence, the
application of French insolvency law to a credit institution, such as BNPP is also subject to the prior
permission of the Autorité de contréle prudentiel et de résolution before the opening of any safeguard,
judicial reorganisation or liquidation procedures. This limitation will affect the ability of the Noteholders
to recover their investments in the Notes.

The commencement of insolvency proceedings against BNPP would have a material adverse effect on
the market value of the Notes issued by BNPP. As a consequence, any decisions taken by a class of
affected parties could negatively and significantly impact the Noteholders and could result in a loss of
some or all of their investment, should they not be able to recover some or all of the amounts due to
them from BNPP.

The implementation of the EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive could materially affect the Notes
and their holders

Directive 2014/59/EU, as amended by Directive (EU) 2019/879 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 20 May 2019 (the "Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive" or "BRRD") provides for the
establishment of an EU-wide framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and
investment firms. The BRRD has been implemented in France by several legislative texts, to provide
authorities with, among other powers, a credible set of tools (the "BRRD Resolution Tools") to
intervene sufficiently early and quickly in an unsound or failing relevant entity, so as to ensure the
continuity of that institution's critical financial and economic functions, while minimising the impact of its
potential failure on the economy and financial system.

Following a review of BRRD, Directive no. 2019/879/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council
of 20 May 2019 amending Directive 2014/59/EU as regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalisation
capacity of credit institutions and investment firms and Directive 98/26/EC ("BRRD 2") was adopted.

BRRD 2 was transposed into French law by Ordinance n°2020-1636 of 20 December 2020 relating to
the resolution regime in the banking sector and Decree n°2020-1703 of 24 December 2020 relating to
the resolution regime in the banking sector and took effect from 28 December 2020.
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If the Issuer is determined to be failing or likely to fail within the meaning of, and under the conditions
set by BRRD, and the relevant resolution authority applies any, or a combination, of the BRRD
Resolution Tools (e.g. sale of business, creation of a bridge institution, asset separation or bail-in), any
shortfall from the sale of the Issuer's assets may lead to a partial reduction in the outstanding amounts
of certain claims of unsecured creditors of that entity (including, as the case may be, the Notes), or, in
a worst case scenario, a reduction to zero. The unsecured debt claims of the Issuer (including, as the
case may be, the Notes) might also be converted into equity or other instruments of ownership, in
accordance with the hierarchy of claims in normal insolvency proceedings, which equity or other
instruments could also be subject to any future cancellation, transfer or dilution (such reduction or
cancellation being first on Common Equity Tier 1 (*CET1") instruments, thereafter the reduction,
cancellation or conversion being on Additional Tier 1 instruments, then Tier 2 instruments (including, as
the case may be, the Subordinated Notes) and other subordinated debts, then other eligible liabilities
(including, as the case may be, certain Senior Notes)). The relevant resolution authority may also seek
to amend the terms (such as variation of the maturity) of any outstanding unsecured debt securities
(including, as the case may be, the Notes) (as further described in Condition 17 of the English Law
Notes and Condition 15 of the French Law Notes (Recognition of Bail-in and Loss Absorption)).

In addition, the BRRD and the SRMR (as defined below) provide that the resolution authorities must
exercise the write-down of capital instruments or the conversion into CET1 instruments of Additional
Tier 1 instruments and Tier 2 instruments (such as the Qualifying Subordinated Notes) if the institution
has not yet been placed in resolution but any of the following conditions are met: (i) where the
determination has been made that conditions for resolution have been met, before any resolution action
is taken, (ii) the appropriate authority determines that unless that power is exercised in relation to the
relevant capital instruments, the institution or the group will no longer be viable or (iii) extraordinary
public financial support is required by the institution. Moreover, national governmental authorities may
adopt restructuring measures which may include the full or partial write-down or conversion into equity
of capital instruments (such as the Qualifying Subordinated Notes) outside of resolution (i.e. outside of
the BRRD framework) under the European Commission’s State Aid framework if the institution requires
exceptional public financial support.

Public financial support to resolve the Issuer where there is a risk of failure will only be used as a last
resort, after having assessed and exploited the above resolution tools, including the bail-in tool, to the
maximum extent possible whilst maintaining financial stability.

The exercise of any power under the BRRD or any suggestion of such exercise could materially
adversely affect the rights of the Noteholders, the price or value of their investment in the Notes and/or
the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Notes. As a result, Noteholders could lose all
or a substantial part of their investment in the Notes.

The Subordinated Notes are subordinated obligations and are junior to certain obligations

Article 48(7) of BRRD provides that Member States of the EEA shall ensure that all claims resulting
from own funds instruments, as defined by the CRR (the "Own Funds") (such as the Subordinated
Notes for so long as they qualify as Own Funds) have, in normal insolvency proceedings, a lower priority
ranking than any claim that does not result from Own Funds. Article L. 613-30-3 | of the French Code
monétaire et financier as amended by Ordinance No0.2020-1636 dated 21 December 2020 relating to
the resolution regime in the banking sector has implemented Article 48(7) of BRRD under French law
and as provided for in Condition 2(b) (Subordinated Notes) of the English Law Notes and of the French
Law Notes. Consequently, should the principal and interest of the Subordinated Notes issued on or
after 28 December 2020 pursuant to the abovementioned Ordinance be fully excluded from Tier 2
Capital, claims related to such Subordinated Notes shall have a higher priority ranking than any liabilities
resulting from Own Funds. As a result, any Series of Subordinated Notes or other capital instruments
(including instruments initially ranking lower than the Subordinated Notes, such as Additional Tier 1
instruments) issued after 28 December 2020 will, if they are no longer recognized as capital
instruments, change ranking so they will rank senior to the Subordinated Notes. For the avoidance of
doubt, such change to a more senior rank would occur over the life of the relevant Subordinated Notes
automatically as per the terms of their Terms and Conditions without consultation or need for consent
of the holders of such Subordinated Notes or the holders of any other Notes outstanding at such time.

As a consequence, subject to applicable law, in the event of the voluntary or judicial liquidation
(liquidation amiable ou liquidation judiciaire) of the Issuer, bankruptcy proceedings or any other similar
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proceedings affecting the Issuer, the rights of payment of holders of Subordinated Notes will be
subordinated to the payment in full of present and future unsubordinated creditors (including depositors,
holders of Senior Preferred Notes and Senior Non Preferred Notes) or other creditors whose claim
ranks in priority to the Subordinated Notes (including holders of Senior Preferred Notes and Senior Non-
Preferred Notes) and any other present and future creditors whose claims rank senior to the
Subordinated Notes (including instruments initially ranking junior to the Subordinated Notes such as
Additional Tier 1 instruments — issued after 28 December 2020 which are no longer fully or partly
recognised as Capital Instruments and which have, consequently, changed ranking pursuant to
Condition 2(b) (Subordinated Notes) of the English Law Notes and of the French Law Notes) and,
consequently, the risk of non-payment for the Subordinated Notes which are recognized as capital
instruments would be increased. In the event of incomplete payment of unsubordinated creditors or
other creditors whose claim ranks in priority to the Subordinated Notes on the liquidation of the Issuer,
the obligations of the Issuer in connection with the Subordinated Notes will be terminated by operation
of law and noteholders will lose their investment in the Subordinated Notes.

Further, there is no restriction on the issuance by the Issuer of additional senior obligations. As a
consequence, if the Issuer enters into voluntary or judicial liquidation proceedings (liquidation amiable
ou liguidation judiciaire) or is liquidated for any other reason, the Issuer will be required to pay potentially
substantial amounts of senior obligations (such as the Senior Preferred Notes and the Senior Non
Preferred Notes) before any payment is made in respect of the Subordinated Notes.

Holders of the Subordinated Notes bear significantly more risk than holders of senior obligations (such
as the Senior Preferred Notes and the Senior Non Preferred Notes). As a consequence, there is a
substantial risk that investors in Subordinated Notes will lose all or a significant part of their investment
should the Issuer become insolvent.

Redemption at the option of the Issuer may be subject to the prior permission of the Relevant Regulator

For Subordinated Notes and Senior Non Preferred Notes or, in the case of Senior Preferred Notes, if
"Prior permission of the Relevant Regulator" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms,
the Issuer may, redeem a Series of Notes in whole, but not in part, at their Optional Redemption Amount
or Early Redemption Amount, as the case may be, together with all interest accrued to the date fixed
for redemption upon the occurrence of certain specified events.

Such redemption option is often provided for securities in periods of high interest rates. If the market
interest rates decrease, the risk to Noteholders that the Issuer will exercise its right to redeem the Notes
early increases. As a consequence, the yields received upon redemption may be lower than expected,
and the redeemed face amount of the Notes may be lower than the purchase price for the Notes paid
by the Noteholder. As a consequence, the Noteholder may not receive the total amount of the capital
invested. In addition, investors that choose to reinvest monies they receive through an early redemption
may be able to do so only in securities with a lower yield than the redeemed Notes. As a consequence,
the Noteholder may lose some or all of its investment.

Differences between Subordinated Notes and the bank's covered deposits in terms of yield, risk and
liquidity

Prior to acquiring Subordinated Notes, prospective purchasers should note that there are a number of
key differences between Subordinated Notes and bank deposits including:

() Claims in relation to the payment of principal and interest under Subordinated Notes rank four
levels below claims under the so-called "covered deposits”" (being deposits below the EUR
100,000 threshold benefiting from the protection of the deposit guarantee scheme in
accordance with Directive 2014/49/EU);

(i) generally, demand deposits will be more liquid than Subordinated Notes; and

(iii) generally, Subordinated Notes will benefit from a higher yield than a covered deposit
denominated in the same currency and having the same maturity. The higher yield usually
results from the higher risk associated with Subordinated Notes.

The Senior Non Preferred Notes are junior to certain obligations

Senior Non Preferred Notes will be subordinated to existing senior debt and Senior Preferred Notes
and could be bailed-in before such senior debt in the event of resolution under the BRRD. As a result,
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the default risk on the Senior Non Preferred Notes will be higher than the risk associated with preferred
senior debt (such as Senior Preferred Notes) and other senior liabilities (such as wholesale deposits).

Although Senior Non Preferred Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable Senior
Preferred Notes, there is a greater risk that an investor in Senior Non Preferred Notes will lose all or
some of its investment should the Issuer become (i) subject to resolution under the BRRD and the
Senior Non Preferred Notes become subject to the application of the general bail-in tool or (ii) insolvent.
Thus, such holders of Senior Preferred Notes face an increased performance risk compared to holders
of Senior Preferred Obligations.

If a judgment is rendered by any competent court declaring the judicial liquidation (/iquidation judiciaire)
of the Issuer, or if the Issuer is liquidated for any other reason, the rights of payment of the Noteholders
of Senior Non Preferred Notes will be subordinated to the payment in full of the senior preferred creditors
of the Issuer and any other creditors that are senior to the Notes. In the event of incomplete payment
of senior preferred creditors and other creditors ranking ahead of the claims of the holders of Senior
Non Preferred Notes, the obligations of the Issuer in connection with the principal of the Senior Non
Preferred Notes will be terminated.

Substitution and variation of the English law governed Notes by the Issuer without consent from
Noteholders may result in the terms of such Notes being less favourable

If a MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event has occurred and is continuing, and with respect to Senior
Preferred Notes and Subordinated Notes only if “MREL/TLAC Disqualification Event” is specified in the
applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may, in respect of the English law Notes only, at its option, substitute
all (but not some only) of the relevant Series of Notes or vary the terms of all (but not some only) of the
relevant Series of Notes, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, so
that they become or remain Qualifying Notes or, as the case may be, Qualifying Tier 2 Notes.

Qualifying Notes or Qualifying Tier 2 Notes are securities issued or guaranteed by the Issuer that have,
inter alia, terms not materially less favourable to the Noteholders than the terms of the Notes (provided
that the Issuer shall have delivered a certificate to that effect to the Principal Paying Agent). Due to the
particular circumstances of each Noteholder, any Qualifying Notes or Qualifying Tier 2 Notes may not
be as favourable to each Noteholder in all respects or, if it were entitled to do so, a particular Noteholder
may not make the same determination as the Issuer as to whether the terms of the relevant Qualifying
Notes or relevant Qualifying Tier 2 Notes are not materially less favourable to Noteholders than the
terms of the Notes.

Change in ranking of Senior Non Preferred Notes to Senior Preferred Notes without consent from
Noteholders

In accordance with the Conditions of the Notes, if specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms
and a MREL/TLAC Criteria Event (as defined below) has occurred and is continuing in respect of a
Series of Senior Non Preferred Notes, the Principal Paying Agent and the Issuer may agree, subject to
the prior permission of the Relevant Regulator, as required by the Relevant Rules, without the consent
of the Noteholders, to (i) vary the ranking of such Notes to Senior Preferred Notes or (ii) substitute all
(but not some only) of such Notes for Senior Preferred Notes on substantially similar terms to those of
the relevant Senior Non Preferred Notes (and not otherwise materially less favourable to the
Noteholders), except for the ranking of such Notes. The Issuer may, at its option, early redeem all (but
not some only) of the relevant Series of Senior Non Preferred Notes.

A "MREL/TLAC Criteria Event" shall occur in respect of a Series of Senior Non Preferred Notes if (i)
such Notes do not comply with the criteria applicable to eligible liabilities and are excluded from the
eligible liabilities available to meet the MREL/TLAC Requirements according to the Relevant Rules (as
defined in Condition 5(e) (Optional Redemption of Subordinated Notes upon the occurrence of a Capital
Event) of the English Law Notes and of the French Law Notes) as a consequence or (ii) such Notes are
deemed to fall outside the category of obligations described in article L.613-30-3-1-4° and article R.613-
28 of the French Code monétaire et financier, provided that, a MREL/TLAC Criteria Event shall not
occur where such Series of Notes is excluded on the basis (1) that the remaining maturity of the Notes
is less than any period prescribed by any applicable eligibility criteria under the MREL/TLAC
Requirements, or (2) of any applicable limits on the amount of eligible liabilities permitted or allowed to
meet the MREL/TLAC Requirements.
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Differences between Senior Non Preferred Notes and the bank's covered deposits in terms of yield, risk
and liquidity

Prior to acquiring Senior Non Preferred Notes, prospective purchasers should note that there are a
number of key differences between Senior Non Preferred Notes and bank deposits including:

() Claims in relation to the payment of principal and interest under Senior Non Preferred Notes
rank four levels below claims under the so-called "covered deposits" (being deposits below the
EUR 100,000 threshold benefiting from the protection of the deposit guarantee scheme in
accordance with Directive 2014/49/EU);

(ii) generally, demand deposits will be more liquid than Senior Non Preferred Notes; and

(iii) generally, Senior Non Preferred Notes will benefit from a higher yield than a covered deposit
denominated in the same currency and having the same maturity. The higher yield usually
results from the higher risk associated with Senior Non Preferred Notes.

The regulation and reform of "benchmarks" may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or
referencing such "benchmarks"

A number of major interest rates (including the Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("EURIBOR")), other rates,
indices and other published values or benchmarks are the subject of national, international and other
regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform
differently than in the past, to disappear entirely or have other consequences which cannot be predicted.
Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on Notes linked
to any such value or benchmark.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial
contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds (the "EU Benchmarks Regulation") is a
key element of ongoing regulatory reform in the EU and has applied, subject to certain transitional
provisions, since 1 January 2018. In addition to so-called "critical benchmark" indices, such as
EURIBOR, other interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and indices, including equity, commodity and
"proprietary” indices or strategies, will in most cases be within scope of the EU Benchmarks Regulation
as "benchmarks" where they are used to determine the amount payable under, or the value of, certain
financial instruments (including securities listed on an EU regulated market, EU multilateral trading
facility ("MTF"), EU organised trading facility ("OTF") or via a systematic internaliser). Regulation (EU)
2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the
"UK Benchmarks Regulation") is the relevant regulatory regime applicable to, among other things,
the provision of benchmarks and the use of a benchmark in the UK.

The EU Benchmarks Regulation applies to the contribution of input data to a benchmark, the
administration of a benchmark, and the use of a benchmark in the EU. Amongst other things, the EU
Benchmarks Regulation requires EU benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered as such
and to comply with extensive requirements relating to benchmark administration. It also prohibits certain
uses by EU supervised entities of (a) benchmarks provided by EU administrators which are not
authorised or registered in accordance with the EU Benchmarks Regulation and (b) benchmarks
provided by non-EU administrators where (i) the administrator's regulatory regime has not been
determined to be "equivalent" to that of the EU, (ii) the administrator has not been recognised in
accordance with the EU Benchmarks Regulation, or (iii) the benchmark has not been endorsed in
accordance with the EU Benchmarks Regulation. Similarly, the UK Benchmarks Regulation prohibits
the use of in the UK by UK supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised
by the Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA") or registered on the FCA register (or, if not based in the
UK, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

The EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, could have a
material adverse impact on any Notes for which a request for admission to trading on a trading venue
has been made, or which are traded on a trading venue or via a "systematic internaliser" linked to,
referencing or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) upon a "benchmark" for the purposes of the
EU Benchmarks Regulation and/or UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable.

Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes to any benchmark may result in:
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) the level of the published rate or the level of the "benchmark" or the volatility of the published
rate or level being adversely affected;

. an increase in the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a
"benchmark" and complying with such regulations or requirements;

o the "benchmark" (including certain currencies or tenors of benchmarks) being discontinued or
otherwise unavailable, which may result in the rate of interest in respect of the Notes (if any)
being determined based on any applicable falloack provisions;

o the methodology or other terms of the benchmark being changed in order to comply with
regulatory requirements;

. the occurrence of an Administrator/Benchmark Event (as further described under "Risks
associated with the occurrence of an Administrator/Benchmark Event" below); or

. have other adverse effects or unforeseen consequences.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes
and/or could lead to the Notes being de-listed, adjusted, redeemed early following the occurrence of an
Administrator/Benchmark Event, subject to discretionary valuation or adjustment by the Calculation
Agent or otherwise impacted depending on the particular "benchmark" and the applicable terms of the
Notes. This could also negatively affect the liquidity of the Notes and a Noteholder's ability to sell their
Notes in the secondary market.

The EU Benchmarks Regulation was further amended by Regulation (EU) 2021/168 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 10 February 2021 which introduces a harmonised approach to deal
with the cessation or wind-down of certain benchmarks (such as EURIBOR) by conferring the power to
designate a statutory replacement for said benchmarks on the Commission or the relevant national
authority in certain circumstances, such replacement being limited to contracts and financial instruments
(such as certain Notes) which contain no fallback provision or no suitable fallback provisions and where
certain trigger events relating to non-representativeness or cessation or wind down of the benchmark
are met. In general, parties can opt out of the statutory replacement where all parties, or the required
majority of parties, to a contract or financial instrument have agreed to apply a different replacement for
a benchmark before or after entry into force of the implementing act. A statutory replacement
benchmark could have a negative impact on the value or liquidity of, and return on, certain Notes linked
to or referencing such benchmark and may not operate as intended at the relevant time or may perform
differently from the discontinued or otherwise unavailable benchmark.

In addition Regulation (EU) 2021/168 is subject to further development through delegated regulations
and the transitional provisions applicable to third-country benchmarks are extended until the end of
2023 (and the Commission is empowered to further extend this period until the end of 2025, if
necessary). There are therefore still details to be clarified in relation to the potential impact of these
legislative developments. Accordingly, there may be a risk that a statutory replacement benchmark may
be designated if, for instance, a replacement benchmark determined in accordance with the fallback
provisions is deemed unsuitable as its application no longer reflects or significantly diverges from the
underlying market or the economic reality that the benchmark in cessation is intended to measure (and
where certain other conditions are satisfied, including one of the parties objecting to the contractually
agreed fallback).

Risks associated with the occurrence of an Administrator/Benchmark Event

If specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the occurrence of an Administrator/Benchmark
Event (as defined in Condition 5(t) of the English Law Notes (Redemption/Adjustment for an
Administrator/Benchmark Event) and Condition 5(r) of the French Law Notes (Redemption/Adjustment
for an Administrator/Benchmark Event) and more fully described in the "Investment Considerations"
section below) may lead to redemption or adjustment of the Notes. Any such adjustment or redemption
of the Notes following the occurrence of an Administrator/Benchmark Event may have an adverse effect
on the value and liquidity of such Notes and accordingly the amount Noteholders can expect to receive
on their investment.
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The implementation of SOFR Replacement Conforming Changes could adversely affect Holders

Under the fallback provisions applicable to Notes that pay an amount determined by reference to the
Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") (whether a compounded rate or the SOFR Index), if a
particular SOFR Replacement or SOFR Replacement Adjustment (each as defined in Condition
3(e)(iii)(3)(D) of the English Law Notes or Condition 3(e)(iii)(3)(D) of the French Law Notes or Underlying
Interest Rate Linked Condition 3(c)(iv), as the case may be), cannot be determined, then the next-
available SOFR Replacement or SOFR Replacement Adjustment will apply. These replacement rates
and adjustments may be selected or formulated by (i) the Relevant Governmental Body (as defined in
Condition 3(e)(iii)(3)(C) of the English Law Notes or Condition 3(e)(iii)(3)(C) of the French Law Notes
or Underlying Interest Rate Linked Condition 3(c)(iii) (Screen Rate Determination — SOFR), as the case
may be), (i) ISDA or (iii) in certain circumstances, the Calculation Agent and/or the Replacement Rate
Determination Agent or Replacement Underlying Rate Determination Agent, as the case may be.

In addition, the fallback provisions permit the Replacement Rate Determination Agent or Replacement
Underlying Rate Determination Agent, as the case may be, to make certain changes (which are defined
in Condition 3(e)(iii)(3)(D) of the English Law Notes or Condition 3(e)(iii)(3)(D) of the French Law Notes
or Underlying Interest Rate Linked Condition 3(c)(iv), as the case may be, as "SOFR Replacement
Conforming Changes") with respect to, among other things, the timing and frequency of determining
rates and making payments of interest. The application of a SOFR Replacement and SOFR
Replacement Adjustment and any implementation of SOFR Replacement Conforming Changes could
reduce the amount payable in respect of the Notes, which could adversely affect the return on, value of
and market for, the Notes. Furthermore, the characteristics of any SOFR Replacement may not be
similar to the then-current SOFR benchmark that it is replacing and/or any SOFR Replacement may
not produce the economic equivalent of the then-current SOFR benchmark that it is replacing.

The discontinuation of Interbank Offered Rates may adversely affect the value of the Notes

Sterling, Euro, Swiss Franc and Japanese Yen London Interbank Offered Rates ("LIBOR"), across all
tenors, and U.S. dollar LIBOR 1 week and 2 month tenors, either ceased to exist entirely, or became
non-representative of the underlying market and economic reality that such rates were intended to
measure, immediately after 31 December 2021 and U.S. dollar LIBOR overnight, 1, 3, 6 and 12 month
tenors, will either cease to exist entirely, or will become non-representative immediately after 30 June
2023. The future of EURIBOR is also uncertain. Amongst other developments, new issuances of
products referencing LIBOR are no longer permitted (except in very limited circumstances) and relevant
authorities are strongly encouraging the transition away from Interbank Offered Rates ("IBORs"), such
as EURIBOR. A number of "risk free rates" have been identified to take the place of such IBORs as
primary benchmarks. This includes (i) for sterling LIBOR, a reformed Sterling Overnight Index Average
("SONIA") as the primary Sterling interest rate benchmark, (ii) for EONIA and EURIBOR, Euro Short-
Term Rate ("€STR") as the primary euro risk free rate, (iii) for USD LIBOR, SOFR as the primary U.S.
dollar interest rate benchmark, (iv) for CHF LIBOR, the daily Swiss Average Rate Overnight ("SARON")
as the primary Swiss Franc interest rate benchmark and (v) for JPY LIBOR the Tokyo Overnight
Average Rate ("TONA") as a Japanese Yen interest rate benchmark. The risk free rates have a different
methodology and other important differences from the IBORs they have replaced, a limited historical
track record and may be subject to changes in their methodology. Uncertainties in the development of
these risk free rates could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on Notes linked to
any such rates.

The application of certain fall-back provisions to floating rates of interest such as BBSW, EURIBOR,
NIBOR, PRIBOR, STIBOR and WIBOR may change the basis on which such Notes are determined
and the reforms and eventual replacement of EURIBOR with €STR may cause EURIBOR to perform
differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be
predicted.

Investors in Notes referencing EURIBOR as an Underlying Interest Rate, or BBSW, EURIBOR, NIBOR,
PRIBOR, STIBOR or WIBOR as a floating rate of interest face the risk that such rate will be discontinued
or otherwise unavailable during the term of their Notes, in which case the rate of interest on the Notes
will be determined for the relevant period by the fall-back provisions applicable to the Notes. Depending
on the manner in which BBSW, EURIBOR, NIBOR, PRIBOR, STIBOR or WIBOR is to be determined
under the Conditions, this may in certain circumstances (i) result in the application of a backward
looking, risk free overnight rate, whereas rates such as EURIBOR, NIBOR, PRIBOR, STIBOR or
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WIBOR are expressed on the basis of a forward looking term and includes a risk element based on
inter-bank lending, (ii) result in the effective application of a fixed rate based on the rate which applied
in the previous period when the relevant rate was available, or (iii) be determined by reference to an
alternative rate selected by an institution with authority consistent with industry accepted standards or,
in the absence of such alternative rate, by a third party agent appointed by the Calculation Agent. As
the replacement rate will not be identical to the original rate (and may not be comparable), any of the
foregoing circumstances could have a significant adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and return
on, the Notes. In addition, any holders of such Notes that enter into hedging instruments based on the
original replacement reference rate may find their hedges to be ineffective, and they may incur costs
replacing such hedges with instruments tied to the new replacement reference rate.

The market continues to develop in relation to SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON and TONA as reference
rates for Notes that pay a floating rate of interest and/or as Underlying Interest Rates

Where the applicable Final Terms specifies that the Rate of Interest, Rate or the Underlying Interest
Rate, as applicable, in respect of the Notes will be determined by reference to SONIA, SOFR, €STR,
SARON or TONA, the Rate of Interest, Rate or the Underlying Interest Rate, as applicable, will be
determined by reference to the Compounded Daily SONIA (including on the basis of the SONIA Index
published by the relevant administrator or other information service specified in the applicable Final
Terms), Weighted Average SONIA, Compounded Daily SOFR (including on the basis of the SOFR
Index published on the NY Federal Reserve Website), SOFR Arithmetic Mean, Compounded Daily
€STR, Compounded Daily SARON or Compounded Daily TONA, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

The ongoing development of compounded daily SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON and TONA as reference
rates in the capital markets, as well as continued development of SONIA-, SOFR-, €STR-, SARON-
and TONA-based rates for such markets and the market infrastructure for adopting such rates, could
result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price of any Notes
that reference a SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA rate, as applicable.

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or
TONA that differs significantly from that set out in the Conditions and used in relation to Notes that pay
an amount by reference to a SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA rate issued under the
Programme.

Interest on Notes which reference a SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA rate for the determination
of the Rate of Interest or Rate is only capable of being determined at the end of the relevant Interest
Period and shortly prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes
that reference a SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA rate to estimate reliably the amount of interest
that will be payable on such Notes, which could adversely impact the liquidity of such Notes. In contrast
to Notes that pay a floating rate of interest referencing a term rate, such as EURIBOR, NIBOR, PRIBOR,
STIBOR or WIBOR, if Notes referencing compounded daily or single daily SONIA, SOFR, €STR,
SARON or TONA are redeemed early and accrued interest is payable on such redemption in respect
of a period which is not an Interest Period, the final Rate of Interest or Rate in respect of such Notes
will only be determined at the due date for redemption.

In addition, the manner of adoption or application of SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA reference
rates in the Eurobond markets may differ materially compared with the application and adoption of
SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA in other markets, such as the derivatives and loan markets.
Any such mismatch between the adoption of SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA reference rates
across these markets may adversely impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which a
Noteholder has in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of any Notes referencing a
SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA rate and could have a material adverse impact on such
Noteholders' investments.

To the extent the SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA rate is not published, the applicable rate to
be used to calculate the Rate of Interest or Rate in respect of an Interest Period or the Underlying
Interest Rate in respect of the Underlying Interest Determination Date, will be determined using the fall-
back provisions set out in the Conditions (in the case of a Rate of Interest or Rate) or the Underlying
Interest Rate Linked Conditions (in the case of an Underlying Interest Rate). Any of these fall-back
provisions may result in payments that are lower than, or do not otherwise correlate over time with, the
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payments that would have been made on the Notes if the SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA rate
had been so published as expected as of the Issue Date of the Notes. In addition, application of the
fall-back provisions in respect of the Rate of Interest or Rate may result in the effective application of a
fixed rate of interest to the Notes.

Investors will not know in advance the interest amount payable on Notes which is calculated by
reference to SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA

The Rate of Interest or Rate in respect of the Notes may be calculated by reference to SONIA, SOFR,
€STR, SARON or TONA. Because such rates are overnight funding rates, interest on Notes that
reference such rates with Interest Periods longer than overnight will be calculated on the basis of (a) in
the case of SONIA, (i) the weighted average mean of SONIA over the relevant Observation Lookback
Period in respect of an Interest Period or where SONIA is fixed for a certain number of days prior to the
end of the relevant Interest Period, (i) a compounded SONIA (x) in respect of the Interest Period,
provided that the SONIA used as the basis for calculation is that which was published a specified
number of days prior to the observation date or (y) in respect of a period that starts a specified number
of days prior to the relevant Interest Period and ends the same specified number of days prior to the
end of such Interest Period or (iii) calculated by reference to the SONIA Index published by the
administrator of the SONIA reference rate, (b) in the case of SOFR, (i) the arithmetic mean of SOFR
over the relevant Interest Period, where the SOFR is fixed for a certain number of days prior to the end
of such Interest Period, (ii) a compounded SOFR (x) in respect of the Interest Period, provided that the
SOFR used as the basis for calculation is that which was published a specified number of days prior to
the observation date or (y) in respect of a period that starts a specified number of days prior to the
relevant Interest Period and ends the same specified number of days prior to the end of such Interest
Period or (iii) calculated by reference to the SOFR Index published on the NY Federal Reserve Website
(c) in the case of €STR, a compounded €STR (x) in respect of the Interest Period, provided that €STR
used as the basis for calculation is that which was published a specified number of days prior to the
observation date or (y) in respect of a period that starts a specified number of days prior to the relevant
Interest Period and ends the same specified number of days prior to the end of such Interest Period,
(d) in the case of SARON, a compounded SARON in respect of a period that starts a specified number
of days prior to the relevant Interest Period and ends the same specified number of days prior to the
end of such Interest Period or (e) in the case of TONA, a compounded TONA (i) in respect of the Interest
Period, provided that the TONA used as the basis for calculation is that which was published a specified
number of days prior to the observation date or (ii) in respect of a period that starts a specified number
of days prior to the relevant Interest Period and ends the same specified number of days prior to the
end of such Interest Period. As a consequence of these calculation methods, the amount of interest
payable on each interest payment date will only be known a short period of time prior to the relevant
interest payment date. Investors therefore will not know in advance the interest amount which will be
payable on such Notes and there is a possibility that such amount could be lower than expected.

Any failure of SOFR to gain market acceptance could adversely affect holders of Notes that pay an
amount determined by reference to SOFR

Holders of Notes that pay an amount determined by reference to SOFR are exposed to the risk that
such rate may not be widely accepted in the market. The risk of this occurring is mitigated by the fact
that SOFR was developed for use in certain U.S. dollar derivatives and other financial contracts as an
alternative to LIBOR in part because it is considered to be a good representation of general funding
conditions in the overnight U.S. Treasury repo market. However, as a rate based on transactions
secured by U.S. Treasury securities, it does not measure bank-specific credit risk and, as a result, is
less likely to correlate with the unsecured short-term funding costs of banks. This may mean that market
participants would not consider SOFR to be a suitable substitute or successor for all of the purposes
for which LIBOR historically has been used (including, without limitation, as a representation of the
unsecured short-term funding costs of banks), which may, in turn, lessen its market acceptance. Any
failure of SOFR to gain or maintain market acceptance could adversely affect the return on, value of
and market for Notes that pay an amount determined by reference to SOFR.

Instruments issued as Green Bonds may not meet investor expectations and therefore may adversely
affect the Notes

The applicable Final Terms may provide that it will be BNPP’s intention to apply an amount equivalent
to the net proceeds of issuance of the relevant Series of Senior Notes or Subordinated Notes to finance
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or refinance Eligible Green Assets as defined in and further described in the BNP Paribas Green Bond
Framework, as amended and supplemented from time to time (the "Green Bond Framework"), which
is available on the website of BNPP
(https://invest.bnpparibas/en/search/debt/documents/documentation-on-programs-and-issuances).
The term "Green Bonds" as used in this risk factor means any Notes to be issued by BNPP in
accordance with the Green Bond Framework. Notes issued as Green Bonds will be subject to bail-in
and resolution measures provided by the BRRD in the same way as any other Notes issued under the
Programme. As to such measures see the risk factor entitled "The implementation of the EU Bank
Recovery and Resolution Directive could materially affect the Notes and their holders".

Any:

() failure to apply the net proceeds of any issue of Green Bonds to any Eligible Green Assets;

(i) withdrawal of any opinion or certification or any opinion or certification being superseded by an
opinion or certification stating that BNPP has not complied, in whole or in part, with any matters
on which the original opinion or certification had opined or certified;

(iii) lack of Eligible Green Assets in which the Issuer may invest; and/or

(iv) event or circumstances resulting in the Green Bonds no longer being listed or admitted to

trading on any stock exchange or securities market,

does not constitute an event of default, does not affect the regulatory treatment of the Notes in respect
of BNPP and may have a material adverse effect on the value of Green Bonds and the value of any
other securities which are intended to finance and/or refinance Eligible Green Assets and/or could also
result in adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to
be used for a particular purpose.

Instruments issued as Social Bonds may not meet investor expectations and therefore may adversely
affect the Notes

The applicable Final Terms may provide that it will be BNPP's intention to apply an amount equivalent
to the net proceeds of issuance of the relevant Series of Senior Notes or Subordinated Noted to finance
and or refinance Eligible Social Assets, as defined in and further described in the BNPP Social Bond
Framework, as may be updated, amended and supplemented from time to time (the "Social Bond
Framework"), which is available on the following website:
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/search/debt/documents/documentation-on-programs-and-issuances. The
term "Social Bonds" as used in this risk factor means any Notes to be issued in accordance with the
Social Bond Framework.

Any:

(i) failure to apply the net proceeds of any issue of Social Bonds to any Eligible Social Assets;

(i) withdrawal of any opinion or certification or any opinion or certification being superseded by an
opinion or certification stating that BNPP has not complied, in whole or in part, with any matters
on which the original opinion or certification had opined or certified;

(iii) lack of Eligible Social Assets in which the Issuer may invest; and/or

(iv) event or circumstances resulting in the Social Bonds no longer being listed or admitted to

trading on any stock exchange or securities market,

will not constitute an event of default, does not affect the regulatory treatment of the Notes in respect
of BNPP and may have a material adverse effect on the value of Social Bonds and the value of any
other securities which are intended to finance and/or refinance Eligible Social Assets and/or could also
result in adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to
be used for a particular purpose.

Risks relating to Underlying Reference Linked Notes

Risks associated with specific types of Underlying Reference Linked Notes

(a) Risks associated with Notes including SPS Payouts:
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(vii)

x)

RISKS

Risks associated with Reverse Convertible Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and whether a knock-in event occurs. As a consequence, investors may be exposed
to a partial or total loss of their investment.

Risks associated with Vanilla Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and whether knock-in or knock-out features apply. As a consequence, investors may
be exposed to a partial or total loss of their investment.

Risks associated with Asian Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s),
which is determined using an averaging method. The return will also depend on
whether specific features, such as a cap, a floor or lock-in, apply. As a consequence,
investors may be exposed to a partial or total loss of their investment.

Risks associated with Auto-callable Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and whether knock-in or knock out features apply. Auto-callable Notes include
automatic early redemption mechanisms. Depending on the applicable formula, if an
automatic early redemption event occurs investors may be exposed to a partial loss of
their investment. As a consequence, investors may be exposed to a partial or total loss
of their investment.

Risks associated with Indexation Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and whether knock-in, knock-out and/or automatic early redemption features apply.
Depending on the applicable formula, if an automatic early redemption event occurs
investors may be exposed to a partial loss of their investment. As a consequence,
investors may be exposed to a partial or total loss of their investment.

Risks associated with Ratchet Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and is calculated based on the sum of returns determined on a given formula (which
can be capped and/or floored). As a consequence, investors may be exposed to a
partial or total loss of their investment.

Risks associated with Sum Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and is calculated based on the weighted sum of returns determined using different
payout formulae. As a consequence, investors may be exposed to a partial or total loss
of their investment.

Risks associated with Option Max Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and is calculated based on the maximum return determined using different payout
formulae. As a consequence, investors may be exposed to a partial or total loss of their
investment.

Risks associated with Stellar Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of a basket of Underlying
References and is calculated based on the average returns of each Underlying
Reference in the basket (which can be capped and/or floored). As a consequence,
investors may be exposed to a partial loss of their investment.

Risks associated with Driver Notes
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The return on the Notes depends on the performance of a basket of Underlying
References. The return is determined by reference to the average return of the basket,
where the performance of one or more of the best performing Underlying Reference(s)
is set at a fixed level. As a consequence, investors may be exposed to a partial loss of
their investment.

(xi) Risks associated with Transition Products

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and whether knock-in and/or automatic early redemption features apply. Depending on
the applicable formula, investors may be exposed to a partial or total loss of their

investment.
(b) Risks associated with Notes including FI Payouts:
(i) Risks associated with Vanilla Notes

The return on the Notes depends on the performance of the Underlying Reference(s)
and whether knock-in or knock-out features apply. As a consequence, investors may
be exposed to a partial or total loss of their investment.

(i) Risks associated with Digital Notes

The return on the Notes is fixed or variable and will be dependent upon the performance
of the Underlying Reference(s). The return is calculated by reference to various
mechanisms (including floor or cap conditions and knock-in and/or knock-out features).
As a consequence, investors may be exposed to a partial or total loss of their
investment.

The formulae, relevant variables and other related provisions of these products are more fully described
in "Annex 1 — Additional Terms and Conditions for Payouts".

General risks of Underlying Reference Linked Notes

The Amount Payable on Redemption may be Significantly Less than the Value of an Investment in
the Notes

Each Noteholder may receive an amount on redemption and/or physical delivery of securities together
with cash for any rounding and residual amount in respect of any Underlying Reference Linked Notes.
The amount payable on redemption and/or the aggregate value of securities physically delivered and
cash may be significantly less than the value of the Noteholder's investment in such Notes. In particular,
in the case of any such Notes exposed to the performance of a basket of Underlying References, the
securities so delivered may relate to or, the cash redemption amount may be calculated by reference
to, the worst performing Underlying Reference or any other formula specified in the applicable
Final Terms.

Absence of rights in respect of the Underlying Reference(s)

The Notes do not represent a claim against any Underlying Reference (or any issuer, sponsor, manager
or other connected person in respect of an Underlying Reference) and Noteholders will not have any
right of recourse under the Notes to any such Underlying Reference (or any issuer, sponsor, manager
or other connected person in respect of an Underlying Reference). The Notes are not in any way
sponsored, endorsed or promoted by any issuer, sponsor, manager or other connected person in
respect of an Underlying Reference and such entities have no obligation to take into account the
consequences of their actions on any Noteholders and such consequences may have a negative impact
on Noteholders. Investors in Physical Delivery Notes should also refer to "Risks associated with
Physical Delivery Notes" below.

Risks associated with Physical Delivery Notes

In the case of Notes which are redeemable by delivery of assets (other than Credit Linked Notes,
"Physical Delivery Notes"), or in the case of Credit Linked Notes that provide for physical delivery (see
"Annex 7 — Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes") Noteholders will only obtain a
direct investment in the Underlying Reference or the relevant assets, in the case of Credit Linked Notes,
and have a right to participate in any voting, dividends, distributions or other rights of the Underlying
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Reference or the relevant assets, in the case of Credit Linked Notes, as the case may be, upon delivery
of the Entitlement or the relevant assets, in the case of Credit Linked Notes. Holders of such Notes or
physically settled Credit Linked Notes are exposed to the risk that the market value of the Entitlement
or the relevant assets, in the case of Credit Linked Notes, is less than the market value of the Notes
and Noteholders may not subsequently be able to realise any cash value from the assets comprising
the Entitlement or the relevant assets, in the case of Credit Linked Notes. This risk is increased if the
assets comprising the Entitlement or the relevant assets, in the case of Credit Linked Notes, have a
nexus with an emerging market (see "Additional risks associated with Notes with a nexus to emerging
markets" above).

In the case of Physical Delivery Notes, if a Settlement Disruption Event occurs or exists on the due date
for redemption of the Notes, settlement will be postponed until the next Settlement Business Day in
respect of which there is no Settlement Disruption Event. The Issuer in these circumstances also has
the right to pay the Disruption Cash Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 4(b)(A)(5) (Settlement
Disruption) of the English Law Notes and Condition 4(b)(A)(5) (Settlement Disruption) of the French
Law Notes) in lieu of delivering the Entitlement. The Disruption Cash Redemption Amount may be less
than the fair market value of the Entitlement and could be less than the return that the investor had
anticipated.

Option to Vary Settlement

If so indicated in the Final Terms, the Issuer may elect to vary the settlement of the Notes, by (i) in the
case of cash settled notes, delivering or procuring delivery of the Entitlement instead of making payment
of the Final Redemption Amount to the relevant Noteholders or (ii) in the case of physical delivery notes,
making payment of the Final Redemption Amount to the relevant Noteholders instead of delivering or
procuring delivery of the Entitlement.

Interest linked to an Underlying Reference

In the case of Linked Interest Notes (see Condition 3(d) of the English Law Notes and Condition 3(d) of
the French Law Notes (Interest on Linked Interest Notes)), where the amount of interest payable is
determined by reference to the performance of an Underlying Reference or a basket of Underlying
References, Noteholders are subject to the following risks:

(a) the market price of such Notes may be volatile, and so Noteholders may only be able to sell
their Notes in the secondary market at a loss (if they are able to sell at all);

(b) they may receive no interest;

(c) payment of interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected, which

could negatively affect the value of the Notes;

(d) an Underlying Reference may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with
changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices and the yield may be less than other
comparable investments;

(e) if an Underlying Reference in a basket has a disproportionately greater weighting compared to
other basket components or a weighting greater than one or contains some other leverage
factor, the effect of changes in the value of such Underlying Reference on interest payable will
be magnified and could magnify any loss of interest that Noteholders would experience
compared to an investment in Notes without such features; and

() interest may only be payable and/or calculated in respect of certain specified days and/or
periods on or during which the Underlying Reference or its value equals, exceeds and/or is less
than certain specified thresholds and if such conditions are not satisfied, Noteholders may not
receive any interest, thus negatively affecting the Noteholder's overall yield.

Risk of leveraged exposure

Notes including a leverage feature magnify gains and losses. If the Underlying Reference moves
against expectations, Noteholders risk losing a greater proportion of their investment than if they had
invested in a Note that is not leveraged.
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Limited exposure to Underlying Reference(s)

If the applicable Final Terms provide that the exposure of the Notes to one or more Underlying
References is limited or capped at a certain level or amount, the relevant Notes will not benefit from
any upside in the value of any such Underlying Reference(s) beyond such limit or cap. In this case,
Noteholders will not receive as much from their investment as they would have done if they had invested
directly in the Underlying Reference(s) or in alternative Notes without such features. The likelihood of
this occurring is dependent on the likelihood of the Underlying Reference(s) performing such that the
limit or cap affects the Notes.

Gap Risk

The relevant level, value or price of one or more Underlying Reference(s) may change suddenly and
significantly during the trading day or at the opening of the market. Such change may be positive or
negative and is known as the "Gap Risk". If the price of the Notes includes a premium, this will be
calculated to take account of the cost to the Issuer or its Affiliates of unwinding its hedging positions in
relation to the Notes on early redemption of the Notes and the Gap Risk associated with the relevant
level, value or price of the Underlying Reference(s). Noteholders will not receive a refund of this
premium if an Automatic Early Redemption Event occurs, which could significantly reduce the return a
Noteholder stands to receive on its investment.

Risks associated with Notes with a nexus to emerging markets

Where the value and return an investor can expect to receive in respect of the Notes depends on the
performance of one or more Underlying References issued by issuers located in, or subject to regulation
in, emerging or developing countries, denominated in the currency of, or are traded in, emerging or
developing countries or where the Notes are denominated in currencies of emerging or developing
countries, Noteholders are exposed to greater risks associated with political and economic uncertainty,
adverse governmental policies, restrictions on foreign investment and currency convertibility, currency
exchange rate fluctuations, possible lower levels of disclosure and regulation, and uncertainties as to
the status, interpretation and application of laws including, but not limited to, those relating to
expropriation, nationalisation and confiscation. Holders of Notes with such a nexus to emerging or
developing countries are exposed to the risk that such Notes may be less liquid and the prices of such
Notes more volatile, thus increasing the risk that such holders may experience a loss on their
investment. In addition, settlement of trades in such markets may be slower and more likely to be
subject to failure than in markets in developed countries.

Prospective purchasers in such Notes should also note that the probability of the occurrence of a
disruption event under the relevant terms of the Notes (as set out further in the Conditions) and
consequently loss of investment or profit by an investor may be higher for certain developing or
emerging markets.

Risks associated with Dynamic Notes

Notes linked to a portfolio or strategy that comprises assets with a greater potential for return and
consequently greater risk (such as, a hedge fund) and assets with a lower return and consequently
lesser risk (such as, a zero coupon debt security issued by an issuer with a high credit rating) are
described by the Issuer as "Dynamic Notes". The impact of any rebalancing of the portfolio or strategy
and any leverage features will affect the value of the portfolio or strategy and, in turn the value of the
Dynamic Notes. If the portfolio or strategy does not perform as expected, the value of the Dynamic
Notes and the return an investor can expect will be adversely affected.

Investment decision based on publicly available information

Noteholders are required to make their investment decision on the basis of information that is publicly
available. Therefore, Noteholders are exposed to the risk that information that is subsequently made
public could adversely affect the trading price of the Underlying Reference(s), which could have a
significant adverse impact on the value of the Notes.
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Additional Risks Relating to certain Underlying Reference(s), Disruption and/or Adjustment
Mechanisms

Risks associated with the occurrence of Additional Disruption Events and/or Optional Additional
Disruption Events

If an Additional Disruption Event occurs or any Optional Additional Disruption Event specified in the
applicable Final Terms occurs (each as defined in the relevant Additional Terms and Conditions), the
Notes may be subject to adjustment (including, in the case of Share Linked Notes to a Basket of Shares,
adjustments to the Basket of Shares), early redemption or the amount payable on scheduled
redemption may be different from the amount expected to be paid at scheduled redemption. In the
case of Index Linked Notes linked to a Custom Index, the occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event
or Optional Redemption Event specified in the applicable Final Terms may lead to the selection of a
successor Index. Any of these consequences is likely to have a material adverse effect on the value
and liquidity of the Notes and/or the return a Noteholder can expect to receive on their investment.

The occurrence of a Disrupted Day may have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the Index
Linked Notes, Share Linked Notes or ETI Linked Notes

If, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, a Market Disruption Event as described in the Index
Linked Notes Conditions, Share Linked Notes Conditions and ETI Linked Notes Conditions (as the case
may be) has occurred or the relevant exchange has not opened on a date for valuation in respect of an
issue of Index Linked Notes, Share Linked Notes or ETI Linked Notes (a "Disrupted Day"), any
consequential postponement of the valuation date, or any alternative provisions for valuation provided
in any Notes in respect of an Underlying Reference (including any Underlying Reference comprising a
basket) which delays the determination of the final level, value, price or amount of the index, share, ETI
interest, commodity or commodity index and which could also cause a delay in the payment of any
amount payable in respect of the Notes may have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of such
Securities, particularly if the Maturity Date of the Notes is postponed as a consequence.

Additional risks associated with Index Linked Notes

Index Linked Notes are linked to the performance of an underlying index (an "Index"), which may
reference various asset classes including but not limited to equities, bonds, currency exchange rates or
property price data, or could reference a combination of such asset classes. Investors in Index Linked
Notes face the risk of a broader set of circumstances that mean that the assets underlying the Index
(whether referring to some or all of such asset classes) do not perform as expected compared to an
investment in conventional debt securities. Accordingly, the return on an investment in Index Linked
Notes is more likely to be adversely affected than an investment in other types of debt securities or a
direct investment in the relevant assets underlying the Index. Accordingly, the return on an investment
in Index Linked Notes could be less than an investment in other types of debt securities or a direct
investment in relevant assets underlying the Index. The terms and conditions relevant to Index Linked
Notes (other than Index Linked Notes that are linked to the performance of a Custom Index) are set out
in Index Linked Notes Conditions 1 to 7 of "Annex 2— Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked
Notes".

In the case of Custom Index Linked Notes, if the components of the Custom Index are subject to regular
rebalancing in accordance with the methodology of the Custom Index, this may be determined (in whole
or in part) by reference to criteria specified in the index and/or one or more lists of assets compiled by
an independent third party (such as, research lists, analytical reports or "top picks" guides). Such third
parties have no regard to the interests of Noteholders and any such rebalancing could negatively affect
the performance of a Custom Index and the value of the Index Linked Notes. As the components of a
Custom Index may at any time comprise assets including, but not limited to, shares, exchange braded
interests and indices, investors should also refer to the risks described under "Additional risks
associated with Share Linked Notes" and "Additional risks associated with ETI Linked Notes" which set
out the risks associated with such potential component types. The terms and conditions relevant to
Index Linked Notes that are linked to the performance of a Custom Index are set out in Index Linked
Notes Conditions 8 to 14 (in the case of a Custom Index that is note an Equity Custom Index or a
Commodity Custom Index), Index Linked Notes Conditions 15 to 19 (in the case of a Custom Index that
is an Equity Custom Index) or Index Linked Notes Conditions 20 to 24 (in the case of a Custom Index
that is a Commodity Custom Index).
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The occurrence of an Index Adjustment Event may adversely impact Noteholders of Index Linked Notes

Following a modification to the methodology of the Index (an Index Modification), permanent
cancellation of the Index (an Index Cancellation) or if the Index Sponsor fails to calculate or publish the
level of the Index on a relevant date for valuation (an Index Disruption) (each such event being an
"Index Adjustment Event", as more fully described in Index Linked Condition 2.2 (Modification and
Cessation of Calculation of an Index)) may lead to (i) changes in the calculation of the relevant value or
price (if the Calculation Agent determines such Index Adjustment Event has a material effect on the
Notes), (ii) early redemption of the Notes or (iii) the amount payable on scheduled redemption of the
Notes being different from the amount expected to be paid at scheduled redemption. Any such
adjustment or early redemption of the Index Linked Notes may have an adverse effect on the value and
liquidity of such Notes and accordingly the amount Noteholders can expect to receive on
their investment.

Additional risks associated with Share Linked Notes

Unlike a direct investment in any share(s) (or Stapled Share(s)), GDR(s) and/or ADR(s) comprising the
Underlying Reference(s) (together the "Share(s)"), an investment in Share Linked Notes does not
entitle Noteholders to vote or receive dividends or distributions (unless otherwise specified in the Final
Terms). Accordingly, the return on Share Linked Notes will not be the same as a direct investment in
the relevant Share(s) and Noteholders could receive less than they would have done on a direct
investment. The terms and conditions relevant to Share Linked Notes are set out in "Annex 3 —
Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked Notes".

An adjustment to Share Linked Notes following a Potential Adjustment Event may adversely impact
Noteholders

In the case of Share Linked Notes, following the declaration by the Basket Company or Share Company
(or, in the case of Stapled Shares, an issuer of each constituent share comprising the Stapled Shares),
of the occurrence of any Potential Adjustment Event (as more fully described in Share Linked Condition
2.1 (Potential Adjustment Events)), the Calculation Agent will, acting in good faith and in a commercially
reasonable manner, determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative
effect on the theoretical value of the Shares (or the Stapled Shares, as the case may be) and, if so, will
make the corresponding adjustment, if any, to any terms of the Notes as the Calculation Agent acting
in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner determines appropriate to account for that
diluting or concentrative effect (provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes
in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relative to the relevant Share (or the relevant
Stapled Shares, as the case may be)). Such adjustment may have an adverse effect on the value and
liquidity of the affected Share Linked Notes and accordingly the amount Noteholders can expect to
receive on their investment.

The occurrence of Extraordinary Events relating to Share Linked Notes may adversely impact Holders

An Extraordinary Event will occur upon a De-Listing, Insolvency, Merger Event, Nationalisation,
Stapling, Tender Offer (unless Tender Offer is specified as not applicable in the applicable Final Terms)
or (if specified in the applicable Final Terms) llliquidity, Listing Change, Listing Suspension or CSR
Event (each as defined in Share Linked Condition 2.2 (Extraordinary Events)) in relation to a Share, the
Calculation Agent may make adjustments to any of the terms of the Share Linked Notes (including, in
the case of Share Linked Notes linked to a Basket of Shares, adjustments to and/or substitution of
constituent shares of the Basket of Shares), the Issuer may early redeem the Share Linked Notes in
whole or (in the case of Share Securities

linked to a Basket of Shares) in part at the Early Redemption Amount (as defined in "Investment
Considerations — Description of Early Redemption Amounts" below) or the Calculation Agent may make
an adjustment to any terms of the Share Linked Notes by reference to the corresponding adjustment(s)
made by the relevant exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which options on the affected Shares are
traded.

An adjustment to the Share Linked Notes may have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the
affected Share Linked Notes and accordingly the amount Noteholders can expect to receive on their
investment. If the Share Linked Notes are early redeemed, an investor generally would not be able to
reinvest the relevant proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the effective return on the relevant
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Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate, and prospective
purchasers should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.
Consequently, the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event in relation to a Share may have an adverse
effect on the value or liquidity of the Notes and accordingly the amount Noteholders can expect to
receive on their investment.

Notes Linked to Shares traded on the China Connect Service

In respect of Notes linked to Shares traded on the China Connect Service where "China Connect" is
specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, if a China Connect Share Disqualification or a
China Connect Service Termination (each as more fully described in Share Linked Condition 2.2
(Extraordinary Events)) occurs, such Notes may be subject to adjustment (including, in the case of
Share Linked Notes linked to a Basket of Shares, adjustments to the Basket of Shares) or early
redemption or the amount payable on scheduled redemption may be different from the amount expected
to be paid at scheduled redemption. Furthermore, if "China Connect" is specified in the applicable Final
Terms, the Conditions will include provisions dealing with (a)(i) the suspension of or limitations on
routing of orders through the China Connect Service or (ii) events disrupting the ability of market
participants to enter orders through the China Connect Service, where the Calculation Agent determines
such disruption is material at any time during the one hour period that ends at the relevant time for
valuation or (b) the unexpected early closure of the China Connect Service, in each case on a date for
valuation of a Share (including any Share comprising a Basket of Shares). If the Calculation Agent
determines that such circumstances exist on any relevant date for valuation, such date may be subject
to postponement or alternative provisions for valuation may apply. Any of these consequences is likely
to have a material adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the Notes and/or the return a Noteholder
can expect to receive on their investment.

Additional risks associated with ETI Linked Notes

An investment in ETI Linked Notes carries similar risks to an investment in Share Linked Notes or Fund
Linked Notes. An exchange traded instrument (an "ETI") may invest using sophisticated techniques,
such as leverage or short selling or in complex financial instruments such as derivatives (swaps,
options, futures), securities lending transactions, repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements or
foreign exchange instruments. If the investment strategy of the ETI is not successful it will have a
negative impact upon the performance of the ETI, and consequently, could have a negative impact on
the value of the ETI Linked Notes and the return investors may receive. None of the Issuer or the
Calculation Agent have any control over investments made by the relevant exchange traded
instrument(s) and in no way guarantee the performance of an ETI. Holders of ETI Linked Notes have
no right to participate in the ETI, whether by voting or in any distributions. Accordingly, the return a
Noteholder of ETI Linked Notes receives could be less (and could be significantly less) than a direct
investment in an ETI. This effect could be amplified if the ETI Share Provisions (as set out in ETI Linked
Conditions 7 to 11) are specified as not applicable in the applicable Final Terms and the value of the
ETlis linked to the NAV per ETI Interest, the trading price of the ETI or the actual redemption proceeds
the Hedge Provider or a hypothetical investor in the relevant ETI(s) would receive. The terms and
conditions relevant to ETI Linked Notes are set out in "Annex 8 — Additional Terms and Conditions for
ETI Linked Notes".

An adjustment to ETI Linked Notes following a Potential Adjustment Event may adversely impact
Noteholder

In the case of ETI Linked Notes, following the declaration by the relevant ETI or any person appointed
to provide services directly or indirectly in respect of such ETI, as the case may be, of the terms of any
Potential Adjustment Event (as more fully described in ETI Linked Condition 3 ( Potential Adjustment
Events) or (if the ETI Share Provisions are specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms) ETI
Linked Condition 9 (Potential Adjustment Events and Extraordinary Events)), the Calculation Agent will,
acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determine whether such Potential
Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the ETI Interests and,
if so, will make the corresponding adjustment, if any, to any terms of the Notes as the Calculation Agent
acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner determines appropriate to account for
that diluting or concentrative effect (provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for
changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relative to the relevant ETI Interest).
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Such adjustment may have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of the affected ETI Linked Notes,
and accordingly, the amount Noteholders can expect to receive on their investment.

The occurrence of an Extraordinary ETI Event (where ETI Share Provisions is not applicable) or
Extraordinary Event (where ETI| Share Provisions is applicable) may have an adverse impact on
Noteholders

In the case of ETI Linked Notes where ETI Share Provisions is specified as not applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, an Extraordinary ETI Event will occur as a result of events including (a) a merger
of the ETI Interests or the ETI or ETI Related Party with other ETI Interests or another entity, an entity
obtaining a controlling stake in the ETI or ETI Related Party or the insolvency of the ETI or any ETI
Related Party (Global Events), (b) material litigation or allegations of criminal or fraudulent activity in
respect of the ETI or ETI Related Party (Litigation/Fraudulent Activity Events), (c) the ETI Related Party
ceasing to act without being replaced (Change in ETI Related Parties/Key Person Events), (d) a material
change to the ETI or the ETI Documents (Modification Events), (e) a change to or suspension of the
calculation of the Value per ETI Interest or a breach of the Investment/AUM Level or Value per ETI
Interest Trigger Percentage (Net Asset Value/Investment/AUM Level Events), (f) a change in tax law,
revocation of any required licence or compulsory redemption of the ETI Interests required by a
competent authority (Tax/Law/Accounting/Regulatory Events), (g) an issue affecting the hedging
associated with the ETI Linked Notes (Hedging/Impracticality/Increased Costs Events) and (h) other
events such as an Extraordinary ETI Event affecting a portion of the basket of ETI Interests, a rating
downgrade, issues obtaining or trading ETI Interests or changes in the way dividends are paid
(Miscellaneous Events) (each as further described in ETI Linked Condition 4 (Extraordinary ETI
Events)). In the case of ETI Linked Notes where ETI Share Provisions is specified as applicable in the
applicable Final Terms, an Extraordinary Event will occur upon a Delisting, ETI Currency Change, ETI
Modification, ETI Reclassification, ETI Redemption or Subscription Event, ETI Regulatory Action, ETI
Reporting Event, ETI Strategy Breach, ETI Termination, Insolvency, Merger Event, Nationalisation or,
if specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, llliquidity, Listing Change, Listing Suspension
or Tender Offer (each as further described in ETI Linked Condition 9 (Potential Adjustment Events and
Extraordinary Events)). If an Extraordinary ETI Event occurs (i) require the Calculation Agent to adjust
the terms of the ETI Linked Notes to reflect such event, (ii) substitute the relevant ETI Interests, or (iii)
early redeem the ETI Linked Notes at the Early Redemption Amount (as defined in "Investment
Considerations — Description of Early Redemption Amounts" below). Similarly, if an Extraordinary Event
occurs, (i) the Calculation Agent may make adjustments to any of the terms of the ETI Linked Notes
(including, in the case of ETI Linked Notes linked to a Basket of ETI Interests, adjustments to and/or
substitution of constituent ETI Interests of the Basket of ETI Interests), (ii) the Issuer may early redeem
the ETI Linked Notes in whole or (in the case of ETI Linked Notes linked to a Basket of ETI Interests)
in part at the Early Redemption Amount (as defined in "Investment Considerations — Description of
Early Redemption Amounts" below) or (iii) the Calculation Agent may make an adjustment to any terms
of the ETI Linked Notes by reference to the corresponding adjustment(s) made by the relevant
exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which options on the affected ETI Interests are traded.
Consequently, the occurrence of an Extraordinary ETI Event or an Extraordinary Event, as the case
may be, may have an adverse effect on the value or liquidity of the Notes and the amount Noteholders
can expect to receive on their investment.

The occurrence of a Market Disruption Event relating to Commodity Linked Notes may have an adverse
impact on Noteholders

A Market Disruption Event will occur if there is a disruption in respect of a commodity or a commodity
index (a) to the availability of any price source, (b) to the ability to trade, (c) to the Commodity Reference
Price, (d) to the settlement price of a commodity or index component by an amount equal to the
maximum amount permitted under the applicable exchange rules, (e) (other than in respect of
Commodity Linked Notes referencing Gold, Silver, Platinum or Palladium) caused by a change in
composition, methodology or taxation or (f) (in respect of a commodity index only) to the price source
or calculation of a commodity index component (as more fully described in Commodity Linked Condition
1 (Market Disruption)) occurs or is continuing on a date for valuation in respect of Commodity Linked
Notes, then the Calculation Agent may make any relevant calculation in respect of the Commodity
Linked Notes using a price, level or value that it has determined in lieu of the published price, the
affected Commodity or Commodity Index may be substituted by the Calculation Agent (subject to
adhering to the criteria set out in the Conditions), the Issuer will early redeem the Notes (in whole, not
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in part) at the Early Redemption Amount (as defined in "Investment Considerations — Description of
Early Redemption Amounts" below). Any such adjustment or early redemption of the Notes may have
an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of such Notes and accordingly the amount Noteholders can
expect to receive on their investment.

The occurrence of a Commodity Index Adjustment Event may adversely impact Noteholders of
Commodity Linked Notes that reference a Commodity Index

The occurrence of a modification to the methodology of the commodity index (a Commodity Index
Modification), a permanent cancellation of the commodity index (a Commodity Index Cancellation) or if
the commodity index sponsor fails to calculate or publish the level of the commodity index on a relevant
date for valuation (a Commodity Index Disruption) (each such event being a "Commodity Index
Adjustment Event", as more fully described in Commodity Linked Condition 3.2 (Modification and
Cessation of Calculation of Commodity Index)) may lead to (i) the Calculation Agent determining the
relevant price using, in lieu of a published level, the Commodity Fallback Value (if the Calculation Agent
determines such Commodity Index Adjustment Event has a material effect on the Notes), or (ii) early
redemption of the Notes. Any such adjustment or early redemption of the Commaodity Linked Notes may
have an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of such Notes and accordingly the amount Noteholders
can expect to receive on their investment.

Additional risks associated with Commodity Linked Notes referencing a proprietary commodity index

If the Commodity Linked Notes reference the performance of a proprietary commodity index, the
operational rules of the commodity index (which may not be publicly available) will affect how the level
of the commaodity index is determined in the event of a disruption. A delay in the publication of the
commodity index could adversely affect the commodity index and consequently, the value of the
Commodity Linked Notes, which in turn could negatively affect the return an investor can expect to
receive on the Commaodity Linked Notes. The terms and conditions relevant to Commodity Linked Notes
are set out in "Annex 5 — Additional Terms and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes".

Additional risks associated with Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes

Fluctuations in exchange rates are affected by complex political and economic factors, including
governmental action to fix or support the value of a currency, regardless of other market forces. If the
rate of issuance of exchange rate instruments (such as warrants, securities or options relating to
particular currencies or currency indices) increases, the value of Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked
Notes in the secondary market will decline. Holders of Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes risk
losing some or all of their investment if exchange rates of the relevant FX Rate (or basket of FX Rates)
do not move in the direction they had anticipated. Additionally, if Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked
Notes are settled in a currency other than the Noteholder's home currency, the negative effects of
exchange rate fluctuations will be greater (see also "Exchange control risks" above). The terms and
conditions relevant to Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes are set out in "Annex 9 — Additional
Terms and Conditions for Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes".

The occurrence of a Disruption Event relating to Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes may have
an adverse impact on Holders

A Disruption Event will occur in respect of the base currency or any subject currency if (unless otherwise
stated in the applicable Final Terms) (i) there is a disruption to the source of the exchange rate, (ii) it is
not possible to obtain firm quotes for such currency, (iii) the currency is split into more than one currency
exchange rate, or (iv) circumstances similar to (i), (ii) or (iii) arise (all as more fully described in Foreign
Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes Condition 2 (Consequences of a Disruption Event)). Upon the
occurrence of a Disruption Event in respect of a date for valuation, the following consequences may
apply:
(a) the Calculation Agent may postpone the relevant date for valuation until the Disruption Event is
no longer subsisting, up to a maximum number of days specified in the applicable Final Terms
(or if not specified five Scheduled Trading Days), following which the Calculation Agent may
determine a level for the subject currency as of the last such Scheduled Trading Day;

(b)  the Issuer may early redeem the Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes in full at the Early
Redemption Amount (as defined in "Investment Considerations — Description of Early
Redemption Amounts" below);
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(c)  the Calculation Agent may postpone any payment date until a Disruption Event is no longer
subsisting.

Any such adjustment or early redemption of the Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes may have
an adverse effect on the value and liquidity of such Notes and accordingly the amount Holders can
expect to receive on their investment.

Additional risks associated with Fund Linked Notes (other than where the Fund is a Euro Fund)

The value of underlying fund shares or units or the level of an underlying fund index in respect of Fund
Linked Notes will be affected by the investment strategy of the relevant fund. The investment strategy
is often opaque and may not be publicly available. In addition, funds are often illiquid and/or
unregulated. If the investment strategy does not perform as expected, there are limited methods by
which direct investments in fund shares or units can be exited. The value of the fund shares or units or
the level of a fund index is also exposed to the performance of various fund service providers, in
particular, the investment adviser. Taking these circumstances into account, compared to other types
of investment, there is a greater risk associated with an investment in Fund Linked Notes that the value
of the Notes may be adversely affected (and could fall to zero) and the return Noteholders can expect
may be less (and could be significantly less) than expected. The terms and conditions relevant to Fund
Linked Notes are set out in "Annex 6 — Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes".

The occurrence of an Extraordinary Fund Event may have an adverse impact on Noteholders

Unless the Fund is a Euro Fund, if an Extraordinary Fund Event will occur as a result of events including
(a) a merger of the Fund or Fund Service Provider another entity, an entity obtaining a controlling stake
in the Fund or Fund Service Provider or the insolvency of the Fund or any Fund Service Provider (Global
Events), (b) material litigation or allegations of criminal or fraudulent activity in respect of the Fund or
Fund Service Provider (Litigation/Fraudulent Activity Events), (c) the Fund Service Provider or its key
personnel ceasing to act and not being replaced (Fund Service Provider/Key Person Events), (d) a
material change to the Fund or the Fund Documents (Modification Events), (e) a change to or
suspension of the calculation of the NAV per Fund Share or a breach of the AUM Level, NAV Trigger
Percentage or Volatility Trigger Percentage (NAV per Fund Share/AUM Level Events), (f) the failure of
the Fund or the Fund Service Provider to provide required information (Reporting Events), (g) a change
in tax law, revocation of any required licence or compulsory redemption of the fund shares required by
a competent authority (Tax/Law/Accounting/Regulatory Events), (h) an issue affecting the hedging
associated with the Fund Linked Notes (Hedging/Impracticality/Increased Costs Events), (i) a restriction
or limitation on subscriptions or redemptions of any fund shares (Dealing Events) and (j) other events
such as an Extraordinary Fund Event affecting a portion of the basket or Fund Index components, an
issue with any rebate agreements, segregation of Fund portfolios, security granted by the Fund or any
Fund Service Provider or a rating downgrade (Miscellaneous Events) (all as further described in Fund
Linked Condition 2 (Extraordinary Fund Events)). If an Extraordinary Fund Event occurs, the Issuer
may, (i) require the Calculation Agent to adjust the terms of the Fund Linked Notes to reflect such event,
(i) substitute the relevant Fund Shares, or (iii) early redeem the Fund Linked Notes at the Early
Redemption Amount (as defined in "Investment Considerations — Description of Early Redemption
Amounts" below). Consequently, the occurrence of an Extraordinary Fund Event may have an adverse
effect on the value or liquidity of the Notes and the amount Noteholders can expect to receive on their
investment.

The occurrence of a Fund Index Adjustment Event may have an adverse impact on Holders

If the Fund Linked Notes reference a fund index, a Fund Index Adjustment Event will occur following a
modification to the methodology of the fund index (a Fund Index Modification), a permanent cancellation
of the fund index (a Fund Index Cancellation) or if the fund index sponsor fails to calculate or publish
the level of the fund index on a relevant date for valuation (a Fund Index Disruption) (as further
described in Fund Linked Notes Condition 6 (Fund Index Adjustment Event)). Upon the occurrence of
a Fund Index Adjustment Event, (i) the Calculation Agent may determine whether to (x) determine the
level of the fund index itself, or (y) replace the fund index, (ii) the Calculation Agent may determine such
other appropriate adjustments to be made to the terms of the Notes to account for the Fund Index
Adjustment Event, or (iii) the Issuer may early redeem the Fund Linked Notes at the Early Redemption
Amount (as defined in "Investment Considerations — Description of Early Redemption Amounts" below).
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Consequently, the occurrence of a Fund Index Adjustment Event may have an adverse effect on the
value or liquidity of the Notes and the amount Holders can expect to receive on their investment.

Date for redemption may be postponed if Hedge Provider does not receive redemption proceeds from
Fund Shares

In the event that redemption proceeds in respect of the underlying Fund Shares are not received by the
Hedge Provider on or prior to the scheduled date for redemption, for example, if redemption is delayed
or suspended by the Fund, the Maturity Date of the Fund Linked Notes (other than where the Fund is a
Euro Fund) may be postponed for a period of up to two calendar years (or such other period as may be
specified in the applicable Final Terms) in accordance with Fund Linked Condition 5 (Interest Payment
Date/Redemption/Termination Date Extension) and no additional amount shall be payable as a result
of such delay. Such delay could have a significant adverse impact on the amount that the Noteholder
would have otherwise received had such date for redemption not been postponed.

Prospective purchasers should conduct their own investigation of the Euro Fund as if they were a
policyholder

In the case of Fund Linked Notes where the Fund is a Euro Fund, to the extent that any amounts
payable under the Notes depend on the Gross Rate of Return of the Euro Fund, prospective purchasers
should conduct their own investigations concerning the Euro Fund and the Insurance Company as if
they were a policyholder in the Euro Fund. In particular, prospective purchasers should take into
account that the Gross Rate of Return of the Euro Fund, which is determined by the Insurance Company
based on the return the Insurance Company achieves on its general assets may be different from the
provisional rate of return published by the Insurance Company in respect of the Euro Fund and may be
zero. The issuance by the Issuer of any Notes referencing a Euro Fund does not constitute any form of
recommendation by the Issuer to invest in the Euro Fund.

The occurrence of an Extraordinary Euro Fund Event may have an adverse impact on Noteholders

If, in respect of Fund Linked Notes, where the Fund is a Euro Fund, an Extraordinary Euro Fund Event
will occur as a result of events including (a) the application of the gross rate of return of the Euro Fund
in a manner that is different to that which is described in the contractual policy documents of the Euro
Fund, (b) redemption by the insurance company of a policyholder's investment in the Euro Fund or
cancellation of the Euro Fund, (c) a material modification of the Euro Fund, (d) a merger of the insurance
company with another entity (or similar event) or the sale, transfer, segregation or desegregation of the
assets of the insurance company which affects the gross rate of return of the Euro Fund, (d) the
insolvency of the insurance company, (e) any litigation against the insurance company that could
materially affect the gross rate of return of the Euro Fund, (f) a change in tax law, revocation of any
required licence or compulsory redemption of policyholders' investments in a Euro Fund required by a
competent authority or (g) the failure of the insurance company to provide required information (as
further described in Fund Linked Condition 9 (Extraordinary Euro Fund Events)). If an Extraordinary
Euro Fund Event occurs, the Issuer may (i) require the Calculation Agent to adjust the terms of the
Fund Linked Notes to reflect such event, (ii) substitute the relevant Euro Fund, or (iii) early redeem the
Fund Linked Notes at the Early Redemption Amount (as defined in "Investment Considerations —
Description of Early Redemption Amounts" below) (all as further described in Fund Linked Condition 10
(Consequences of an Extraordinary Euro Fund Event)). Consequently, the occurrence of an
Extraordinary Euro Fund Event may have an adverse effect on the value or liquidity of the Notes and
the amount Holders can expect to receive on their investment.

Additional risks relating to Credit Linked Notes

The risk factors set out below relate to Credit Linked Notes, which are subject to the provisions set out
in "Annex 7 — Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes".

(a) General risks relating to Credit Linked Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes ("Credit Linked Notes") where the amount payable is dependent upon
whether certain events ("Credit Events") have occurred in respect of one or more Reference Entities
and, if so, on the value of certain specified obligations of such Reference Entity/Entities. Credit Linked
Notes are Notes in respect of which the Issuer has effectively bought credit protection in relation to one
or more obligations issued by Reference Entities from the Noteholders. Payments to be made to holders
of such Notes or (in the case of Credit Linked Notes that provide for physical delivery) the Issuer's
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obligation to deliver certain specified obligations, will depend on the occurrence of a Credit Event with
respect to such Reference Entities.

Accordingly, the holders of Credit Linked Notes will be exposed to the credit risk of one or more
Reference Entities (being, in general terms, the risk that a given entity does not perform its financial
obligations when due or becomes insolvent), which exposure may be to the full extent of their
investment in such Credit Linked Notes. Upon the occurrence of any of the events comprising a Credit
Event with respect to any Reference Entity, the Noteholders may suffer significant losses. Credit Events
may also occur in the absence of a default, for example, as a result of a restructuring of indebtedness
or the implementation of resolution or recovery proceedings with respect to a Reference Entity. Holders
should also note that a Credit Event may occur even if the obligations of a Reference Entity are
unenforceable or their performance is prohibited by any applicable law or exchange controls. Certain
Credit Events may occur even in the absence of a deterioration in the financial condition or
creditworthiness of a Reference Entity.

Where Cash Settlement or Auction Settlement applies, the occurrence of a Credit Event in relation to
any Reference Entity from time to time may result in a redemption of the Credit Linked Notes at a
reduced redemption amount or at zero, and, (if applicable) in a reduction of the amount on which interest
is calculated, which reduction may be to zero. Where Physical Settlement applies in respect of a Credit
Linked Note, the occurrence of a Credit Event may result in the redemption of the Credit Linked Notes
by delivery (or, in certain circumstances, valuation) of certain direct or indirect obligations of the affected
Reference Entity, which obligations are likely to have a market value which is substantially less than
their par amount.

Accordingly, investors in Credit Linked Notes are exposed, in respect of both principal and (if applicable)
interest, to the credit risk of the Reference Entity or Reference Entities. The maximum loss an investor
in Credit Linked Notes may sustain is 100 per cent. of their initial investment, together with (if applicable)
any interest amounts.

(b) Correlated Credit Risks

In purchasing Credit Linked Notes, investors assume credit exposure to both the specified Reference
Entity or Reference Entities and the Issuer of the Credit Linked Notes. The credit risk to investors may
further be increased if the specified Reference Entity or Reference Entities are concentrated in the same
industry sector or geographic area as the Issuer. In the case of Credit Linked Notes linked to more than
one Reference Entity, the risks of default of such Reference Entities may be highly correlated.

(c) A Credit Event may occur prior to the Trade Date

Holders of Credit Linked Notes may suffer a loss of some or all of the redemption amount and any
interest amount applicable to the Credit Linked Notes in respect of one or more Credit Events that occur
prior to the Trade Date or the Issue Date, if the Credit Event Backstop Date is specified as a date falling
prior to such date. Neither the Calculation Agent or the Issuer nor any of their respective Affiliates has
any responsibility to inform any Noteholder, or avoid or mitigate the effects of a Credit Event that has
taken place prior to the Trade Date or the Issue Date.

(d) Increased credit risks associated with Nth-to-Default Credit Linked Notes

Where the Notes are Nth-to-Default Credit Linked Notes, the Notes will be subject to redemption in full
as described above upon the occurrence of a Credit Event in relation to the nth Reference Entity. The
credit risk to Noteholders may therefore be increased as a result of the concentration of Reference
Entities in a particular industry sector or geographic area or the exposure of the Reference Entities to
similar financial or other risks.

(e) Additional credit risks associated with Basket Credit Linked Notes

Where the Credit Linked Notes are Basket Credit Linked Notes and a Distribution End Date is specified
in the Final Terms, the Final Terms shall specify whether "Distribution Period Redemption”,
"Redemption at Maturity" or "Distribution Period Event Determination Date Disapplication” applies. If
"Distribution Period Redemption" applies and an Event Determination Date occurs on or prior to the
Distribution End Date, holders of such Credit Linked Notes will suffer a loss of interest and the Credit
Linked Notes will be redeemed, in part, early. In the case of such partial early redemption, holders may
not be able to reinvest in a similar product offering a corresponding rate of return.
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The credit risk to holders of Basket Credit Linked Notes may be increased as a result of the
concentration of Reference Entities in a particular industry sector or geographic area or the exposure
of the Reference Entities to similar financial or other risks.

() Increased risks associated with Tranched Credit Linked Notes

Tranched Credit Linked Notes create leveraged exposure to the credit risk of the Reference Entities as
the implicit portfolio size or size of the aggregate notional amount of the Reference Portfolio is
significantly larger than the aggregate nominal amount of the Credit Linked Notes. Investors can lose a
significant part or all of their investment even if a Credit Event occurs in respect of only one or a few of
the Reference Entities comprising the Reference Portfolio. The value of the Tranched Credit Linked
Notes may be more volatile and credit losses experienced by a Noteholder in respect of the Tranched
Credit Linked Notes may be greater than would be the case in the absence of such leverage.

The value of the Tranched Credit Linked Notes may also be adversely affected by changes in the
relative value of different tranches of credit risk on the Reference Portfolio, which will vary based on,
inter alia, the views and assumptions of market participants and the supply of and demand for credit
protection in relation to each such tranche.

(9) Actions of Reference Entities may affect the value of the Credit Linked Notes

Actions of Reference Entities (for example, merger or demerger or the repayment or transfer of
indebtedness) may adversely affect the value of the Credit Linked Notes. Holders of the Credit Linked
Notes should note that the Reference Entities to which the value of the Credit Linked Notes is exposed,
and the terms of such exposure, may change over the term of the Credit Linked Notes. Where a
successor Reference Entity is identified, the risks associated with such successor may be greater than
the risks associated with the original Reference Entity, resulting in an increased likelihood that a Credit
Event will occur and accordingly, an increased risk that Noteholders may lose some or all of their
investment.

(h) Suspension of Obligations will suspend payment of principal and interest

In certain circumstances (for example, where a Credit Event has occurred and the related credit loss
has not been determined as at the relevant date for payment, or, if applicable, where a potential Credit
Event exists as at the scheduled maturity of the Credit Linked Notes), Noteholders may be adversely
affected where payment of the redemption amount and/or interest on the Credit Linked Notes is deferred
for a material period in whole or part without compensation to the holders of the Credit Linked Notes.

(i) Use of Auction Settlement may adversely affect returns to Noteholders

Where Credit Linked Notes are redeemed or settled by reference to a market auction process, the
losses determined pursuant to such market auction process may be greater than the losses which would
have been determined had an alternative settlement method been used. In particular, the auction
process may be affected by technical factors or operational errors which would not otherwise apply or
may be the subject of actual or attempted manipulation. Where this is the case, holders of Credit Linked
Notes may receive a lower amount on redemption or settlement of their Credit Linked Notes than would
otherwise be the case.

() Use of Cash Settlement may adversely affect returns to Noteholders

If the Credit Linked Notes are cash settled, then, following the occurrence of a Credit Event, the
Calculation Agent will be required to seek quotations in respect of selected obligations of the affected
Reference Entity. Quotations obtained will be "bid-side" - that is, they will be reduced to take account
of a bid-offer spread charged by the relevant dealer. Such quotations may not be available, or the level
of such quotations may be substantially reduced or may vary substantially as a result of illiquidity in the
relevant markets or as a result of factors other than the credit risk of the affected Reference Entity (for
example, liquidity constraints affecting market dealers). Accordingly, any quotations so obtained may
be significantly lower than the value of the relevant obligation which would be determined by reference
to (for example) the present value of related cashflows. Quotations will be deemed to be zero in the
event that no such quotations are available. Accordingly, holders may receive a lower amount on
redemption or settlement of their Credit Linked Notes than would otherwise be the case. In relation to
the risks applicable to physical settlement, investors should also note the section entitled "Risks
associated with Physical Delivery Notes" above.
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(k) "Cheapest-to-Deliver" risk

Since the Issuer, as buyer of protection in respect of the Credit Linked Notes has discretion to choose
the portfolio of obligations and/or assets to be valued or delivered following a Credit Event in respect of
a Reference Entity, it is likely that the portfolio of obligations and/or assets selected will be obligations
of the Reference Entity and/or assets with the lowest market value that are permitted to be selected
pursuant to the terms of the Credit Linked Notes. This could result in a lower recovery value and hence
greater losses for investors in the Credit Linked Notes.

U] Risks Related to Market Returns

The views of market participants and/or legal counsel may differ as to how the terms of market standard
credit default swaps, and the corresponding terms of the Credit Linked Notes, should be interpreted, or
such terms may operate in a manner contrary to the expectations of market participants and/or
adversely to the interests of holders of the Credit Linked Notes. The market value or return on the Credit
Linked Notes may therefore be less than an investor expects to receive at the point at which they
purchase the Credit Linked Notes.

(m) Asset Package Delivery risks

In certain circumstances where (a) "Financial Reference Entity Terms" and "Governmental Intervention”
applies in respect of a Reference Entity and (i) there is a Governmental Intervention Credit Event; or (ii)
a Restructuring Credit Event in respect of the Reference Obligation where such Restructuring does not
constitute a Governmental Intervention or (b) a Restructuring Credit Event in respect of a Sovereign,
then a related asset package resulting from a prior deliverable obligation (where "Financial Reference
Entity Terms" apply) or package observable bond (where the Reference Entity is a sovereign) may be
deliverable.

If the resulting asset package is deemed to be zero where there are no resulting assets, the negative
impact on Noteholders could be a related credit loss borne by Noteholders of 100 per cent. of their
investment notwithstanding the recovery value on any other obligations of the Reference Entity.

If an asset in the asset package is a non-transferable instrument or non-financial instrument, the value
of such asset will be the market value determined by reference to a specialist valuation or in accordance
with methodology determined by the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees, which valuation
may result in losses to be borne by Noteholders which may be greater than the losses which would
have been determined in the absence of such valuation methodology being used. Accordingly,
Noteholders may receive a lower amount on redemption or settlement of their Credit Linked Notes than
would otherwise be the case if an alternative settlement method were used.

(n) Increased risks of Zero Recovery Credit Linked Notes or where a specified Final Price is
applicable

Where the Credit Linked Notes are Zero Recovery Credit Linked Notes, if a Credit Event occurs in
respect of a Reference Entity, investors will automatically lose an amount in principal or notional amount
of the Credit Linked Note equal to the portion of the Credit Linked Note which is allocated to the credit
risk of the affected Reference Entity, regardless of any recoveries on any obligations of the Reference
Entity which would have been determined in the absence of the "Zero Recovery" feature. Likewise, if
the Final Price is specified in the Final Terms in relation to Credit Linked Notes, such fixed Final Price
may be lower (and may be significantly lower) than the recovery which an investor in bonds or
instruments issued by such Reference Entity would receive.

(0) Risks Associated with Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees

The institutions of the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee owe no duty to the Noteholders
and have the ability to make determinations that may have a material adverse effect on the Noteholders,
such as the occurrence of a Credit Event or a Succession Event. A Credit Derivatives Determinations
Committee may be able to make determinations without action or knowledge of the Noteholders.

The powers of the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee may be expanded or modified as a
result of amendments to the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees Rules. Noteholders may
have no role in the composition of any Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee and may have no
recourse against either the institutions serving on a Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee or the
external reviewers.
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(p) The Calculation Agent may modify the terms of the Credit Linked Notes

The Calculation Agent may, following its determination that there has been a change in the prevailing
market standard terms or market trading conventions that affects any hedging transaction, modify the
terms of the Credit Linked Notes to the extent reasonably necessary to ensure consistency with the
prevailing market standard terms or market trading conventions, without the consent of Noteholders or
prior notice to Noteholders. The Calculation Agent is not obliged to make any such modifications. If
the Calculation Agent modifies the terms of the Credit Linked Notes, it will do so without regard to the
interests of the holders of the Credit Linked Notes and any such modification may be prejudicial to the
interests of the holder of the Credit Linked Notes in that such a modification may adversely affect the
market value of the Credit Linked Notes or the amount which a Noteholder would be entitled to receive
on redemption or settlement of the Credit Linked Notes.
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INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS
1. General investment considerations associated with the Notes
The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor of the Notes must make its own determination of the suitability of any such
investment, with particular reference to its own investment objectives and experience, and any other
factors which may be relevant to it in connection with such investment, either alone or with the help of
a financial adviser. In particular, each potential investor should:

(a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation and the investment(s) it is considering, an investment in the Notes
and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes;

(d) understand thoroughly the Conditions of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of
financial markets and of any financial variable which might have an impact on the return on the
Notes; and

(e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for

economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear
the applicable risks.

Prospective purchasers should also consult their own tax advisers as to the tax consequences of the
purchase, ownership and disposition of Notes.

Waiver of set-off

Prospective purchasers should note that holders of Notes, Receipts or Coupons waive any right of set-
off, compensation and retention in relation to such Notes, insofar as permitted by applicable law.

Description of Early Redemption Amounts

The manner in which the amount due to Noteholders on an early redemption of the Notes is determined
may depend on the event that has triggered an early redemption of the Notes and the early redemption
method specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Notes will be redeemed at an amount calculated
by reference to:

(a) if "Final Redemption Amount" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Final Redemption
Amount thereof;

(b) if "Calculation Amount Percentage” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation
Amount multiplied by the Calculation Amount Percentage specified in the applicable Final
Terms;

(c) if "Market Value less Costs" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the fair market value of

such Notes less associated costs;

(d) if "Max of Calculation Amount Percentage and Market Value les Costs", is specified in the
applicable Final Terms, the greater of the Calculation Amount multiplied by the Calculation
Percentage specified in the applicable Final Terms and the fair market value of such Notes less
associated costs;

(e) if "Max of Amortised Face Amount and Market Value less Costs", is specified in the applicable
Final Terms, the greater of the fair market value of such Notes less associated costs and the
Amortised Face Amount, in each case, multiplied by the Early Redemption Percentage
specified in the applicable Final Terms; or

() if "Amortised Face Amount” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, an amount equal to the
sum of (X) the Reference Price specified in the applicable Final Terms; and (Y) the product of
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the Accrual Yield specified in the applicable Final Terms (compounded annually) being applied
to the Reference Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date fixed for
redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and
repayable,

each an "Early Redemption Amount".

Any determination of the fair market value of the Notes will take into account the event or circumstances
that triggered the early redemption. The Final Terms may specify that any costs incurred by the Issuer
(or its affiliates) as a result of unwinding any hedging arrangements associated with the Notes may not
be taken into account when determining the amount payable on early redemption.

If the Notes are early redeemed in part, the amount calculated as payable on such early redemption
will take into account that only a portion of the outstanding Notes are being early redeemed.

A Noteholder's actual yield on the Notes may be reduced from the stated yield by transaction costs

When Notes are purchased or sold, several types of incidental costs (including transaction fees and
commissions) are incurred in addition to the current price of the security. These incidental costs may
significantly reduce or even exclude the profit potential of the Notes. For instance, credit institutions as
a rule charge their clients for own commissions which are either fixed minimum commissions or pro-
rata commissions depending on the order value. To the extent that additional — domestic or foreign —
parties are involved in the execution of an order, including but not limited to domestic dealers or brokers
in foreign markets, Noteholders must take into account that they may also be charged for the brokerage
fees, commissions and other fees and expenses of such parties (third party costs).

In addition to such costs directly related to the purchase of securities (direct costs), Noteholders must
also take into account any follow-up costs (such as custody fees). Prospective purchasers should inform
themselves about any additional costs incurred in connection with the purchase, custody or sale of the
Notes before investing in the Notes.

A Noteholder's effective yield on the Notes may be diminished by the tax impact on that Noteholder of
its investment in the Notes

Payments of interest on the Notes, or profits realised by the Noteholder upon the sale or repayment of
the Notes, may be subject to taxation in its home jurisdiction or in other jurisdictions in which it is
required to pay taxes. The tax impact on an individual Noteholder in respect of any Notes may differ
also in respect of Underlying Reference Linked Notes. BNPP advises all investors to contact their own
tax advisors for advice on the tax impact of an investment in the Notes.

Description of the role of the Calculation Agent where a Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of
Notes

() The Calculation Agent may be an Affiliate of the Issuer, or the Calculation Agent may be the
Issuer itself. The Calculation Agent is under no obligation to take into account the interests of
Noteholders, including (in the case of Underlying Reference Linked Notes) with respect to
making certain determinations and judgments, such as whether an event, including a Market
Disruption Event, a Settlement Disruption Event or Credit Event (each, as defined in the
Conditions), has occurred and, in some cases, the applicable consequences.

(i) The Calculation Agent is obliged to carry out its duties and functions as calculation agent acting
in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.

Prospective purchasers should also refer to "Potential conflicts of interest" in the "Risks" section.
Certain specific information may not be known at the beginning of an offer period

In certain circumstances, at the commencement of an offer period in respect of Notes, but prior to the
issue date of such Notes certain specific information (specifically, the issue price, fixed rate of interest,
minimum and/or maximum rate of interest payable, the margin applied to the floating rate of interest
payable, the Gearing applied to the interest or final payout, the Gearing Up applied to the final payout,
(in the case of Autocall Notes, Autocall One Touch Notes or Autocall Standard Notes) the FR Rate
component of the final payout (which will be payable if certain conditions are met, as set out in the
Payout Conditions), (in the case of Notes which include a Snowball Digital Coupon, Digital Coupon,
Accrual Digital Coupon, SPS Variable Amount Coupon or SPS Fixed Coupon) the Rate component of
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the coupon rate, the value of the barrier component of a final payout or coupon rate, the AER Exit Rate
used if an Automatic Early Redemption Event occurs, the Bonus Coupon component of the final payout
(in the case of Vanilla Digital Notes), the Up Cap Percentage component of the final payout (in the case
of Certi-Plus: Generic Notes, Certi-Plus: Generic Knock-in Notes and Certi-Plus: Generic Knock-out
Notes), any Constant Percentage (being any of Constant Percentage, Constant Percentage 1, Constant
Percentage 2, Constant Percentage 3 or Constant Percentage 4) component of the final payout or
coupon rate (which will be payable if certain conditions are met, as set out in the Payout Conditions),
the Floor Percentage component of the final payout or coupon rate and/or the Knock-in Level and/or
Knock-out Level (used to ascertain whether a Knock-in Event or Knock-out Event, as applicable, has
occurred)) may not be known. In these circumstances the Final Terms will specify in place of the
relevant price, rate, level or percentage, as applicable, a minimum and/or maximum price, rate, level or
percentage, as applicable, or an indicative range of prices, rates, levels or percentages. The actual
price, rate, level or percentage, as applicable, applicable to the Notes will be selected by the Issuer
from within the range or will not be higher than the maximum price, rate, level or percentage, and/or will
not be lower than the minimum price, rate, level or percentage, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms and will be notified to investors prior to the Issue Date. The actual price, rate, level or percentage,
as applicable, will be determined in accordance with market conditions by the Issuer in good faith and
in a commercially reasonable manner.

Recognition of English court judgments following the Brexit implementation period

As a result of leaving the European Union (the "EU"), the United Kingdom (the "UK") is no longer bound
by the provisions of Regulation (EU) No 1215/2012 (the "Brussels Recast"), a formal reciprocal regime
between EU Member States on the allocation of jurisdiction and the mutual recognition and enforcement
of Member State judgments. It is also no longer a member of another convention on the allocation of
jurisdiction and the mutual enforcement of judgments, the Lugano Convention 2007 (the "Lugano
Convention"). The EU, Switzerland, Iceland and Norway are members of the Lugano Convention. As
a result, the Brussels Recast and the Lugano Convention regimes are no longer applied by English
courts, save in relation to legacy cases. As a further consequence, English judgments are no longer
recognised and enforced in the courts of Member States/Norway, Iceland and Switzerland under these
regimes, again, save for legacy cases (Norway has put in place arrangements with the UK for the
reciprocal enforcement of judgments).

The UK has applied to re-join the Lugano Convention. As of the date of this Base Prospectus, this
application remains pending (although the Commission has indicated that it does not agree with the
UK’s readmission).

On 1 January 2021, the UK re-joined the Hague Convention on Choice of Court Agreements 2005
("Hague 2005"). The UK was previously a party to this convention by virtue of the EU being a contracting
state Hague 2005 is an international convention on the jurisdiction and the reciprocal enforcement of
contracting state judgments. Hague 2005 requires contracting states to respect exclusive jurisdiction
clauses in favour of other contracting state courts and to enforce resulting judgments. The UK, EU,
Denmark, Mexico, Montenegro and Singapore are contracting states. Under Hague 2005,

English judgments issued by an English court pursuant to an exclusive jurisdiction clause entered into
after 1 January 2021 can be recognised and enforced in EU states (and Mexico, Montenegro and
Singapore), subject to standard exceptions. It is generally considered that Hague 2005 only covers
exclusive jurisdiction clauses and resulting judgments.

Where English judgments are not within the scope of Hague 2005, it will be necessary to consider the
applicable national law rules on jurisdiction and enforcement.

In 2022, the EU ratified another convention dealing with the cross border enforcement of judgments,
the 2019 Hague Convention on Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments ("Hague 2019"). In
December 2022, the UK Government launched a consultation on the UK joining Hague 2019. If the UK
does join Hague 2019 (and it is currently expected that it will), this will provide a mechanism for the
enforcement of a wide range of English judgments in the EU (and other contracting states). Currently
Hague 2019 has only been ratified by the EU and Ukraine. Although there are subject matter exclusions,
Hague 2019 covers a much wider range of judgments than Hague 2005 and importantly for investors,
would cover judgments issued pursuant to asymmetric jurisdiction clauses.
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Assuming the UK does accede to Hague 2019, there would be a time lag in its application. Hague 2019
would only apply to judgments where the convention was in force in both the state of origin and the
state of enforcement when the proceedings leading to the judgment were initiated. Moreover, under
the terms of Hague 2019, once a country ratifies the convention, there is a 12 month period before it is
deemed to come into force in relation to that country.

Ratings downgrades could occur as a result of, among other causes, changes in the ratings
methodologies used by credit rating agencies. Changes in credit rating agencies' views of the level of
implicit sovereign support for European banks and their groups are likely to lead to ratings downgrades.

If credit rating agencies perceive there to be adverse changes in the factors affecting the Issuer's credit
rating, including by virtue of change to applicable ratings methodologies, the credit rating agencies may
downgrade, suspend or withdraw the ratings assigned to the Issuer and/or its securities. Such revisions
to ratings methodologies and actions on the Issuer's ratings by the credit rating agencies may occur in
the future.

The credit rating assigned to the Notes may be reduced or withdrawn

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to
suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time. In particular, such suspension, reduction or withdrawal
may result from a change in the rating methodology of the assigning rating agency.

Notes cleared through CMU

The Issuer's obligation to make any payments under Notes cleared through CMU will be discharged
upon payment to the CMU Paying Agent, and no claims may be brought directly against the Issuer in
respect of amounts so paid.

So long as any Note is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of the CMU, each person for whose
account interest in the Global Note is credited as being held in the CMU, as notified by the CMU to the
CMU Lodging Agent in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report, will be the only person entitled to
receive payments on the Notes represented by the Global Note. Such person(s) must look solely to the
CMU Paying Agent for his share of each payment made by the Issuer in respect of the Global Note,
and in relation to all other rights arising under the Global Note, subject to and in accordance with the
respective rules and procedures of the CMU. The Issuer will be discharged by payment to the CMU
Paying Agent, and such person(s) shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments
due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are represented by the Global Note in respect of each amount
so paid. Investors are exposed to the creditworthiness of the CMU Paying Agent and may suffer a loss
in their investment if the CMU Paying Agent delays in making or fails to make the relevant payment to
the aforesaid person(s) upon receiving the relevant payment from the Issuer.

Since the CMU operator can act only on behalf of the CMU participants, who in turn may act on behalf
of persons who hold interests through them, the ability of persons having interests in the Global Note
to pledge such interests to persons or entities that are not CMU participants, or otherwise take action
in respect of such interests, may be affected by the lack of definitive Notes. Any payments by CMU
participants to indirect participants will be governed by arrangements between the CMU participants
and such indirect participants.

Payments, transfers, exchanges and other matters relating to interests in the Global Notes may be
subject to various policies and procedures adopted by the CMU operator from time to time. None of the
Issuer, the Dealer, the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, the CMU Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging
Agent, the Exchange Agent, the Transfer Agent, the other Agents, nor any of their agents, will have any
responsibility or liability for any aspect of the CMU operator's records relating to, or for payments made
on account of, interests in the Global Note, or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records
relating to such interests.

The CMU operator is under no obligation to maintain or continue to operate the CMU and/or to perform
or continue to perform the procedures described above. Accordingly, the CMU and such procedures
may be discontinued or modified at any time. None of the Issuer, the Dealer, the Principal Paying Agent,
the Registrar, the CMU Paying Agent, the CMU Lodging Agent, the Transfer Agent, the other Agents
nor any of their agents will have any responsibility for the performance by the CMU operator or the CMU
participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.
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2. Investment considerations associated with banking regulations and resolution
measures

Main Banking Regulations
Legislative Framework

In France, credit institutions such as BNP Paribas must comply with the norms of financial management
set by the Minister of Economy, the purpose of which is to ensure the creditworthiness and liquidity of
French credit institutions. These banking regulations are mainly derived from EU directives and
regulations. Banking regulations implementing the Basel Il reforms were adopted on 26 June 2013,
and subsequently revised following legislative proposals issued by the European Commission on 23
November 2016 (the "EU Banking Package") consisting of Directive 2013/36/EU of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the
prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, as amended from time to time including
by Directive (EU) 2019/878 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 (the "CRD")
and Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on
prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms, as amended from time to time
including by Regulation (EU) 2019/876 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019
and Regulation (EU) 2020/873 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 June 2020
amending Regulations (EU) No 575/2013 and (EU) 2019/876 as regards certain adjustments in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic (the "CRR"). Furthermore, Directive 2014/59/EU of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution
of credit institutions and investment firms, as amended from time to time including by Directive (EU)
2019/879 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 as part of the EU Banking
Package (the "BRRD") and Regulation (EU) 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council
of 15 July 2014 establishing uniform rules and a uniform procedure for the resolution of credit institutions
and certain investment firms in the framework of a Single Resolution Mechanism and a Single
Resolution Fund and amending Regulation (EU) 1093/2010, as amended from time to time including
by Regulation (EU) 2019/877 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 as part of
the EU Banking Package (the "SRMR"), aim at addressing banking crises in a manner that ensures that
losses are borne primarily by shareholders and creditors rather than taxpayers while minimizing effects
on financial stability, and entrusts resolution authorities with certain recovery and resolution powers to
this effect. The SRMR provides for the establishment of a single resolution board (the "Single
Resolution Board") and a single resolution fund (the "Single Resolution Fund") funded through
contributions made by the banking industry.

The amended versions of the CRD and of the BRRD were required to be implemented into national law
by December 2020. The amended version of the CRR has taken effect as from June 2021, with the
exception of certain provisions that had already entered into effect or that will take effect through 2025.
The amended version of the SRMR took effect as from 28 December 2020.

The European Commission presented on 27 October 2021 a legislative package to finalize the
implementation of the Basel Il standards within the European Union amending the above-mentioned
banking regulations (see “—Capital requirements” below). On 18 April 2023, the European Commission
presented a legislative package to adjust and further strengthen the EU’s existing bank crises
management and deposit insurance (“CMDI”) framework by amending the BRRD, the SRMR and the
Deposit Guarantee Scheme Directive (‘“DGSD”). The legislative package will now be discussed by the
European Parliament and the Council. If implemented as proposed, senior preferred obligations (such
as Senior Preferred Notes) will no longer rank pari passu with any deposits of the Issuer. As such, there
could be an increased risk of an investor in senior preferred obligations (such as Senior Preferred Notes)
losing all or some of its investment. This proposal will be discussed and amended by the European
Parliament and the European Council before any final adoption (whose date is unknown).

As a significant Eurozone institution, BNP Paribas is subject to the supervision of the ECB since
November 2014. As of 1 January 2016, the Single Resolution Board became the competent resolution
authority with respect to significant Eurozone institutions such as BNP Paribas, and is in charge of the
resolution tasks relating to the implementation of BRRD/SRMR.
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Capital requirements

The BNP Paribas Group must comply with minimum capital ratio requirements. In addition to these
requirements, the main regulations applicable to credit institutions such as BNP Paribas concern risk
diversification and liquidity, monetary policy, restrictions on equity investments and reporting
requirements.

French credit institutions are required to maintain minimum capital to cover their credit, market,
counterparty and operational risks. Since 1 January 2015, pursuant to the CRR, credit institutions, such
as BNP Paribas, are required to maintain a minimum total capital ratio of 8%, a minimum Tier 1 capital
ratio of 6% and a minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1”) ratio of 4.5%, each to be obtained by
dividing the institution's relevant eligible regulatory capital by its total risk exposure commonly referred
to as risk-weighted assets (or "RWA"). These requirements form the "Pillar 1" capital requirements or
"P1R".

For this purpose, the “eligible regulatory capital” includes (i) CET1 capital (essentially share capital,
share premium and retained earnings), for purposes of the minimum CET 1 ratio, (ii) CET 1 capital plus
additional tier 1 capital (deeply subordinated instruments meeting certain requirements), for purposes
of the minimum tier 1 capital ratio, and (iii) tier 1 and tier 2 capital (subordinated instruments meeting
certain requirements), for purposes of the minimum total capital ratio. For purposes of calculating
minimum capital ratios, the total risk exposure amount or RWAs includes amounts to take into account
credit risk, market risk, operational risk and certain other risks. RWAs of the various categories are
calculated under either a standardized approach or using internal models approved by the relevant
Banking Authority, or under a combination of the two approaches. See below for more details on the
Basel Il post-crisis regulatory reform.

In addition, credit institutions have to comply with certain CET 1 buffer requirements, including a capital
conservation buffer of 2.5% that is applicable to all institutions, a systemic institution buffer for
institutions designated as global systemically important banks ("G-SIBs") such as BNP Paribas (the "G-
SIB buffer"), as well as an institution-specific buffer to cover countercyclical risks, and a buffer covering
systemic risks (collectively, the "combined buffer requirement”). The systemic risk buffer may be
applied at any time upon decision of the relevant national authorities. The countercyclical capital buffer
is calculated as the weighted average of the countercyclical buffer rates that apply in all countries where
the relevant credit exposures of the Group are located. The weighting applied to the countercyclical
buffer rate of each country corresponds to the fraction, in the total capital requirements, of the capital
requirements corresponding to the credit exposures in the territory in question. For the credit exposures
located in France, in April 2020 the High Council for Financial Stability (Haut Conseil de Stabilité
Financiére, or the "HCSF") lowered the countercyclical buffer rate to 0% in the context of the COVID-
19 pandemic and has since maintained the rate at this level. By a decision of 7 April 2022, the HCSF
decided to raise the countercyclical buffer rate to 0.5% as from 7 April 2023. On 13 December 2022,
considering the persistent financial risks in the medium and long term and consequently the need to
enhance preventive measures to avoid a turnaround in the credit cycle, the HCSF decided to further
raise the countercyclical buffer rate to 1.0% as from 2 January 2024, as announced in its decision of 15
September 2022.

In addition to the "Pillar 1" (“P1R”) capital and buffer requirements, the CRD contemplates that
competent authorities may require additional institutions to maintain additional own funds to cover
elements of risks which are not fully captured by the minimum "own funds" requirements (so-called
"Pillar 2" capital requirements or "P2R"). Under the amended version of the CRD in line with the EBA
guidelines on the revised common procedures and methodologies for the supervisory review and
evaluation process ("SREP") and supervisory stress testing dated 19 July 2018, P2R must be
composed of at least 56% CET1 capital and at least 75% of tier 1 capital, with the remainder in Tier 2
capital. The EBA guidelines were amended on 18 March 2022 to provide for a common equity tier 1
requirement of 56.25% applicable as from 1 January 2023. Pursuant to CRD, both the P1R and the
P2R must be fulfilled before the CET1 capital is allocated to satisfy buffer requirements. However, in
accordance with CRD, credit institutions are allowed to partially use capital instruments that do not
qualify as CET1 capital, for example additional tier 1 or tier 2 instruments, to meet the P2R.

In addition, competent authorities may establish an additional own funds guidance (so-called "Pillar 2
guidance" or "P2G"). While P2G, unlike P2R, is not a legal minimum, banks are expected to follow
guidance in order to deal with forward-looking stress scenarios. Competent authorities should be
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entitled to take supervisory measures and, where appropriate, to impose additional own funds
requirements, if an institution repeatedly fails to meet the capital target.

Competent authorities have wide powers at their disposal in CRD and BRRD to take appropriate
supervisory measures in a range of circumstances, including when institutions breach capital ratios
requirements, including P2R, or fail to meet capital buffer requirements. In particular, if capital
requirements are no longer met, CRD and BRRD ensure that intervention powers are available to
competent authorities (these additional measures may in certain circumstances be taken by competent
authorities pre-emptively prior to a failure to meet minimum requirements). These include: early
intervention measures, and resolution actions. In addition, unlike the capital ratio requirements, failure
to comply with the capital buffer requirements does not result in the potential withdrawal of a credit
institution’s operating authorization. Instead, if the capital buffer requirements are not met, a credit
institution is subject to certain restrictions on the distribution of dividends, the payment of coupons and
other amounts on additional tier 1 instruments, and the payment of certain variable employee
compensation (see "MDA, L-MDA and M-MDA” below).

Following the SREP performed by the ECB for 2022, the CET1 Ratio that the Group has to respect on
a consolidated basis was set at 9.56% as of 1 January 2023, of which 1.5% for the G-SIB buffer, 2.5%
for the conservation buffer, 0.1% for the countercyclical capital buffer, 0.08% of systemic risk buffer,
and 0.88% for the P2R (excluding the P2G). The tier 1 capital requirement is thus set at 11.36% and
the total capital requirement at 13.75%. See “Regulatory Capital Ratios”. Moreover, assessment
methodology for G-SIBs, such as the Issuer, has been reviewed by the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision and a parallel set of G-SIBs scores will be calculated for EBU-headquartered G-SIBs and
used to adjust their bucket allocations. On 18 November 2022, the ACPR notified the Issuer that the
Group has been designated on the 2022 list of G-SIBs in the bucket 2 corresponding to its score based
on end-2021 data, and that, consequently, the requirement of the G-SIB buffer applicable for the Group
remains at 1.5% of the total risk- weighted assets beginning 1 January 2023, unchanged compared to
the level previously applicable.

On 27 October 2021, the European Commission presented a legislative package to finalize the
implementation of the Basel Il standards within the European Union and announced that the new rules
should take effect as from 1 January 2025 to give banks and supervisors additional time to properly
implement the reform in their processes, systems and practices. The legislative package is composed
of a legislative proposal to amend the CRD, a legislative proposal to amend the CRR and a separate
legislative proposal to amend the CRR in the area of resolution, and contains a number of amendments
to existing rules applicable to credit institutions within the European Union, including in particular: (i) the
implementation of the above-mentioned final elements of the Basel Il reforms, (ii) explicit rules on the
management and supervision of environmental, social and governance (ESG) risks and additional
supervisory powers to assess ESG risks as part of regular supervisory reviews (including regular
climate stress testing by both supervisors and credit institutions) and (iii) increased harmonization of
certain supervisory powers and tools. The Council set its position on the proposals in November 2022
and in March 2023 commenced negotiations with the European Parliament to agree on final versions
of the texts.

TLAC and MREL

In coordination with the above-mentioned capital requirements, institutions are required to maintain a
minimum level of own funds and eligible liabilities, calculated as a percentage of their own funds and
total liabilities based on certain criteria, including systemic importance ("MREL").

On 9 November 2015, the Financial Stability Board ("FSB") proposed that G-SIBs (including the BNP
Paribas Group) maintain significant amounts of liabilities that are subordinated (by law, contract or
structurally) to certain priority liabilities, such as guaranteed or insured deposits and derivatives. These
so-called "total loss absorbing capacity" (or "TLAC") requirements are intended to ensure that losses
are absorbed by shareholders and creditors, other than creditors of priority liabilities, rather than being
borne by government support systems. The amended versions of CRR and BRRD give effect to the
FSB TLAC Term Sheet. Under the CRR, G-SIBs including BNP Paribas are required (as from 1 January
2022) to comply with a level of TLAC in an amount at least equal to (i) 18% of the institution’s total risk
exposure amount, and (ii) 6.75% of the institution’s applicable total exposure measure (each of which
may be increased by additional firm-specific requirements or buffer requirements imposed by the
regulator). The TLAC requirements, as implemented in the CRR, apply in addition to capital
requirements applicable to the BNP Paribas Group.
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The BRRD and the SRMR also provide that resolution authorities shall be able, on the basis of bank-
specific assessments, to require that G-SIBs comply with a supplementary institution-specific
requirement, in addition to the TLAC, known as the "MREL add-on", which is to be set in accordance
with Article 45 and seq. of the BRRD and Article 12 of the SRMR as amended from time to time.
Relevant Resolution Authorities may determine an appropriate transitional period to reach the final
MREL add-on. In May 2020, the SRB published its revised MREL policy under the Banking Package,
which clarifies that G-SIBs will be required to comply with a MREL add-on where the TLAC level is not
sufficient to allow, in the context of a resolution, for (i) a full absorption of losses, and (ii) a full
reconstitution of the G-SIB’s own funds restoring compliance with P1R and P2R capital requirements
and the leverage ratio requirement, subject to potential adjustments to, inter alia, meet resolution
objectives and secure market access. The MREL add-on would serve to fill in this gap, thereby aligning
the approach to resolvability of G-SIBs with the existing approach applicable to non-G-SIBs. The SRB
reiterated this approach in the 2022 MREL policy that it published on 8 June 2022.

In addition Article L.613-30-3 of the French Code monétaire et financier allows French credit institutions
to issue “senior non preferred” notes, that are designed to be eligible to count towards TLAC and MREL.
Pursuant to Article L. 613-30-3-1-4° of the French Code monétaire et financier, securities that are "non-
structured" debt securities (as defined in Article R.613-28 of the French Code monétaire et financier),
issued by any French credit institution as from the date of entry into force of the law with a minimum
maturity of one year and whose terms and conditions provide that their ranking is as set forth in
paragraph 4° of Article L.613-30-3, shall rank junior to any other non-subordinated liability but senior to
any subordinated obligations of such credit institution, including any subordinated obligations issued on
or after 28 December 2020 whose principal and interest have been fully excluded from tier 1 or tier 2
capital, in a judicial liquidation proceeding.

Leverage and liquidity

Under the CRR, credit institutions are also required to maintain a leverage ratio. The leverage ratio is
calculated by dividing Tier 1 capital by exposure calculated using the balance sheet assets and off-
balance sheet commitments assessed according to a prudential approach. Derivatives and repurchase
agreements are also adjusted. The amended version of the CRR introduces a leverage ratio
requirement of 3% of Tier 1 capital in addition to the own funds requirements specified in Article 92 of
the CRR, which institutions must meet in addition to the above-mentioned capital requirements. From
28 June 2021, credit institutions will be subject to a minimum leverage ratio requirement of 3%; and,
since 1 January 2023, G-SIBs, such as BNP Paribas, are also subject to a leverage ratio buffer
requirement equal to the G-SIB total exposure measure used to calculate the leverage ratio multiplied
by 50% of the applicable G-SIB buffer rate.

In addition, French credit institutions must satisfy, on a consolidated basis, certain restrictions relating
to concentration of risks (ratio de contréle des grands risques). The aggregate of a French credit
institution's loans and a portion of certain other exposure (risques) to a single customer (and related
entities) may not exceed 25% of the credit institution's regulatory capital as defined by French capital
ratio requirements. Individual exposures exceeding 10% (and in some cases 5%) of the credit
institution's regulatory capital are subject to specific regulatory requirements. Under the amended
version of the CRR, the capital that can be taken into account to calculate the large exposures limit
shall be limited to Tier 1 capital and G-SIBs exposures to other G-SIBs shall be limited to 15% of the
G-SIB's Tier 1 capital.

The CRR introduced liquidity requirements pursuant to which institutions are required to hold liquid
assets, the total value of which would cover the net liquidity outflows that might be experienced under
gravely stressed conditions over a period of thirty (30) calendar days. This requirement is known as the
liquidity coverage ratio ("LCR") and is now fully applicable following a phase-in period. In accordance
with the recommendations of the Basel Committee, the amended version of the CRR introduces a
binding net stable funding ratio ("NSFR") set at a minimum level of 100%, which reflects the requirement
that an institution holds sufficient stable funding to meet its funding needs during a one-year period
under both normal and stressed conditions. This ratio will be applicable as from 28 June 2021.

In accordance with the Basel Ill post-crisis regulatory reform endorsed by the Basel Committee's
oversight body, the Group of Central Bank Governors and Heads of Supervision (the "GHOS") endorsed
a revised standardized approach for credit risk, revisions to the internal ratings-based approach for
credit risk, revisions to the credit valuation adjustment (CVA) framework, a revised standardized
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approach for operational risk; and an aggregate output floor, which will ensure that banks' RWAs
generated by internal models are no lower than 72.5% of RWAs as calculated by the Basel llI
framework's standardized approaches.

MDA, L-MDA and M-MDA

If a credit institution fails to meet the combined buffer requirement described above (Capital
requirements), it becomes subject, under Article 141(2) to (6) of the CRD, to a cap on its ability to make
payments and distributions on shares and other Tier 1 instruments (including Additional Tier 1
instruments), and on the payment of certain bonuses to employees based on a "maximum distributable
amount" (the "MDA"). Moreover, pending calculation and notification to the competent authority of the
MDA, the credit institution is prohibited from inter alia making such payments or distributions. Under the
CRD in line with the opinion of the EBA issued on 18 December 2015, the MDA should be calculated
taking into account P1R, P2R and the combined buffer requirement. However, P2G is not required to
be taken into account for purposes of calculating the MDA.

BRRD, SRMR and CRR, in particular Article 16a of BRRD and 10a of SRMR, introduce a requirement
for MREL/TLAC, as defined above, to be taken into account in the calculation of the MDA (in addition
to P1R, P2R and the combined buffer requirement. The application of this requirement is subject to a
nine-month grace period in case of inability to issue eligible debt, during which restrictions relating to
MDA would not be triggered, but authorities would be able to take other appropriate measures (the “M-
MDA”). The M-MDA applies, as of 28 December 2020, in case of a breach of the combined buffer
requirement when considered in addition to the transitional TLAC requirements (as confirmed by the
SRB in its 2022 MREL Policy published on 8 June 2022). Since 1 January 2022, the M-MDA applies in
case of a breach of the combined buffer requirement when considered in addition to the fully-loaded
TLAC requirements as well as in addition to the MREL intermediate targets (as confirmed by the
European Commission in a notice published on 2 December 2020).

Under Article 141 b of the CRD, as implemented under French law in Article L. 511-41-1 A of the French
Code monétaire et financier, since 1 January 2023, institutions that fail to meet the leverage ratio buffer
are required to calculate a leverage ratio maximum distributable amount (the “L-MDA”), and payments
and distributions on shares and other Tier 1 instruments (including additional tier 1 instruments) as well
as payments of certain bonuses to employees will be restricted to such L- MDA.

Resolution Framework
BRRD and SRMR

As a significant Eurozone institution, BNP Paribas is subject to the provisions of both the BRRD (as
implemented in France) and the SRMR. The SRMR provides for the establishment of the Single
Resolution Board and the Single Resolution Fund funded through contributions made by the banking
industry. Since November 2014, the ECB is competent with respect to supervisory tasks relating to the
implementation of the BRRD/SRMR, including recovery plans and early intervention measures. As of 1
January 2016, the Single Resolution Board became competent with respect to the resolution tasks
relating to the implementation of BRRD/SRMR with respect to significant Eurozone institutions such as
BNP Paribas, including the assessment of resolution plans and the adoption of resolution measures.
The ACPR remains responsible for implementing the resolution plan according to the Single Resolution
Board's instructions.

Exercise of resolution powers including bail-in of capital instruments and eligible liabilities

The resolution authorities have the power to decide the placement in resolution and the exercise of the
resolution powers at the point at which they determine that:

(a) the institution individually, or the group to which it belongs, as applicable, is failing or likely to
fail (on the basis of objective elements), which includes situations where, pursuant to Article
32(4) of the BRRD:

() the institution infringes/will in the near future infringe the requirements for continuing
authorization in a way that would justify withdrawal of such authorization including, but
not limited to, because the institution has incurred/is likely to incur losses depleting all
or a significant amount of its own funds;

(ii) the assets of the institution are/will be in a near future less than its liabilities;
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(iii) the institution is/will be in a near future unable to pay its debts or other liabilities when
they fall due; or

(iv) the institution requires extraordinary public financial support (subject to limited
exceptions which apply when, in order to remedy a serious disturbance in the economy
of a Member State and preserve financial stability, extraordinary public financial
support is provided to solvent institutions, subject to final approval under the European
Commission’s State Aid framework).

(b) there is no reasonable prospect that a private action would prevent the failure; and
(c) a resolution action is necessary in the public interest.

The powers provided to resolution authorities in the BRRD include write-down/conversion powers to
ensure that capital instruments and eligible liabilities (including senior debt instruments) fully absorb
losses in the situations described above (the "Bail-In Tool"). Accordingly, the BRRD contemplates that
resolution authorities may require the write-down of such capital instruments and eligible liabilities in
part or in full on a permanent basis, or convert them in part or in full into CET1 instruments.

The BRRD provides, inter alia, that resolution authorities shall exercise the write-down power (either in
a resolution or, as discussed below, outside of one) in a way that results in (i) CET1 instruments being
written down first in proportion to the relevant losses, (ii) thereafter, the principal amount of other capital
instruments being written down or converted into CET1 instruments on a permanent basis and (iii)
thereafter, eligible liabilities (including senior debt instruments) being written down or converted in
accordance with a set order of priority. Following such a conversion, the resulting CET1 instruments
may also be subject to the application of the Bail-In Tool.

In addition, the BRRD provides resolution authorities with broad powers to implement other resolution
measures with respect to institutions that are placed in resolution or, under certain circumstances, their
groups, which may include (without limitation) the sale of the institution's business, the separation of
assets, the replacement or substitution of the institution as obligor in respect of debt instruments,
modifications to the terms of debt instruments (including altering the maturity and/or the amount of
interest payable and/or imposing a temporary suspension on payments) and discontinuing the listing
and admission to trading of financial instruments.

Write-down or conversion of capital instruments outside the placement in resolution

In addition, the resolution authorities must exercise the write-down of capital instruments or the
conversion into CET1 instruments of Additional Tier 1 Instruments and Tier 2 instruments if the
institution has not yet been placed in resolution but any of the following conditions are met:

(a) where the determination has been made that conditions for resolution have been met, before
any resolution action is taken;

(b) the appropriate authority determines that unless that power is exercised in relation to the
relevant capital instruments, the institution or the group will no longer be viable; and

(c) extraordinary public financial support is required by the institution.

Moreover, certain powers, including the full or partial write-down of capital instruments, the dilution of
capital instruments through the issuance of new equity, the full or partial write-down or conversion into
equity of additional capital instruments qualifying as Tier 1 and Tier 2 (such as Subordinated Notes),
could also be exercised outside of resolution proceedings (and the BRRD framework) by national
government authorities pursuant to the European Commission’s State Aid framework if the institution
requires exceptional public financial support.

Single Resolution Fund

The Single Resolution Fund ("SRF") was established by the SRMR. The purpose of the SRF is to ensure
that funding is available while a bank is being restructured to ensure the efficient application of
resolution tools and the exercise of the resolution powers conferred to the Single Resolution Board,
although costs and other expenses incurred in a bank's resolution should be borne by the bank's
shareholders and creditors. It is not intended to be a bail-out fund. The SRF shall be gradually built up
during the first eight years until 2024 and it is intended that, by 1 January 2024, its available financial
means will reach at least 1 % of the amount of covered deposits of all banks authorized in all of the
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participating Member States. It is owned and administered by the Single Resolution Board and financed
by contributions of banks established in the Member States participating in the Single Supervisory
Mechanism.

Contributions are calculated at least annually by the Single Resolution Board after consultation with the
ECB and national authorities, on the basis of the pro rata amount of the banks' total liabilities (excluding
own funds) less covered deposits with respect to the aggregate amount of liabilities (excluding own
funds) less covered deposits of all banks authorized in all of the participating Member States, subject
to adjustments that are a function of risk factors. In the case of resolution of a bank that depletes the
fund, extraordinary ex-post contributions may be required. Through the SRF, the financial industry as a
whole is the one to ensure the stabilisation of the financial system.

3. Investment considerations associated with certain interest rates
Additional information on EURIBOR and related reforms

The euro risk free rate working group for the euro area has published a set of guiding principles and
high level recommendations for fallback provisions in, amongst other things, new euro denominated
cash products (including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicate, amongst other
things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback provisions)
may increase the risk to the euro area financial system. On 11 May 2021, the euro risk free rate working
group published its recommendations on EURIBOR fallback trigger events and fallback rates.

Prospective purchasers should note that, if EURIBOR were discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the
rate of interest on the Notes will be determined for the relevant period by the fall-back provisions
applicable to the Notes, as further described in the Conditions.

Additional information on the development of SONIA, €STR, SOFR, SARON and TONA as reference
rates

Holders of Notes that reference SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA should note that the market
continues to develop in relation to SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON and TONA, respectively, as reference
rates in the capital markets and their adoption as an alternative to GBP-LIBOR, USD-LIBOR, EURIBOR,
CHF-LIBOR and JPY-LIBOR, respectively. For example, in the context of backwards-looking rates,
market participants and relevant working groups are currently assessing the differences between
compounded rates and weighted average rates and the basis on which to determine them, and such
groups are also exploring forward-looking "term" SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON and TONA reference
rates; although, it is not known when these will be developed and whether they will be adopted by the
markets. The adoption of SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or TONA may also see component inputs into
swap rates or other composite rates.

The market, or a significant part thereof, may adopt an application of SONIA, SOFR, €STR, SARON or
TONA that differs significantly from the methodology set out in the Conditions.

Ad(ditional information on the development of SONIA reference rates for use in the capital markets

In connection with the ongoing development of the market in relation to SONIA as a reference rate in
the capital markets, market participants and relevant working groups are exploring alternative reference
rates based on SONIA, including term SONIA reference rates (which seek to measure the market's
forward expectation of an average SONIA rate over a designated term). The ongoing development of
Compounded Daily SONIA as an interest reference rate for the Eurobond markets, as well as continued
development of SONIA-based rates for such markets and the market infrastructure for adopting such
rates, could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price
of the Notes.

If BBSW, EURIBOR, NIBOR, PRIBOR, STIBOR, WIBOR or any other benchmark is discontinued, the
applicable floating rate of interest or Underlying Interest Rate may be changed

In respect of Notes which pay a floating rate of interest or are linked to an Underlying Interest Rate, if
the Issuer or the Calculation Agent determines at any time that the relevant reference rate has been
discontinued, the Calculation Agent will use, as a substitute for the relevant reference rate, the
alternative reference rate selected by the central bank, reserve bank, monetary authority or any similar
institution in the jurisdiction of the currency of the relevant rate that is consistent with industry accepted
standards. If the Calculation Agent notifies the Issuer that it is unable to determine such an alternative
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reference rate, the Calculation Agent will appoint a determination agent (which may be the Issuer or an
affiliate of the Issuer or the Calculation Agent) who will determine a replacement reference rate, as well
as any required changes to the business day convention, the definition of business day, the interest
determination date, the day count fraction and any method for calculating the replacement rate including
any adjustment required to make such replacement reference rate comparable to the relevant reference
rate. Such replacement reference rate will (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding, and
will apply to the relevant Notes.

The replacement rate may perform differently from the discontinued reference rate. It is possible that if
an adjustment is applied to any Notes such adjustment may not reflect this difference in performance
exactly.

The conditions also provide for other fallbacks, such as consulting reference banks for rate quotations,
which may not be possible if the reference banks decline to provide such quotations for a sustained
period of time (or at all). If the relevant screen page for the reference rate is not available or it is not
possible to obtain quotations then the Calculation Agent will determine the relevant rate of interest for
the affected Notes at the relevant time acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.
Prospective purchasers should note that the replacement rate may be different to the original rate.

It is possible that, if a reference rate is discontinued, a clear successor rate will not be established in
the market for some time. Accordingly, the terms of the Notes provide as an ultimate fallback that,
following the designation of a replacement rate, if the Calculation Agent or the determination agent
appointed by the Calculation Agent considers that such replacement reference rate is no longer
substantially comparable to the original reference rate or does not constitute an industry accepted
successor rate, the Calculation Agent will appoint or re-appoint a determination agent (which may or
may not be the same entity as the original determination agent) for the purposes of confirming the
replacement reference rate or determining a substitute replacement reference rate (despite the
continued existence of the initial replacement reference rate). Any such substitute replacement
reference rate, once designated pursuant to the Conditions, will apply to the affected Notes. This could
impact the relevant rate of interest in respect of the Notes.

Additional considerations associated with Notes that pay a floating rate of interest referencing SOFR

SOFR is a relatively new rate. The NY Federal Reserve began to publish SOFR in April 2018. Although
the NY Federal Reserve has published historical indicative SOFR information going back to 2014, such
prepublication historical data inherently involves assumptions, estimates and approximations.
Prospective purchasers should not rely on any historical changes or trends in SOFR as an indicator of
the future performance of SOFR. Since the initial publication of SOFR, daily changes in the rate have,
on occasion, been more volatile than daily changes in other benchmark or market rates. As a result,
the return on and value of Notes that pay a floating rate of interest by reference to SOFR ("SOFR-
Linked Notes") may fluctuate more than floating rate debt securities that are linked to less volatile rates.

Because SOFR is a relatively new market index, SOFR-Linked Notes will likely have no established
trading market when issued, and an established trading market may never develop or may not be very
liquid. Market terms for debt securities indexed to SOFR, such as the spread over the base rate reflected
in the interest rate provisions, may evolve over time, and trading prices of SOFR-Linked Notes may be
lower than those of later-issued SOFR-linked debt securities as a result. Similarly, if SOFR does not
prove to be widely used in securities like the Notes, the trading price of SOFR-Linked Notes may be
lower than those of securities linked to rates that are more widely used. Investors may not be able to
sell SOFR-Linked Notes at all or may not be able to sell such Notes at prices that will provide a yield
comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market, and may consequently
suffer from increased pricing volatility and market risk.

The manner of adoption or application of reference rates based on SOFR in the bond market may differ
materially compared with the application and adoption of SOFR in other markets, such as the
derivatives and loan markets. Prospective purchasers should carefully consider how any potential
inconsistencies between the adoption of reference rates based on SOFR across these markets may
impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any
acquisition, holding or disposal of the SOFR-Linked Notes.

The NY Federal Reserve notes on its publication page for SOFR that use of SOFR is subject to
important limitations, including that the NY Federal Reserve may alter the methods of calculation,
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publication schedule, rate revision practices or availability of SOFR at any time without notice. There
can be no guarantee that SOFR will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a way that affects
the value of the Notes. If the manner in which SOFR is calculated is changed or if SOFR is discontinued,
that change or discontinuance may result in a reduction or elimination of the amount of interest payable
on SOFR-Linked Notes and a reduction in the trading prices of such Notes.

4, Investment considerations associated with Notes with specific features
Additional information in respect of Notes that are issued as Green Bonds

The use of the net proceeds of any issue of Notes for any Eligible Green Assets may not satisfy, whether
in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any
investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply,
whether by any present or future applicable laws or regulations or by its own by-laws, investment policy
or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates, in particular with regard to any direct or
indirect environmental, sustainability or social impact of any projects or uses, the subject of or related
to, any Eligible Green Assets.

The definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of, and market consensus for a particular project to be
defined as, a "green" or equivalently labelled project is still under development. On 18 June 2020,
Regulation (EU) No. 2020/852 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment
was adopted by the Council and the European Parliament (the "Taxonomy Regulation"). The
Taxonomy Regulation establishes a single EU-wide classification system, or “taxonomy”, which
provides companies and investors with a common language for determining which economic activities
can be considered environmentally sustainable. The Commission Delegated Regulation (EU)
2021/2139 of 4 June 2021 establishing the technical screening criteria for determining which economic
activities can be considered as contributing substantially to climate change mitigation or climate change
adaptation and for determining whether that economic activity causes no significant harm to any of the
other environmental objectives entered into force on 1 January 2022. However, the Taxonomy
Regulation or the Commission Delegated Regulation specified above remain subject to further
developments with regard to other specific economic activities and other environmental objectives.

As a result, the definition of a "green" project or equivalently labelled project is now set for objectives
related to climate change mitigation or adaptation, specifying the criteria required by a particular project
to qualify as a "green" project, unless it is related to an economic activity identified in the course of
finalisation.

However, the projects or uses which are the subject of, or related to, any Eligible Green Assets may
not meet any or all investor expectations regarding such "green", "sustainable" or other equivalently-
labelled performance objectives and any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts may occur
during the implementation of any projects or uses, which are the subject of, or related to, any Eligible
Green Assets.

Any opinion or certification of any third parties (whether or not solicited by BNPP) which may be made
available in connection with the issue and offering of any Green Bonds and in particular with the extent
to which Eligible Green Assets may fulfil any environmental, sustainability, social and/or other criteria,
may not be suitable or reliable for any purpose whatsoever. For the avoidance of doubt, any such
opinion or certification is not, nor shall be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of the Green
Bond Framework. Any such opinion or certification is not, nor should be deemed to be, a
recommendation by BNPP and its affiliates or any other person to buy, sell or hold any Green Bonds.
Any such opinion or certification is only current as of the date that opinion was initially issued.
Prospective investors must determine for themselves the relevance of any such opinion or certification
and/or the information contained therein and/or the provider of such opinion or certification for the
purpose of any investment in such Green Bonds. Currently, the providers of such opinions and
certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight.

In the event that any Green Bonds are listed or admitted to trading on any dedicated "green",
"environmental"”, "sustainable" or other similarly labelled segment of any stock exchange or securities
market (whether or not a regulated market for the purpose of the Markets in Financial Instruments
Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended), or are included in any dedicated "green", "environmental”,
"sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled index, such listing or admission, or inclusion in such index,
may not satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements
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as regards any investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required
to comply, whether by any present or future applicable law or regulations or by its own by-laws or other
governing rules or investment portfolio mandates, in particular with regard to any direct or indirect
environmental, sustainability or social impact of any projects or uses, the subject of or related to, any
climate projects. Furthermore, the criteria for any such listings or admission to trading may vary from
one stock exchange or securities market to another and the criteria for inclusion in such index may vary
from one index to another. Any such listing or admission to trading, or inclusion in any such index, may
not be obtained in respect of Green Bonds or, if obtained, any such listing or admission to trading, or
inclusion in such index, may not be maintained during the life of Green Bonds. Additionally, the Green
Bonds may not be suitable to fulfil environmental and sustainability criteria required by prospective
investors. BNPP is not responsible for any third party assessment of the Green Bonds.

While it is the intention of BNPP to apply an amount equivalent to the net proceeds of any Green Bonds
to Eligible Green Assets in, or substantially in, the manner described in the applicable Final Terms and
in the Green Bond Framework, the relevant project(s) or use(s) which are the subject of, or related to,
any Eligible Green Assets may not be capable of being implemented in or substantially in such manner
and/or in accordance with any timing schedule that is contemplated in the Green Bond Framework and
accordingly such net proceeds may not be totally or partially disbursed for such Eligible Green Assets.
Such Eligible Green Assets may not be completed within any specified period or at all or with the results
or outcome (whether or not related to the environment) as originally expected or anticipated by BNPP.
Any such event or failure by BNPP to apply an amount equivalent to the net proceeds as intended will
not constitute an event of default (however defined) under the Green Bonds, create an obligation for
BNPP to redeem the Green Bonds, give a right to an early redemption or the acceleration of the Green
Bonds and/or give any claim against BNPP.

Additional information in respect of Notes that are issued as Social Bonds

The use of the net proceeds of any issue of Notes for any Eligible Social Assets may not satisfy, whether
in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any
investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply,
whether by any present or future applicable laws or regulations or by its own by-laws, investment policy
or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates, in particular with regard to any direct or
indirect sustainability or social impact of any projects or uses, the subject of or related to, any Eligible
Social Assets.

Furthermore, there is currently no clear definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of, nor market
consensus as to what constitutes, a "social", "sustainable" or an equivalently-labelled project or as to
what precise attributes are required for a particular project to be considered "social" or "sustainable" or
falling under such other equivalent label and such a clear definition or consensus may not develop over
time.

Environmental and social aspects are part of the EU’s sustainable finance strategy and are based on a
wide recognition that there is a need for social investments to both: (i) achieve the sustainable
development goals ("SDGs") of the UN’s 2030 agenda; and (ii) create the social internal market set out
in the Treaty on the European Union (Article 3). In this context, initiatives have been taken, including by
the European Commission (the "EC"), to define a "taxonomy" for social bonds (i.e. a systematic
classification and definition of qualifying items). A permanent expert group of the EC, called "Platform
on Sustainable Finance", has been established under Article 20 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 2020 on the establishment of a framework to
facilitate sustainable investment (the "Taxonomy Regulation") and assists the EC in developing its
sustainable finance policies, notably the further development of the EU taxonomy. In this regard, it
should be noted that in February 2022, the Platform on Sustainable Finance published its Final Report
on Social Taxonomy which sets up a classification system for environmentally sustainable economic
activities. Such report does not constitute an official EC document nor an official EC position.

Accordingly, the projects or uses which are the subject of, or related to, any Eligible Social Assets may
not meet any or all investor expectations regarding such "social", "sustainable" or other equivalently-
labelled performance objectives or that any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts may
occur during the implementation of any projects or uses, which are the subject of, or related to, any
Eligible Social Assets.
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Any opinion or certification of any third parties (whether or not solicited by (or on behalf of) BNPP) which
may be made available in connection with the issue and offering of any Social Bonds and, in particular,
the extent to which Eligible Social Assets may fulfil any sustainability, social and/or other criteria may
not be suitable or reliable for any purpose whatsoever. For the avoidance of doubt, any such opinion or
certification is not, and shall not be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of the Social Bond
Framework. Any such opinion or certification is not, and should not be deemed to be, a recommendation
by BNPP or its affiliates or any other person to buy, sell or hold any Social Bonds. Any such opinion or
certification is only current as of the date that opinion was initially issued. Prospective investors must
determine for themselves the relevance of any such opinion or certification and/or the information
contained therein and/or the provider of such opinion or certification for the purpose of any investment
in such Social Bonds. Currently, the providers of such opinions and certifications are not subject to any
specific regulatory or other regime or oversight.

In the event that any Social Bonds are listed or admitted to trading on any dedicated "Social",
"sustainable" or other similarly labelled segment of any stock exchange or securities market (whether
or not a regulated market for the purpose of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU
as amended), or are included in any dedicated "social", "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled
index, such listing or admission to trading, or inclusion in such index, may not satisfy, whether in whole
or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria
or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply, whether by any present
or future applicable laws or regulations or by its own by-laws or other governing rules or investment
portfolio mandates, in particular with regard to any direct or indirect environmental, sustainability or
social impact of any projects or uses, the subject of or related to, any sustainable projects. Furthermore,
the criteria for any such listing or admission to trading may vary from one stock exchange or securities
market to another and the criteria for inclusion in such index may vary from one index to another. Any
such listing or admission to trading, or inclusion in any such index, may not be obtained in respect of
Social Bonds or, if obtained, any such listing or admission to trading, or inclusion in such index, may
not be maintained during the life of the Social Bonds. Additionally the Social Bonds may not be suitable
to fulfil social and sustainability criteria required by prospective investors. BNPP is not responsible for
any third party assessment of the Social Bonds.

While it is the intention of BNPP to apply an amount equivalent to the net proceeds of any Social Bonds
to Eligible Social Assets in, or substantially in, the manner described in the applicable Final Terms and
in the Social Bond Framework, the relevant project(s) or use(s) which are the subject of, or related to,
any Eligible Social Assets may not be capable of being implemented in or substantially in such manner
and/or in accordance with any timing schedule that is contemplated in the Social Bond Framework and
accordingly such net proceeds may not be totally or partially disbursed for such Eligible Social Assets.
Such Eligible Social Assets may notbe completed within any specified period or at all or with the results
or outcome (whether or not related to social, sustainability and/or other aspects) as originally expected
or anticipated by BNPP Any such event or failure by BNPP to apply an amount equivalent to the net
proceeds as intended will not constitute an event of default (however defined) under the Social Bonds,
create an obligation for BNPP to redeem the Social Bonds, give a right to an early redemption or the
acceleration of the Social Bonds and/or give any claim against BNPP.

For the avoidance of doubt, the relevant Final Terms of Social Bonds will provide the relevant details
such as references to the applicable framework and methodology note (defining, inter alia, the selection
criteria for Eligible Social Assets) under which such Social Bonds are issued. The Final Terms may
direct Noteholders to a relevant section of the BNPP website to provide such information.

5. Investment considerations associated with Underlying Reference Linked Notes

Investments in Underlying Reference Linked Notes entail significant risks and may not be appropriate
for investors lacking financial expertise. Prospective purchasers should consult their own financial, tax
and legal advisors as to the risks entailed by an investment in such Notes and the suitability of such
Notes in light of their particular circumstances and ensure that its acquisition is fully consistent with their
financial needs and investment policies, is lawful under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation
and/or in which it operates, and is a suitable investment for it to make. The Issuer believes that such
Notes should only be purchased by investors who are, or who are purchasing under the guidance of,
financial institutions or other professional investors that are in a position to understand the special risks
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that an investment in these instruments involves, in particular relating to options and derivatives and
related transactions, and should be prepared to sustain a total loss of the purchase price of their Notes.

BNPP and its Affiliates do not provide any advice with respect to any Underlying Reference nor make
any representation as to its quality, credit or otherwise, and investors in the Notes must rely on their
own sources of analysis or credit analysis with respect to any Underlying Reference.

Additional investment considerations in respect of Index Linked Notes

In respect of Index Linked Notes, Holders will receive an amount (if any) on redemption determined by
reference to the value of the underlying index/indices and/or interest calculated by reference to the
value of the underlying index/indices. Such underlying index may be a well-known and widely published
index or an index which may not be widely published or available. The index may reference, among
other asset types, equities, bonds, currency exchange rates, or other securities or it may be a property
index referencing certain property price data which will be subject to market price fluctuations, or
reference a number of different assets or indices. A property index may include valuations only and not
actual transactions and the property data sources used to compile the index may be subject to change.

Index Linked Notes linked to a custom index are linked to a proprietary index which may be sponsored
and/or calculated by BNP Paribas or one of its Affiliates. Pursuant to the operational rules of the
relevant custom index, the custom index is scheduled to be calculated on a periodic basis (for example
on each weekday). In the event that one of the levels, values or prices of a component included in the
custom index is not available for any reason on a relevant day of calculation including, without limitation,
(a) because such day is a non-scheduled trading day in respect of that index component or (b) that
index component is subject to a market disruption, then the Calculation Agent of the custom index may,
but will not be obliged to, calculate the level of the custom index on a different basis (for example by
taking a value for the affected index component from the first preceding day on which a level for such
affected index component was available). Such an occurrence may potentially result in a delay in the
publication of the index and the level of the index may be different to the level that might have been
observed had such circumstances not occurred.

Components of certain Custom Indices may be selected by and thereafter may be subject to
modification, reallocation and/or rebalancing from time to time in accordance with the methodology of
the index or, if an independent third party index allocation agent has been appointed pursuant to an
index allocation agreement in connection with the index, in accordance with the terms of the index
allocation agreement. As part of the modification, reallocation and/or rebalancing, components may be
added to or removed from the Custom Index or their weights adjusted. The components which are
included in the Custom Index and the weight assigned to each component may be determined either
wholly or partially by reference to criteria specified in the Custom Index methodology or, if an index
allocation agent has been appointed, in the index allocation agreement, and/or one or more lists of
assets (including, without limitation, research lists, analytical reports or "top picks" guides), which are
published by a third party unconnected with the Custom Index. If an independent third party is compiling
the list of assets such third party may exercise its discretion to determine which assets are included in
such list. The Custom Index methodology of the Custom Index or, if an index allocation agent has been
appointed, the index allocation agreement, may apply objective filters to these lists of assets, to
determine which assets are included as components in the Custom Index and their weight. The
components which are derived from the list published by an independent third party or, if an index
allocation agent has been appointed, the index allocation agreement may affect the performance of the
Custom Index, and, correspondingly, the value of the Index Linked Notes. Such independent third
parties have no obligation to take into account the consequences of their actions on any Noteholders.
None of the Issuer, the Calculation Agent or any of their relevant Affiliates have any responsibility for
the lists published by independent third parties or, if an index allocation agent has been appointed, the
component selection, modification, reallocation and/or rebalancing instructions from the index allocation
agent, any acts or omissions of the index allocation agent or any other entity appointed in connection
with the Custom Index or any breach of any obligations of the index allocation agent under the index
allocation agreement.

If appointed in connection with the Custom Index, the index allocation agent may select the components
of the Custom Index or may give instructions for modifications, reallocations and/or rebalancings to be
made from time to time on a discretionary basis according to its qualified market opinion and in
compliance with the index allocation agreement. The index allocation agent will be an independent third

74



INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS

party that is not affiliated with entities in the Group. Entities within the Group may have other roles in
relation to the Index Linked Notes and/or have the power to make various determinations, calculations
and/or adjustments and/or have interests which may be adverse to the interests of Noteholders in
carrying out such roles and do not act as a fiduciary for any Noteholder, nor do they provide any advice
or recommendations as to the Index Linked Notes or any Custom Index.

If the Index specified in the Final Terms is replaced by a successor index with the same or a substantially
similar method for calculating that index or the original index sponsor is replaced by a successor index
sponsor acceptable to the Calculation Agent, the successor index or the successor index sponsor will
replace the original index or original index sponsor, as applicable.

If the published level of an Index is subsequently corrected, the corrected level will be used if corrected
within the prescribed period, provided that, if the corrected level is published less than three Business
Days prior to a due date for payment it will be disregarded.

Additional investment considerations in respect of Share Linked Notes

Holders of Share Linked Notes will receive an amount (if any) on redemption determined by reference
to the value of the share(s) or Stapled Shares, GDRs and/or ADRs and/or the physical delivery of a
given number of share(s) or Stapled Shares, GDRs and/or ADRs and/or interest calculated by reference
to the value of the underlying share(s) or Stapled Shares, GDRs and/or ADRs.

No issuer of the underlying shares will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final Terms
or in establishing the terms of the Share Linked Notes, and none of the Issuer or any Dealer will make
any investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering with respect to any information concerning
any such issuer of shares contained in such Final Terms or in the documents from which such
information was extracted. Consequently, all events occurring prior to the relevant issue date (including
events that would affect the accuracy or completeness of the publicly available information described
in this paragraph or in any applicable Final Terms) that could affect the trading price of the share or
Stapled Shares, GDRs and/or ADRs may not have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of
any such events or the disclosure of or failure to disclose material future events concerning such an
issuer of shares could affect the trading price of the share or Stapled Shares, GDRs and/or ADRs which
is observed.

Except as provided in the Conditions, Noteholders will not have voting rights or rights to receive
dividends or distributions or any other rights with respect to the relevant shares to which such Notes
relate.

A Potential Adjustment Event will occur in a number of scenarios more fully described in the Conditions
that have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the share(s). The Calculation
Agent may adjust the terms of the Share Linked Notes as it determines appropriate to take account of
such Potential Adjustment Event.

If the Stapled Shares become de-stapled such that one or more shares comprising the Stapled Shares
may be held, owned, sold, transferred, purchased and otherwise dealt with as an individual share, the
Issuer may elect to substitute the Stapled Shares with an alternative share meeting certain criteria
selected by the Calculation Agent.

In addition, if the published price of a Share is subsequently corrected, the corrected price will be used
if corrected within the prescribed period, provided that, if the corrected price is published less than three
Business Days prior to a due date for payment it will be disregarded.

Additional investment considerations in respect of ETI Linked Notes

Holders of ETI Linked Notes will receive an amount (if any) on redemption determined by reference to
the value of an interest in one or more exchange traded instruments (an "ETI Interest") and/or interest
calculated by reference to the value of one or more ETI Interests. While ETI Interests are traded on an
exchange and are therefore valued in a similar manner as a share traded on an exchange, if ETI Share
Provisions is specified as not applicable in the applicable Final Terms, certain provisions related to ETI
Linked Notes are similar to the provisions related to funds and Fund Linked Notes. If ETI Share
Provisions is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the provisions related to the ETI
Linked Notes will be more similar to the provisions related to shares and Share Linked Notes.
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In hedging the Issuer's obligations under the ETI Linked Notes, an entity providing such hedging
(the "Hedge Provider") is not restricted to any particular hedging practice. Accordingly, the Hedge
Provider may hedge its exposure using any method it, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate. The
Hedge Provider may perform any number of different hedging practices with respect to ETI Linked
Notes without taking into account any Noteholder's interests.

No entity related to the ETI will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final Terms or in
establishing the terms of the ETI Linked Notes, and none of the Issuer or any Dealer will make any
investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering with respect to any information concerning any
such ETI contained in such Final Terms or in the documents from which such information was extracted.
Consequently, all events occurring prior to the relevant issue date (including events that would affect
the accuracy or completeness of the publicly available information described in this paragraph or in any
applicable Final Terms) that could affect the trading price of the interests in the exchange traded
instrument may not have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of any such events or the
disclosure of or failure to disclose material future events concerning such an exchange traded
instrument could affect the trading price of interests in the exchange traded instruments which is
observed.

Except as provided in the Conditions, Noteholders will not have voting rights or rights to receive
dividends or distributions or any other rights with respect to the relevant ETIs to which such Notes relate.

If the published price of an ETI Interest is subsequently corrected, the corrected price will be used if
corrected within the prescribed period, provided that, if the corrected price is published less than three
Business Days prior to a due date for payment it will be disregarded.

Additional investment considerations in respect of Commodity Linked Notes

Holders of Commodity Linked Notes will receive an amount (if any) on redemption determined by
reference to the value of the underlying commodity, commaodity index, commodities and/or commodity
indices and/or interest calculated by reference to the value of the underlying commodity, commodity
index, commodities and/or commodity indices.

Where the Commodity Linked Notes are linked to a commodity index, such commaodity index may be a
well-known and widely available commaodity index (such as the S&P GSCI®) or a commaodity index
which may be less well known (such as a commodity index that is composed, sponsored and/or
calculated by BNP Paribas or one of its affiliates) in which case information on the commodity index
may be less readily available. A commodity index may be comprised of futures contracts, mono-indices
or other commaodity indices, which may be proprietary. Pursuant to the operational rules of the relevant
commodity index, the commodity index is scheduled to be calculated on a periodic basis (for example
on each weekday). In the event that one of the levels, values or prices of a component included in the
commodity index is not available for any reason on a relevant day of calculation including, without
limitation, (a) where it is a not a business day in respect of that commodity index component or (b) that
commodity index component is subject to a market disruption event, then the calculation agent of the
commodity index may calculate the level of the commaodity index on a different basis (for example, by
taking a value for the affected commodity index component on the first day following the end of a
specified maximum days of disruption based on the price at which it is able to sell or otherwise realise
any hedge position). Such an occurrence may potentially result in a delay in the publication of the
commodity index and the level of the commodity index may be different to the level that might have
been observed had such circumstances not occurred.

In the case of Commodity Linked Notes that reference one or more commodity indices, if the commodity
index is replaced by a successor commodity index with the same or a substantially similar method for
calculating that commodity index or the original commodity index sponsor is replaced by a successor
commodity index sponsor acceptable to the Calculation Agent such successor commodity index or
successor commodity index sponsor will replace the original commodity index or the original commodity
index sponsor, as applicable.

If the reference price of a commodity or commodity index is subsequently corrected, the corrected
reference price will be used if corrected within 30 calendar days of the original publication, provided
that, if the corrected level is published less than three Commodity Business Days prior to a due date for
payment it will be disregarded.
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Additional investment considerations in respect of Inflation Linked Notes

Holders of Inflation Linked Notes will receive an amount (if any) on redemption determined by reference
to the value of the underlying inflation index/indices and/or interest calculated by reference to the value
of the underlying inflation index/indices.

The terms of the Inflation Linked Notes may be adjusted by the Calculation Agent if the Calculation
Agent determines that the Index Sponsor fails to publish or announce the level of an inflation index. The
Calculation Agent will determine a substitute level for the relevant inflation index by reference to (a) a
related bond specified in the Final Terms or (b) a formula that calculates the level of the relevant inflation
index based on previously available levels. If publication of the level of the relevant inflation index is
disrupted or discontinued or the inflation index is cancelled, the Calculation Agent may determine a
successor inflation index. The Calculation Agent may further adjust the terms of the Inflation Linked
Notes to take account of such substitute level or substitute inflation index.

The Calculation Agent may also make adjustments to the terms of the Inflation Linked Notes or the
relevant level of an inflation index if (a) a published level is subsequently revised within the cut-off
periods described in the Conditions, (b) there is a material change to the formula for calculating an
inflation index or (c) an inflation index is rebased, provided that, if an inflation index is rebased such that
the Calculation Agent is unable to make adjustments that would produce a commercially reasonable
result, the Issuer may redeem the Inflation Linked Notes at the Early Redemption Amount.

Prospective purchasers should note that if an inflation index is cancelled (and the Calculation Agent is
unable to determine a successor inflation index), either the Calculation Agent will calculate the level of
the inflation index or the Issuer will redeem the Inflation Linked Notes at the Early Redemption Amount
in accordance with the Conditions.

Additional investment considerations in respect of Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes

Holders of Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes will receive an amount (if any) on redemption
determined by reference to the value of the currency/currencies and/or the physical delivery of a given
amount of a currency or currencies and/or interest calculated by reference to the value of the underlying
currency/currencies. Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes reference the performance of an
exchange rate between a base currency and one or more subject currencies.

Additional investment considerations in respect of Fund Linked Notes (other than where the Fund is a
Euro Fund)

In respect of Fund Linked Notes other than where the Fund is a Euro Fund, holders of Fund Linked
Notes will receive an amount (if any) on redemption determined by reference to the value of fund shares
or units in one or more funds (including hedge funds, mutual funds or private equity funds) (each a
"Fund"), the level of a fund index comprised of such fund shares or units and/or the physical delivery of
a given number of fund shares or units and/or interest calculated by reference to the value of the fund
shares or units or the level of the fund index. The value of fund shares or units or the level of a fund
index may be affected by the performance of the fund service providers, and in particular the investment
adviser (each a "Fund Service Provider").

Funds may trade and invest in a broad range of investments and financial instruments using
sophisticated investment techniques. None of the Issuer or the Calculation Agent have any control over
investments made by a Fund and therefore in no way guarantee the performance of a Fund. Funds
may often be illiquid and may only be traded on a monthly, quarterly or even less frequent basis. The
trading strategies of Funds are often opaque. Funds, as well as the markets and instruments in which
they invest, are often not subject to review by governmental authorities, self-regulatory organisations or
other supervisory authorities.

A Fund may be established as part of a master-feeder fund structure. Generally, a master-feeder fund
structure involves the incorporation of a "master” fund company into which separate and distinct
"feeder” funds invest. Active management of any investment strategy is, generally, performed at the
master fund level. In instances where the Fund(s) underlying the relevant Fund Linked Notes are
"feeder" funds, the Extraordinary Fund Events described below extend to include the "master” fund and
its service providers. In conducting their own due diligence of the relevant Fund(s), prospective
purchasers should consider whether the relevant Fund(s) are established as part of a master-feeder
fund structure.
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No Fund Service Provider will have participated in the preparation of the applicable Final Terms or in
establishing the terms of the Fund Linked Notes, and none of the Issuer or any Dealer will make any
investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering with respect to any information concerning any
such issuer of fund shares or units contained in such Final Terms or in the documents from which such
information was extracted. Consequently, all events occurring prior to the relevant issue date (including
events that would affect the accuracy or completeness of the publicly available information described
in this paragraph or in any relevant Final Terms) that could affect the trading price of the fund shares or
units or the level of the fund index may not have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of any
such events or the disclosure of or failure to disclose material future events concerning such an issuer
of fund shares or units could affect the trading price of the fund shares or units or the level of the fund
index which is observed and therefore the trading price of the Fund Linked Notes.

Except as provided in the Conditions, Noteholders will not have voting rights or rights to receive
dividends or distributions or any other rights with respect to the relevant fund shares or units or the
relevant fund index to which such Notes relate.

Additional investment considerations in respect of Fund Linked Notes (where the Fund is a Euro Fund)

In respect of Fund Linked Notes where the Fund is a Euro Fund, Noteholders will receive an amount (if
any) on redemption determined by reference to the gross rate of return of an insurance or investment
policy or capitalisation contract backed by euro-denominated assets (a "Euro Fund") offered by the
insurance company specified in the applicable Final Terms and/or Fund Linked Notes will pay interest
calculated by reference to such gross rate of return. The gross rate of return in respect of a Euro Fund
may be affected by the performance of the insurance company that offers the Euro Fund and/or the
assets underlying the Euro Fund.

Euro Funds typically invest in long-term, stable assets, such as bonds, on a "buy-to-hold" basis. As a
conseguence, although none of the Issuer or the Calculation Agent have any control over investments
made by a Euro Fund, the yield of a Euro Fund portfolio is generally known in advance. Euro Funds
offer investors a guaranteed rate of return, which is generally higher than the money market rate, but
limited in terms of performance potential.

No insurance company will have participated in the preparation of the relevant Final Terms or in
establishing the terms of the Fund Linked Notes, and none of the Issuer or any Dealer will make any
investigation or enquiry in connection with such offering with respect to any information concerning any
such insurance company offering such Euro Fund or the assets underlying such Euro Fund referenced
in such Final Terms or in the documents from which such information was extracted. Consequently, all
events occurring prior to the relevant issue date (including events that would affect the accuracy or
completeness of the publicly available information described in this paragraph or in any relevant Final
Terms) that could affect the gross rate of return of the Euro Fund may not have been publicly disclosed.
Subsequent disclosure of any such events or the disclosure of or failure to disclose material future
events concerning such an insurance company could affect the gross rate of return of the Euro Fund
which is observed and therefore the trading price of the Fund Linked Notes.

Additional investment considerations in respect of Underlying Interest Rate Linked Notes

Holders of Underlying Interest Rate Linked Notes will receive an amount (if any) on redemption
determined by reference to the value of one or more underlying interest rates and/or interest calculated
by reference to the value of one or more underlying interest rates.

The underlying interest rate will be determined by reference to:

(a) a hypothetical interest rate swap transaction if "ISDA Determination" is specified in the
applicable Final Terms;

(b) a rate provided on a screen page if "Screen Rate Determination — IBOR" is specified in the
applicable Final Terms; or

(c) a rate calculated by the Calculation Agent on the basis of (i) if "Screen Rate Determination —
SONIA" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, (A) the weighted average mean of SONIA,
(B) a daily compounded SONIA or (C) the SONIA Index published by the administrator of the
SONIA reference rate, (ii) if "Screen Rate Determination — SOFR" is specified in the applicable
Final Terms, (A) the arithmetic mean of SOFR, (B) a daily compounded SOFR or (C) the SOFR
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Index published on the NY Federal Reserve Website, (iii) if "Screen Rate Determination —
€STR" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, a daily compounded €STR, (iv) if "Screen
Rate Determination — SARON" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, a daily compounded
SARON or (v) if "Screen Rate Determination — TONA" is specified in the applicable Final Terms,
a daily compounded TONA, in each case, observed and calculated in accordance with
Underlying Interest Rate Linked Condition 3(b) to (f), as applicable.

Regardless of the rate that is determined, if it is subject to a cap and/or a floor, such underlying interest
rate will be deemed to be no higher than the Maximum Underlying Reference Rate specified in the
applicable Final Terms and/or no lower than the Minimum Underlying Reference Rate specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

Additional investment considerations in respect of Credit Linked Notes

Holders of Credit Linked Notes will receive an amount (if any) on redemption determined by reference
to a hypothetical credit default swap referencing obligations of one or more Reference Entities.
Reference Entities may be corporate, sovereign or supra-national entities. Following the occurrence of
a Credit Event with respect to a Reference Entity to which the Credit Linked Notes are linked, the
redemption value and any interest payable in respect of the Credit Linked Notes may be significantly
reduced, which reduction may be to zero. The observation period during which a Credit Event in respect
of a Reference Entity may trigger a reduction of the redemption amount or interest payable in respect
of a Credit Linked Note will be specified in the applicable Final Terms, and may begin prior to the Issue
Date of the Credit Linked Notes.

A Credit Event may occur as a result of events including: (a) the relevant Reference Entity's failure to
perform certain financial obligations when due (where the NTCE Provisions are not applicable in respect
of a particular Reference Entity, whether or not such failure represents a deterioration in the financial
condition or creditworthiness of the Reference Entity); (b) with respect to the relevant Reference Entity,
its dissolution, insolvency, inability to pay its debts, entry into a general assignment, arrangement,
scheme or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors generally, becoming the subject of
proceedings seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any similar relief, passing of a resolution
for its winding-up or liquidation, or being subject to the appointment of an administrator, liquidator,
conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for its assets; (c) certain financial
obligations of the relevant Reference Entity becoming (or being capable of becoming) due and payable
before they would otherwise have been due and payable as a result of the occurrence of a default,
event of default or other similar condition or event (however described); (d) an authorised officer of the
Reference Entity or a governmental authority disaffirms, disclaims, repudiates or rejects, in whole or in
part, or challenges the validity of, one or more of certain financial obligations of the relevant Reference
Entity, or declares or imposes a moratorium, standstill, roll-over or deferral, whether de facto or de jure,
with respect to such obligations; (e) a restructuring of certain financial obligations of the relevant
Reference Entity is agreed between the Reference Entity or a governmental authority and a sufficient
number of holders of the relevant obligation to bind all holders of such obligations, or such a
restructuring is announced (or otherwise decreed) by the relevant Reference Entity or a governmental
authority in a form that binds all holders of the relevant obligations, where such event is not expressly
provided for under the terms of such obligations (and whether or not such restructuring arises from a
deterioration in the financial condition or creditworthiness of the Reference Entity); or (f) certain rights
of creditors in respect of certain financial obligations of the Reference Entity are adversely affected as
a result of action taken or an announcement made by a governmental authority pursuant to, or by means
of, a restructuring and resolution law or regulation (or any other similar law or regulation), in each case,
applicable to the Reference Entity in a form which is binding, irrespective of whether such event is
expressly provided for under the terms of such obligations. The foregoing summary is not a
comprehensive list of events which may constitute a Credit Event, and such events are more fully
described in the Conditions. Applicable Credit Events in respect of a particular Reference Entity will be
set out in the terms of the Credit Linked Notes (which may be by reference to publicly available
documentation). The application of certain Credit Events with respect to certain Reference Entities may
be further varied by the terms of the Credit Linked Notes.

The market value of Credit Linked Notes will be linked to the market perception of the creditworthiness
of the relevant Reference Entity. Even where a Credit Event does not occur, the market value of the
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Credit Linked Notes may be adversely affected when the probability or perceived probability of a Credit
Event occurring in respect of any Reference Entity increases.

Buying a Credit Linked Note is not equivalent to investing in debt obligations of a Reference Entity. A
Credit Linked Note confers no rights in respect of any debt obligations of the relevant Reference Entity.
The holding of a Credit Linked Note is unlikely to lead to outcomes which exactly reflect the impact of
investing in an obligation of a Reference Entity. The Issuer's obligations in respect of Credit Linked
Notes are irrespective of the existence or amount of the Issuer's and/or any Affiliates' credit exposure
to a Reference Entity.

Certain Considerations Associated with Hybrid Notes

An investment in Hybrid Notes will entail significant risks not associated with an investment in a
conventional debt security. On redemption of Hybrid Notes Holders will receive an amount (if any)
determined by reference to the value of a number of different Underlying References. Hybrid Interest
Notes pay interest calculated by reference to the value of a number of different Underlying References.

6. Investment considerations associated with adjustment, disruption and related
redemption provisions in respect of the Underlying Reference Linked Notes

Description of Additional Disruption Event and Optional Additional Disruption Events

The Additional Disruption Events correspond to changes in law (including changes in tax or regulatory
capital requirements) and hedging disruptions in respect of any hedging transactions relating to the
Notes. The Optional Additional Disruption Events that may be specified in the applicable Final Terms
correspond to (in relation to Custom Index Linked Notes only) a material hindrance or delay to the
performance of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes (a Force Majeure Event), (in relation to Custom
Index Linked Notes only) a default by any hedging counterparty in respect of the Notes (a Hedging
Party Default), a materially increased cost of hedging (an Increased Cost of Hedging), an increase in
the rate to borrow any relevant share or any component of an Index (an Increased Cost of Stock
Borrow), insolvency of the relevant Share Company or Basket Company (an Insolvency Filing), an
inability to borrow any relevant share (a Loss of Stock Borrow), and/or a drop in the price of a Share
below 5 per cent. (or such other value specified in the applicable Final Terms) of its Strike Price (a Stop-
Loss Event). Each of the Additional Disruption Events and Optional Additional Disruption Events are
both more fully set out in the Conditions.
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USER'S GUIDE TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

1. INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this section (the "User's Guide") is to provide potential investors with a tool to help
them navigate through the various documents relating to Notes issued by BNPP under the Base
Prospectus.

2. DOCUMENTATION

For each issue of Notes under the Base Prospectus, the documents listed below will be available to
potential investors on an ongoing basis.

2.1 The Base Prospectus
This document:

o contains an overview of the contents of this Base Prospectus, the information relating to BNPP
and a section entitled "Risks" and a section entitled "Investment Considerations" describing the
risks and investment considerations relating to BNPP and the Notes;

) sets out the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (other than the specific commercial terms and
characteristics of a particular issue, in respect of which, see paragraph 2.3 below);

. sets out the possible specific characteristics of the Notes, including the type of rate of interest
or how the rate of interest is calculated and (in the case of Notes linked to one or more
Underlying Reference) the payout formulae used to calculate the amount(s) (if any) payable or
assets deliverable to the investors on redemption and the Underlying Reference(s); and

o (in the case of Notes linked to one or more Underlying Reference) details the terms specific to
each type of Underlying Reference linked Notes in the annexes to the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes.

2.2 The Supplement(s)

If a significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to the information included
in the Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting a potential investor's assessment of the Notes
arises, the Issuer will publish a supplement to the Base Prospectus. The supplement will be approved
by the Autorité des Marchés Financiers (the "AMF") in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus
Regulation and published on the website of the AMF (www.amf-france.org) and on the websites of
BNPP (https://invest.bnpparibas/en/search/debt/documents).

In accordance with Article 23.2 of the Prospectus Regulation, investors who have already agreed to
purchase or subscribe for Notes before the supplement is published have the right, exercisable within
two (2) working days after the publication of the supplement, to withdraw their acceptances, provided
that the significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy arose or was noted before the
closing of the offer period or the delivery of the Notes, whichever occurs later. Investors should be
aware, however, that the law of the jurisdiction in which they have accepted an offer of Notes may
provide for a longer time limit.

2.3 The Final Terms
The Final Terms will be prepared to document each specific issue of Notes. It will contain:

. the specific terms of the issue, including but not limited to: the number of Notes being issued,
the relevant identification codes and the currency of the Notes;

. the commercial terms of the issue, such as the rate of interest or how the rate of interest is
calculated and (in the case of Notes linked to one or more Underlying Reference) the payout
formula, any automatic early redemption provisions and the related definitions in respect of a
specific issue of Notes, as described in the Base Prospectus;

. (in the case of Notes linked to one or more Underlying Reference) the Underlying Reference(s)
to which the Notes are linked;
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. the relevant dates, such as the issue date, maturity date, and (applicable to Notes linked to one
or more Underlying Reference) the valuation or averaging date(s); and

) if required, a duly completed summary specific to such issue of Notes (the "issue specific
summary").

3. HOW TO NAVIGATE THE BASE PROSPECTUS

All Notes issued under the Base Prospectus will be subject to the generic sections of the Base
Prospectus summarised above. Investors should note that depending on the specific terms of an
issue of Notes not all sections of the Base Prospectus will be relevant to each issuance.

The table below lists all of the sections of the Base Prospectus and their applicability to each issue of
Notes:

Sections which are applicable to all Notes

Sections which are only applicable to specific issues of Notes
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Contents of the Base Prospectus

OVERVIEW OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS

RISKS

INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS 1. Sections providing general information on the
USER'S GUIDE TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS Base Prospectus, the Issuer and the Notes

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

2. Sections setting out the general terms
goveming the Notes

o TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES

o TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE FRENCH LAW NOTES 3. Section detaiing the different payout formulae
(applicable to Notes linked to one or more

Underlvina Reference)

e Additional Terms and Conditions for Payouts

4. Sections applicable to Notes depending on
the Underlying Reference(s). One or more
sections may apply depending on the
Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Notes Underlying Reference(s) (applicable to Notes

Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked Notes I EH D ET DI e eI R CeEs)
Additional Terms and Conditions for Inflation Linked Notes

Additional Terms and Conditions for Commodity Linked Notes

Additional Terms and Conditions for Fund Linked Notes

Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes

Additional Terms and Conditions for ETI Linked Notes

Additional Terms and Conditions for Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes
Additional Terms and Conditions for Underlying Interest Rate Linked Notes 6. Section relating to the Issuer

5. Sections describing BNPP indices and
connected third party indices

o DESCRIPTION OF BNPP INDICES
o CONNECTED THIRD PARTY INDICES

7. Sections providing additional general
information in respect of the Notes
e USE OF PROCEEDS

FORM OF THE NOTES

FORM OF FINAL TERMS

CLEARING SYSTEMS

TAXATION

U.S. DIVIDEND EQUIVALENT WITHHOLDING
FOREIGN ACCOUNT TAX COMPLIANCE ACT
CERTAIN CONSIDERATIONS FOR ERISA AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT
PLANS

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

o GENERAL INFORMATION

o RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
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4, HOW TO READ THE FINAL TERMS

The applicable Final Terms are divided in three parts:

o Part A, titted "CONTRACTUAL TERMS", which provides the specific contractual terms of the
Notes;

. Part B, titled "OTHER INFORMATION", which provides other information specific to the Notes;
and

. In the case of Notes where an issue specific summary is required, an issue specific summary

of the Notes will be appended to the Final Terms.

Exhaustive information on the characteristics of the Notes as set out in Parts A and B of the applicable
Final Terms is available in the Base Prospectus. The following diagram indicates the links between the
various clauses of Parts A and B of the applicable Final Terms and the corresponding sections of the
Base Prospectus set out above.

Information linked to sections from the Base Prospectus

TITLE
Issuer of the Notes

1. Sections providing general information
—» on the Base Prospectus, the Issuer and the
> Notes

Description and definitions relating to the
Notes 9

o 2. Sections setting out the general terms
——— > governing the Notes

Payout Formula (applicable to Notes linked _
to one or more underlying Reference)

PART A : P '
Description and definitions in respect of the ! . o .
CONTRACTUAL |y er1sing Reference(s) (applicable to N 3. Sections detailing the different payout
TERMS Notes linked to one or more underlying = . formulae

Reference)

4. Sections applicable to Notes depending
Information relating to Interest (if applicable) _ : on the Underlvin Reference(s) One or
or the redemption of the Notes . . ying .

more sections may apply depending on the
Underlying Reference(s)

Information specific to the Notes

Listing and admission to trading and rating

informati i
ometen N Y S 5. Sections describing BNPP indices and
. connected third party indices

PARTB : Information on performance of Underlying
Reference(s) and, other information relating
OTHER to the Underlying Reference(s) (applicable
INFORMATION o Notes linked to one or more underlying

Reference)

6. Section relating to the Issuer
Public Offer information (if applicable)

____________ 7. Sections providing additional general

) ' i information in respect of the Notes
ISSUE SPECIFIC SUMMARY (if applicable)
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The BNPP 2022 Universal Registration Document (in English) (as defined in "Documents Incorporated
by Reference" below) and the other documents incorporated by reference, contain forward-looking
statements. BNP Paribas and the BNP Paribas Group (being BNP Paribas together with its consolidated
subsidiaries, the "Group" or "BNP Paribas Group") may also make forward-looking statements in their
audited annual financial statements, in their interim financial statements, in their offering circulars, in
press releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by their officers, directors or
employees to third parties. Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about the
Bank's and/or Group's beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking statements. These statements are
based on current plans, estimates and projections, and therefore undue reliance should not be placed
on them. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and the Bank and the
Group undertake no obligation to update publicly any of them in light of new information or future events.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Most of the financial data presented or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus is presented
in euros.

BNP Paribas' consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2022 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS") as adopted by the European Union. The Group's fiscal year ends on 31 December and
references in the BNPP 2021 Universal Registration Document (in English) and the BNPP 2022
Universal Registration Document (in English) and any amendment to the BNPP 2022 Universal
Registration Document (in English) (in each case, as defined in "Documents Incorporated by
Reference" below and incorporated by reference herein) to any specific fiscal year are to the twelve-
month period ended 31 December of such year.

Due to rounding, the numbers presented or incorporated by reference throughout this Base Prospectus,
the BNPP 2021 Universal Registration Document (in English) and the BNPP 2022 Universal
Registration Document (in English) and any amendment to the BNPP 2022 Universal Registration
Document (in English) may not add up precisely, and percentages may not reflect precisely absolute
figures.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents which
have been previously published or are published simultaneously with this Base Prospectus and shall
be incorporated in, and form part of, this Base Prospectus:

(@)

(b)

(i) the terms and conditions of the Notes and (ii) the form of final terms, contained in each case
from the base prospectus or supplements listed in the table below (the "Previous EMTN
Conditions and Form of Final Terms");

the final terms for each Non-Exempt Offer (as defined below) extending beyond the validity of
the 2022 Base Prospectus (as defined below) (the "Offers Extending Beyond the Validity of
the Base Prospectus”);

BNPP's Document d’Enregistrement Universel au 31 décembre 2021 et rapport financier
annuel in English, including the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 and the statutory auditors' report thereon, other than the sections entitled
"Person Responsible for the Universal Registration Document" and the "Table of
Concordance", with filing number D.22-0156 (the "BNPP 2021 Universal Registration
Document (in English)");

BNPP's Document d'Enregistrement Universel au 31 décembre 2022 et rapport financier
annuel in English, including the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the statutory auditors' report thereon, other than the sections entitled
"Person Responsible for the Universal Registration Document" and the "Table of
Concordance", with filing number D.23-0143 (the "BNPP 2022 Universal Registration
Document (in English)"); and

the first Amendement au Document d'Enregistrement Universel 2022 (in English), other than
the sections entitled "Person Responsible for the Universal Registration Document" and the
"Table of Concordance", with filing number D.23-0143-A01 (the "First Amendment to the
BNPP 2022 Universal Registration Document (in English)"),

save that any statement contained herein or in a document which is deemed to be incorporated by
reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Document to the
extent that such statement is inconsistent with a statement contained in this Document or any
Supplement to this Document.

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either deemed not relevant for
an investor or are otherwise covered elsewhere in this Document.

The information incorporated by reference above is available as follows:

Previous EMTN Conditions and Final Terms

Document and website Information Page References
Incorporated by
Reference
2009 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus of BNPP and BNPP Arbitrage | May 2009 EMTN 51-221
Issuance B.V. dated 29 May 2009 as approved | Conditions
by the CSSF (the "2009 Base Prospectus") May 2009 Form of Final 231.283
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- Terms
prospectus-2009
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Supplement dated 26 February 2010 to the 2009 | February 2010 EMTN 78
Base Prospectus as approved by the CSSF Conditions
https://invest.bnpparibas/document/emtn- February 2010 Form of 79
prospectus-supplement-ndeg4-to-base- Final Terms
prospectus-29-05-2009 https://rates-
globalmarkets.bnpparibas.com/gm/Public/Alfres
coResource.aspx?path=%2F/Legal%20Docs/ind
ex_files/Resource 053.pdf
2010 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus dated 3 June 2010 of BNPP | 2010 EMTN Conditions 56-251
and BNPP Arbitrage Issuance B.V. as approved
by the CSSF (the "2010 Base Prospectus”)
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- 2010 Form of Final Terms 261-314
prospectus-2010
2011 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus of BNPP and BNPP Arbitrage | June 2011 EMTN 68-272
Issuance B.V. dated 7 June 2011 as approved by | Conditions
the AMF with visa number 11-208 (the "2011
Base Prospectus”)
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- %une 2011 Form of Final 282-335
erms
prospectus-2011
Supplement dated 15 February 2012 to the 2011 | February 2012 EMTN 129-135
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 12-071
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect February 2012 Form of 137-138
us-supplement-ndeg6-2 )
Final Terms
2012 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus of BNPP and BNPP Arbitrage | 2012 EMTN Conditions 76-286
Issuance B.V. dated 1 June 2012 as approved by
the AMF with visa number 12-239 (the "2012
Base Prospectus”)
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- 2012 Form of Final Terms 296-348
prospectus-2012
2013 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus of BNPP dated 3 June 2013 as | June 2013 EMTN 91-376

approved by the AMF with visa number 13-258
(the "2013 Base Prospectus")
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https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- June 2013 Form of Final 416-462
prospectus-2013 Terms
Supplement dated 2 October 2013 to the 2013 | October 2013 EMTN 11-13
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 13-523
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect
us-supplement-ndeg2-1 https://rates-
globalmarkets.bnpparibas.com/gm/Public/Alfres
coResource.aspx?path=%2F/Legal%20Docs/in
dex files/Supplement No2 BNPP EMTN date
d 2 OCTOBER 2013 FINAL with VISA.pdf
Supplement dated 19 November 2013 to the | November 2013 EMTN 6-14
2013 Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF | Conditions
with visa number 13-623
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect
us-supplement-ndeg4-1
Supplement dated 19 February 2014 to the 2013 | February 2014 EMTN 122
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 14-049
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect February 2014 Form of 131
us-supplement-ndeg6 )

Final Terms
Supplement dated 11 April 2014 to the 2013 | April 2014 EMTN 17-20
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 14-146
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect April 2014 Form of Final 25
us-supplement-ndeg1 T

erms

2014 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus dated 5 June 2014 of BNPP as | June 2014 EMTN 100-414
approved by the AMF with visa number 14-275 | Conditions
(the "2014 Base Prospectus")
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- June 2014 Form of Final 458-506
prospectus-2014

Terms
Supplement dated 10 July 2014 to the 2014 Base | July 2014 EMTN 12-15
Prospectus as approved by the AMF with visa | Conditions
number 14-390
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect July 2014 Form of Final 16

us-supplement-ndeg1

Terms
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Supplement dated 7 August 2014 to the 2014 | August 2014 EMTN 14-15
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 14-456
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect
us-supplement-ndeg?2
Supplement dated 22 September 2014 to the | September 2014 EMTN 7-124
2014 Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF | Conditions
with visa number 14-511
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect September 2014 Form of 195-126
us-supplement-ndeg3 .
Final Terms
Supplement dated 7 November 2014 to the 2014 | November 2014 EMTN 8-13
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 14-544
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect
us-supplement-ndeg4
Supplement dated 6 February 2015 to the 2014 | February 2015 EMTN 153-166
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 15-047
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect February 2015 Form of 169-170
us-supplement-ndeg5-3 )
Final Terms
2015 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus of BNPP dated 9 June 2015 as | June 2015 EMTN 109-508
approved by the AMF with visa number 15-263 | Conditions
(the "2015 Base Prospectus")
htrtopss:/e/’i;[\lljii.g?gparlbas/en/document/base- June 2015 Form of Final 557-610
prosp Terms
Supplement dated 15 February 2016 to the 2015 | February 2016 EMTN 162
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 16-050
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect
us-supplement-ndeg4-5
Supplement dated 18 March 2016 to the 2015 | March 2016 Form of Final 18

Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with
visa number 16-086

https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect
us-supplement-ndeg5-4

Terms

2016 Base Prospectus
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Base prospectus of BNPP dated 13 June 2016 | June 2016 EMTN 199-548
as approved by the AMF with visa number 16- | Conditions
242 (the "June 2016 Base Prospectus")
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- .
prospectus-2016 June 2016 Form of Final 605-660
Terms
Supplement dated 1 August 2016 to the June | August 2016 EMTN 17-18
2016 Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF | Conditions
with visa number 16-377
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect
us-supplement-ndeg1-10
Base prospectus of BNPP dated 9 December | December 2016 EMTN 229-588
2016 as approved by the AMF with visa number | Conditions
16-575 (the "December 2016 Base
Prospectus")
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- Eii(;?r'llj;?nzszow Form of 645-701
prospectus-visa-2016
Supplement dated 8 February 2017 to the | February 2017 EMTN 189-190
December 2016 Base Prospectus as approved | Conditions
by the AMF with visa number 17-055
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect February 2017 Form of 192
us-supplement-ndeg1-12 )
Final Terms
2017 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus of BNPP dated 2 August 2017 | August 2017 EMTN 240-613
as approved by the AMF with visa number 17- | Conditions
415 (the "2017 Base Prospectus”)
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- August 2017 Form of Final 673-733
prospectus-2017
Terms
Supplement dated 28 March 2018 to the 2017 | March 2018 Form of Final 63
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Terms
visa number 18-097
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect
us-supplement-ndeg3-7
2018 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus of BNPP dated 5 July 2018 as | July 2018 EMTN 257-677
approved by the AMF with visa number 18-288 | Conditions

(the "2018 Base Prospectus”)
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https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- July 2018 Form of Final 751-818
prospectus-2018 Terms
Supplement dated 6 August 2018 to the 2018 | August 2018 EMTN 16-17
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 18-364
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect
us-supplement-ndeg1-14
2019 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus of BNPP dated 5 July 2019 as | July 2019 EMTN 253-686
approved by the AMF with visa number 19-328 | Conditions
(the "2019 Base Prospectus")
htrtop::/e/!gnii.g?gpanbas/en/document/base- July 2019 Form of Final 763-830
prosp Terms
Supplement dated 10 December 2019 to the | December 2019 EMTN 8-10
2019 Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF | Conditions
with visa number 19-567
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect December 2019 Form of 11
us-supplement-ndeg3-9 :

Final Terms
2020 Base Prospectus
Base prospectus of BNPP dated 3 July 2020 as | July 2020 EMTN 106-572
approved by the AMF with visa number 20-314 | Conditions
(the "2020 Base Prospectus")
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- July 2020 Form of Final 650-719
prospectus-2020

Terms
Supplement dated 18 January 2021 to the 2020 | January 2021 EMTN 18-27
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 21-015
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect January 2021 Form of 58-33
us-supplement-ndeg4-9 ;

Final Terms
Supplement dated 19 February 2021 to the 2020 | February 2021 EMTN 189
Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions
visa number 21-043
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect February 2021 Form of 190-193

us-supplement-ndeg5-7

Final Terms
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Supplement dated 6 May 2021 to the 2020 Base | May 2021 Form of Final 9

Prospectus as approved by the AMF with visa | Terms

number 21-138

https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/prospect

us-supplement-ndeg7-4

2021 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus of BNPP dated 2 July 2021 as | July 2021 EMTN 114-614

approved by the AMF with visa number 21-273 | Conditions

(the "2021 Base Prospectus”)

https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/base- .

brospectus-2021 July 2021 Form of Final 624-697
Terms

Supplement dated 4 November 2021 to the 2021 | November 2021 EMTN 12-13

Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions

visa number 21-471

https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/emtn-

prospectus-supplement-ndeg2-to-base-

prospectus-02-07-2021

Supplement dated 14 February 2022 to the 2021 | February 2022 EMTN 182

Base Prospectus as approved by the AMF with | Conditions

visa number 22-029

https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/emtn-

prospectus-supplement-ndeg3-to-base-

prospectus-02-07-2021

2022 Base Prospectus

Base prospectus of BNPP dated 1 July 2022 as | July 2022 EMTN 116-651

approved by the AMF with visa number 22-263 | Conditions

(the "2022 Base Prospectus")

https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/emtn- )

base-prospectus-01-07-2022 \_:_Lélrym§022 Form of Final 661-732

Offers Extending Beyond the Validity of the Base Prospectus

ISIN Website

XS52638920467 https://eqdpo.bnpparibas.com/XS52638920467

BNP PARIBAS

Information incorporated by
reference

Headings as listed by Annex 1
of the Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2019/980

Page Reference

BNPP 2022 Universal
Registration Document (in
English) -
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/docu

ment/universal-registration-
document-and-annual-financial-

report-2022

First Amendment to the
BNPP 2022 Universal
Registration Document (in
English) —
https://invest.bnpparibas/en/docum
ent/1st-amendment-to-the-2022-
universal-registration-document
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Statutory auditors 742 109

Risk factors 315-330 122

Information about 4-6; 751-753 N/A

the Issuer

Business overview

5.1 Principal 7-19; 223-226; 726-732 N/A
activities

5.2 Principal 7-19; 223-226; 726-732 N/A
markets

5.3 History and 6 N/A
development
of the issuer

5.4 Strategy and 153-156; 626-627; 686-687; N/A
objectives 703

5.5 Possible 724 N/A
dependency

5.6 Basis for any 7-19; 128-144 N/A
statements
made by the
issuer
regarding its
competitive
position

5.7 Investments 274-275; 612; 672-673; 725 N/A

Organisational

structure

6.1 Brief 4; 686-687 N/A
description

6.2 List of 287-295; 604-611; 726-731 N/A
significant
subsidiaries

Operating and

financial review

71 Financial 156; 176; 178; 574-575 3-71
situation

7.2 Operating 128-144; 151-152; 159-165; 59-71

results

176; 224; 574

Capital resources

8.1 Issuer’s
capital
resources

180-181; 599

50-52; 56-58; 75-82

8.2 Sources and
amounts of
cash flows

179

N/A

8.3 Borrowing
requirements
and funding
structure

156; 502-519

16
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Regulatory
environment

305; 313-314

N/A

10.

Trend information

10.1 Main recent
trends

153-156; 725

84

10.2  Trends likely
to have a
material
impact on the
Issuer's
outlook

153-156; 725

84

11.

Profit forecasts or
estimates

N/A

N/A

12,

Administrative,
management, and
supervisory bodies,
and senior
management

12.1 Administrative
and
management
bodies

35-48; 110

N/A

12.2  Administrative
and
management
bodies’
conflicts of
interest

53-54; 67-68; 78-106

N/A

13.

Remuneration and
benefits

13.1 Total amounts
set aside or
accrued by
the Issuer or
its
subsidiaries to
provide
pension,
retirement or
similar
benefits

78-106; 262-270; 283-284

86-108

13.2  Amount of
remuneration
paid and
benefits in
kind granted

78-106; 262-270; 283-284

86-108

14.

Board practices

141 Date of expiry
of the current
terms of office

35-47

N/A

14.2 Information
about
members of

N/A

N/A
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the
administrative
bodies’
service
contracts with
the Issuer

14.3

Information
about the
audit
committee
and
remuneration
committee

56-63

N/A

14.4

Corporate
governance
regime in
force in the
Issuer’s
country of
incorporation

49-56

N/A

14.5

Potential
material
impacts on
the corporate
governance

35-47

N/A

15.

Employees

15.1

Number of
employees

4; 653-654; 686

N/A

15.2

Shareholdings
and stock
options

78-106; 208-209; 660-661

N/A

15.3

Information
about
members of
the
administrative
bodies’
service
contracts with
the Issuer

N/A

N/A

16.

Major shareholders

16.1

Shareholders
owning more
than 5% of
the Issuer’s
capital or
voting rights

20-21

N/A

16.2

Existence of
different
voting rights

20

N/A

16.3

Control of the
Issuer

20-21

N/A
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16.4  Description of | 21 N/A
any
arrangements
, known to the
Issuer, the
operation of
which may at
a subsequent
date result in
a change of
control of the
Issuer
17. Related party 78-106; 284-285; 738-739 N/A
transactions
18. Financial
information
concerning the
Issuer’s assets and
liabilities, financial
position, and profits
and losses
18.1 Historical 5;24; 128-296; 574-612 59-71
financial
information
18.2 Interim and N/A 59-71
other financial
information
18.3  Auditing of 297-302; 613-618 N/A
historical
annual
financial
information
18.4  Pro forma N/A N/A
financial
information
18.5 Dividend 24; 27-28; 156; 602 N/A
policy
18.6 Legal and 273-274 84-85
arbitration
proceedings
18.7  Significant 725 84
change in the
Issuer’s
financial or
trading
position
19. Additional
information
19.1 Share capital | 20; 271-273; 593-595; 733; N/A

760

96



DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

19.2 Memorandum | 733-738 N/A
and articles of
association
20. Material contracts 724 N/A
21. Documents on 724 84
display
Information Incorporated by Reference | Page Reference

2021 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BNPP 2021 Universal Registration Document (in English)
https.//invest.bnpparibas/en/qroupe-de-document/universal-registration-document-and-annual-financial-report-
2021
Profit and loss account for the year ended 31 180
December 2021

Statement of net income and changes in assets | 181
and liabilities recognised directly in equity

Balance sheet at 31 December 2021 182
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 183
December 2021

Statement of changes in shareholders' equity 184; 185
between 1 January 2021 and 31 December

2021

Notes to the financial statements prepared in 186-290

accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union

Statutory Auditors' report on the Consolidated 291-296
Financial Statements of BNP Paribas for the
year ended 31 December 2021

2022 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BNPP 2022 Universal Registration Document (in English)
https.//invest.bnpparibas/en/document/universal-reqistration-document-and-annual-financial-report-2022
Profit and loss account for the year ended 31 176
December 2022

Statement of net income and changes in assets | 177
and liabilities recognised directly in equity

Balance sheet at 31 December 2022 178
Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 179
December 2022

Statement of changes in shareholders' equity 180-181
between 1 January 2022 and 31 December

2022

Notes to the financial statements prepared in 182-296

accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union

Statutory Auditors' report on the Consolidated 297-302
Financial Statements of BNP Paribas for the
year ended 31 December 2022

Information contained in the documents incorporated by reference other than information listed in the
tables above is for information purposes only.
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The Issuer will provide, free of charge, to each person to whom a copy of this Document has been
delivered, upon the oral or written request of such person, a copy of any or all of the documents which
are incorporated herein by reference. Written or oral requests for such documents should be directed
to the Issuer at its principal office set out at the end of this Document.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus a supplement may be prepared by the Issuer and
approved by the AMF in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation. Statements
contained in any such supplement (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein)
shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to modify or
supersede statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document which is incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so
modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

BNPP has given an undertaking in connection with the listing of the Notes on Euronext Paris to the
effect that, so long as any Note remains outstanding and listed on such Exchange, in the event of any
adverse change in the condition of the Issuer which is material in the context of the Programme and
which is not reflected in this Document, it will prepare a further supplement to this Document or publish
a new base prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed on
Euronext Paris. If the terms of the Programme are modified or amended in a manner which would make
this Document, as supplemented, inaccurate or misleading, a new base prospectus will be prepared.

In relation to any issue of Notes, the applicable Final Terms should be read in conjunction with this
Document.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES

CONTENTS

1. Form, Denomination, Title and TranSfer ... e 101
2. STAtUS Of the NOTES ... e 105
3. Interest and AER Rate ......cc.eiiiiiiiee e 108
4. Payments, Physical Delivery and Exchange of Talons...........ccocvviiiiiieeiiee i 169
5. Redemption and PUICNASE ..........cooiiiiiiiiie e 186
6. LI V- Lo o PP PRR PRSP 202
7. RedenOmMINALION .....cooiii e 204
8. Events of Default and Enforcement .. ... 205
9. L T T o4 o] 1o} o ST 206
10. Replacement of Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons ...........ccceeiereneenieneniee e 206
11. U (= g T U =R 206
12. [0 o T PR 207
13. Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver ..........cccccooevecciiieiie e 207
14. Agents and ReGISIIar .......oouei i e 209
15. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) ACt 1999 .......cooiii i 209
16. Governing Law and submission to juriSAiCtioN............coooueeiiiiiiiieieeeesee e 209
17. Recognition of Bail-in and Loss ADSOIPLioN ........c.ceiiiiiiiiie e 210

The following are the terms and conditions of the Notes which will include the additional terms and
conditions for payouts for Notes contained in Annex 1, the additional terms and conditions contained in
Annex 2 in the case of Index Linked Notes, the additional terms and conditions contained in Annex 3 in
the case of Share Linked Notes, the additional terms and conditions contained in Annex 4 in the case
of Inflation Linked Notes, the additional terms and conditions contained in Annex 5 in the case of
Commodity Linked Notes, the additional terms and conditions contained in Annex 6 in the case of Fund
Linked Notes, the additional terms and conditions contained in Annex 7 in the case of Credit Linked
Notes, the additional terms and conditions contained in Annex 8 in the case of ETI Linked Notes, the
additional terms and conditions in Annex 9 in the case of Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Notes
and the additional terms and conditions contained in Annex 10 in the case of Underlying Interest Rate
Linked Notes which, subject to completion in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Final
Terms for the purpose of a specific issue of Notes, will be attached to or incorporated by reference into
each Global Note and which will be endorsed upon each definitive Note. The applicable Final Terms
will be incorporated into, or attached to, each Global Note and endorsed upon each definitive Note.
Reference should be made to "Form of the Notes" below for a description of the content of Final Terms
which will include the definitions of certain terms used in the following Terms and Conditions or specify
which of such terms are to apply in relation to the relevant Notes.

This Note is one of a Series of the Notes ("Notes", which expression shall mean (i) in relation to any
Notes represented by a Note in global form (a "Global Note", which term shall include any Bearer
Global Note or Registered Global Note), units of the lowest Specified Denomination (as specified in the
applicable Final Terms) in the Specified Currency of the relevant Notes, (ii) definitive Notes issued in
exchange (or part exchange) for a Global Note and (iii) any Global Note) issued by BNP Paribas
("BNPP" or the "lssuer")) subject to, and with the benefit of, an amended and restated agency
agreement (the "Agency Agreement", which expression includes the same as it may be updated or
supplemented from time to time) dated on or around 30 June 2023 and made between BNPP as issuer,
BNP Paribas as Luxembourg listing agent, principal paying agent, transfer agent and, if specified in the
applicable Final Terms, calculation agent (the "Principal Paying Agent" and "Transfer Agent" which
expressions shall include any successor as principal paying agent or transfer agent and the
"Calculation Agent" which expression shall include any other calculation agent specified in the
applicable Final Terms), BNP Paribas Succursale de Luxembourg as registrar (the "Registrar", which

99



TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES

expression shall include any successor registrar) and the other paying agents and transfer agents
named therein (together with the Principal Paying Agent, the "Paying Agents" and "Transfer Agents"
which expressions shall include any additional or successor paying agents or transfer agents). The
Principal Paying Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agents are referred to together as the "Agents".

The final terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final Terms
attached to or endorsed on this Note which complete these Terms and Conditions (the "Conditions")
and, if this Note is a Note which is neither admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European
Economic Area nor offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is
required to be published under the Prospectus Regulation (an "Exempt Note"), may specify other terms
and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the Conditions,
replace or modify the Conditions for the purposes of this Note. References to the "applicable Final
Terms" are, unless otherwise stated, to Part A of the Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof)
attached to or endorsed on this Note.

The expression "Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended.

As used herein, "Tranche" means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing) and
"Series" means each original issue of Notes together with any further issues which (a) are expressed
to be consolidated and form a single series with the original issue and (b) have the same terms and
conditions or terms and conditions which are the same in all respects save for the Issue Date, Issue
Price, the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon (if any) and/or the date from which
interest (if any) starts to accrue and the expressions "Notes of the relevant Series" and "Noteholders
of the relevant Series" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

The holders for the time being of the Notes ("Noteholders"), which expression shall, in relation to any
Notes represented by a Global Note, be construed as provided in Condition 1, the holders of the
Coupons (as defined below) appertaining to interest-bearing definitive Bearer Notes
(the "Couponholders"), the holders of the Talons (the "Talonholders") and the holders of the Receipts
(the "Receiptholders") are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions
of the Agency Agreement and the applicable Final Terms, which are binding on them. Certain
statements in these Terms and Conditions are summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions
of the Agency Agreement. If the Notes are to be admitted to trading on Euronext Paris or, as the case
may be, a Regulated Market (including the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(including the professional segment of the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange)) or
the Euro MTF exchange regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the "Euro MTF Market")
(including the professional segment of the Euro MTF) the applicable Final Terms will be published on
the website of Euronext Paris or the relevant Regulated Market, as applicable. If this Note is an Exempt
Note, the applicable Final Terms will only be obtainable by a Noteholder holding one or more Notes and
such Noteholder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the relevant Paying Agent as to
its holding of such Notes and identity. Copies of the Agency Agreement (which contains the form of
Final Terms) and the Final Terms for the Notes of this Series (i) are available from the principal office
of the Principal Paying Agent and the Paying Agents set out at the end of these Terms and Conditions
or (ii) may be provided by email to a Noteholder following their prior written request to the Principal
Paying Agent, the relevant Paying Agent or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) and
provision of proof of holding and identity (in a form satisfactory to the relevant Agent).

The Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders are entitled to the benefit of the amended
and restated deed of covenant (the "Deed of Covenant") dated on or around 30 June 2023 and made
by the Issuer. The original of the Deed of Covenant is held by a common depositary on behalf of
Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking S.A., Luxembourg ("Clearstream, Luxembourg").

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so
permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system (including
The Depository Trust Company, CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. ("CDS") and Euroclear
France and the Intermédiaires habilités authorised to maintain accounts therein (together, "Euroclear
France")) approved by the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent. Exempt Notes denominated in
Canadian dollars may be settled and cleared through CDS.
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Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement or defined or set out in the applicable Final
Terms (which term, as used herein, means, in relation to this Note, the Final Terms attached hereto or
endorsed hereon) shall have the same meanings where used in these Terms and Conditions unless
the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of any
inconsistency between the Agency Agreement and the applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final
Terms will prevail.

1. Form, Denomination, Title and Transfer

(a)

Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or registered form ("Registered Notes")
in the Specified Currency and Specified Denomination(s) and definitive Notes will be
serially numbered. This Note is a Senior Note or a Subordinated Note as indicated in
the applicable Final Terms. This Note is, to the extent specified in the applicable Final
Terms, a Fixed Rate Note, a Resettable Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon
Note and/or a Note with interest linked to one or more, or a combination of, underlying
reference asset(s) or basis (bases) (each an "Underlying Reference(s)") specified in
the applicable Final Terms ("Linked Interest Notes") such as an Index Linked Interest
Note, a Share Linked Interest Note, an Inflation Linked Interest Note, a Commaodity
Linked Interest Note, a Fund Linked Interest Note, an ETI Linked Interest Note, a
Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Interest Linked Note, an Underlying Interest Rate Linked
Interest Note or (in the case of a combination of underlying reference assets or bases)
a Hybrid Interest Note or, subject to all applicable laws and regulations, any other type
of Note depending on the Interest Basis specified in the applicable Final Terms. This
Note may be an Index Linked Redemption Note, a Share Linked Redemption Note, an
Inflation Linked Redemption Note, a Commodity Linked Redemption Note, a Fund
Linked Redemption Note, a Credit Linked Note, an ETI Linked Redemption Note, a
Foreign Exchange (FX) Rate Linked Redemption Note, an Underlying Interest Rate
Linked Redemption Note, a Note with redemption linked to any combination of
underlying reference assets or bases (a "Hybrid Redemption Note" and together with
a Hybrid Interest Note, "Hybrid Notes"), an Instalment Note, a Partly Paid Note or any
combination thereof or, subject to all applicable laws and regulations, any other type of
Note depending on the Redemption/Payment Basis specified in the applicable Final
Terms. If it is a definitive Bearer Note, it is issued with coupons for the payment of
interest ("Coupons") attached and, if applicable, talons for further Coupons ("Talons")
attached unless it is a Zero Coupon Note in which case references to interest (other
than in the case of late payment) and Coupons in these Terms and Conditions are not
applicable. If it is a definitive Bearer Note Instalment Note it is issued with receipts
("Receipts") for the payment of instalments of principal prior to stated maturity
attached. Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to Coupon(s), Couponholder(s)
or coupon(s) shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a
reference to Talon(s), Talonholder(s) or talon(s).

If the Notes are Hybrid Interest Notes and/or Hybrid Redemption Notes and Hybrid
Notes is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the terms and conditions
of the Notes will be construed on the basis that in respect of each separate type of
Underlying Reference, the relevant terms applicable to each such separate type of
Underlying Reference will apply, as the context admits, separately and independently
in respect of the relevant type of Underlying Reference, except as specified in the
applicable Final Terms. "Hybrid Business Day" has the meaning given to such term
in the applicable Final Terms.

Subject as set out below, title to the Bearer Notes, the Coupons and the Receipts will
pass by delivery and title to Registered Notes will pass upon registration of transfers in
accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement. The holder of each Coupon
or Receipt, whether or not such Coupon or Receipt is attached to a Bearer Note, in his
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capacity as such, shall be subject to and bound by all the provisions contained in the
relevant Note. The Issuer and any Agent, to the extent permitted by applicable law,
may deem and treat the bearer of any Bearer Note, Coupon or Receipt as the absolute
owner thereof (whether or not such Bearer Note, Coupon or Receipt shall be overdue
and notwithstanding any notation of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any
previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes but, in the case of any Bearer Global
Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out below.

The Issuer has appointed the Registrar at its office specified below to act as registrar
of the Registered Notes. The Issuer shall cause to be kept at the specified office of the
Registrar for the time being at 60, avenue J.F. Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg, a register
(the "Register"”) on which shall be entered, inter alia, the name and address of the
holder of the Registered Notes and particulars of all transfers of title to the Registered
Notes.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Bearer Global Note or a Registered
Global Note (each as defined in Condition 1(b)(vi) below) held on behalf of Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of
Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes
(in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any
person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest
error) shall be treated by the Issuer and the Agents as the holder of such nominal
amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of
principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the
bearer of the relevant Bearer Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant
Registered Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and any Agent as the holder of
such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the
relevant Global Note and the expressions "Noteholder’ and "Noteholders" and
related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

For so long as any of the Notes are represented by a Bearer Global Note or a
Registered Global Note (each as defined in Condition 1(b)(vi) below) held by or on
behalf of the HKMA as the operator of the CMU ("CMU operator"), each person for
whose account interest in the relevant Bearer Global Note or Registered Global Note
is credited as being held in the CMU, as notified by the CMU to the CMU Lodging Agent
in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report, or any other relevant notification by the
CMU (which notification, in either case, shall be conclusive evidence of the records of
the CMU save in the case of manifest error), shall be treated by the Issuer and any
Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and
subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions "Noteholder" and
"Noteholders" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance
with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, or the CMU or such other clearing system approved by the Issuer or the
Principal Paying Agent.

Transfers of Registered Notes
(i) Transfers of interests in Registered Global Notes

Transfers of beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be effected by
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU, as the case may be, and, in
turn, by other participants and, if appropriate, indirect participants in such
clearing systems acting on behalf of beneficial transferors and transferees of
such interests. A beneficial interest in a Registered Global Note will, subject to
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compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, be transferable
for Notes in definitive form or for a beneficial interest in another Registered
Global Note only in the Specified Denominations set out in the applicable Final
Terms and only in accordance with the rules and operating procedures for the
time being of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU, as the case
may be and in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the
Agency Agreement.

Transfers of Registered Notes in definitive form

Subject as provided in paragraph (iii) below, upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in the Agency Agreement, a Registered Note in definitive
form may be transferred in whole or in part (in the Specified Denominations set
out in the applicable Final Terms). In order to effect any such transfer (i) the
holder or holders must (a) surrender the Registered Note for registration of the
transfer of the Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Registered Note) at
the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, with the form of
transfer thereon duly executed by the holder or holders thereof or his or their
attorney or attorneys duly authorised in writing and (b) complete and deposit
such other certifications as may be required by the Registrar or, as the case
may be, the relevant Transfer Agent and (ii) the Registrar or, as the case may
be, the relevant Transfer Agent must, after due and careful enquiry, be satisfied
with the documents of title and the identity of the person making the request.
Any such transfer will be subject to such reasonable regulations as the Issuer
and the Registrar may from time to time prescribe (the initial such regulations
being set out in Schedule 9 to the Agency Agreement). Subject as provided
above, the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent will,
within three business days (being for this purpose a day on which banks are
open for business in the city where the specified office of the Registrar or, as
the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent is located) of the request (or such
longer period as may be required to comply with any applicable fiscal or other
laws or regulations), authenticate and deliver, or procure the authentication
and delivery of, at its specified office to the transferee or (at the risk of the
transferee) send by uninsured mail to such address as the transferee may
request, a new Registered Note in definitive form of a like aggregate nominal
amount to the Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Registered Note)
transferred. In the case of the transfer of part only of a Registered Note in
definitive form, a new Registered Note in definitive form in respect of the
balance of the Registered Note not transferred will be so authenticated and
delivered or (at the risk of the transferor) sent to the transferor.

Registration of transfer upon partial redemption

In the event of a partial redemption of Notes under Condition 5, the Issuer shall
not be required to register the transfer of any Registered Note, or part of a
Registered Note, called for partial redemption.

Costs of registration

Noteholders will not be required to bear the costs and expenses of effecting
any registration of transfer as provided above, except for any costs or
expenses of delivery other than by regular uninsured mail and except that the
Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp duty,
tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to the
registration.

Exchanges and transfers of Registered Notes generally
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Holders of Registered Notes in definitive form may exchange such Notes for
interests in a Registered Global Note of the same type at any time. Prior to
expiry of the applicable Distribution Compliance Period (as defined below),
transfers by the holder of, or of a beneficial interest in, a Global Note may be
made to a transferee in the United States or who is a U.S. person under
Regulation S (or for the account or benefit of such person) only pursuant to an
exemption from the registration requirements of the United States Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").

Definitions
In this Condition, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

"Bearer Global Note" means a global note (temporary or permanent) in bearer
form;

"CMU" or "CMU Service" means the Central Moneymarkets Unit Service (or
any lawful successor thereto), being the book-entry clearing system operated
by the HKMA;

"CMU Instrument Position Report" means the instrument position report
showing the aggregate nominal value of the instrument specified therein held
by CMU Members in the CMU securities accounts, as prepared from time to
time by the CMU, and provided to the relevant paying agent of such instrument,
in the form shown in Appendix E.2 of the CMU Manual;

"CMU Lodging Agent" shall be the agent appointed in such role by the Issuer
and specified in the applicable Final Terms (which expression shall include any
successor CMU lodging agent);

"CMU Manual" means the reference manual relating to the operation of the
CMU Service issued by the HKMA to CMU Members, as amended from time
to time;

"CMU Member" means any member of the CMU Service;

"CMU Paying Agent" shall be the agent appointed in such role by the Issuer
and specified in the applicable Final Terms (which expression shall include any
successor CMU paying agent);

"CMU Rules" means all requirements of the CMU Service for the time being
applicable to a CMU Member and includes (a) all the obligations for the time
being applicable to a CMU Member under or by virtue of its membership
agreement with the CMU Service and the CMU Manual; (b) all the operating
procedures as set out in the CMU Manual for the time being in force in so far
as such procedures are applicable to a CMU Member; and (c) any directions
for the time being in force and applicable to a CMU Member given by the HKMA
through any operational circulars or pursuant to any provision of its
membership agreement with the HKMA or the CMU Manual;

"Distribution Compliance Period" means the period that ends 40 days after
the completion of the distribution of each Tranche of Notes, as determined and
certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the
relevant Lead Manager (in the case of a syndicated issue);

"HKMA" means the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, the government authority
in Hong Kong with responsibility for maintaining currency and banking stability,
or any lawful successor thereto;

"Hong Kong" means the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People's Republic of China;

104



TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES

"Registered Global Note" means a global note in registered form; and
"Regulation S" means Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Status of the Notes

(a) Status of Senior Notes

Senior Notes may be Senior Preferred Notes or Senior Non Preferred Notes, as specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

(1) If the Notes are "Senior Preferred Notes", the Notes will be Senior Preferred
Obligations and the Notes and (if applicable) the relative Coupons are direct,
unconditional, unsecured and senior obligations of the Issuer and rank and will at all
times rank:

(X) pari passu among themselves and with other Senior Preferred Obligations;
(Y) senior to Senior Non Preferred Obligations; and
(2) junior to present and future claims benefiting from other preferred exceptions.

Subject to applicable law, in the event of the voluntary or judicial liquidation (/iquidation amiable
ou liquidation judiciaire) of the Issuer, bankruptcy proceedings or any other similar proceedings
affecting the Issuer, the rights of Noteholders to payment under the Senior Preferred Notes
rank:

A. junior to present and future claims benefiting from other preferred exceptions;
and
B. senior to Senior Non Preferred Obligations.
(2) If the Notes are "Senior Non Preferred Notes", the Notes will be Senior Non Preferred

Obligations and the Notes and (if applicable) the relative Coupons are direct,
unconditional, unsecured and senior obligations of the Issuer and rank and will at all
times rank:

(X) pari passu among themselves and with other Senior Non Preferred
Obligations;

(Y) senior to Eligible Creditors of the Issuer, Ordinarily Subordinated Obligations
and any other present or future claims otherwise ranking junior to Senior Non
Preferred Obligations; and

(2) junior to present and future claims benefiting from preferred exceptions
including Senior Preferred Obligations.

Subject to applicable law, in the event of the voluntary or judicial liquidation (/iquidation amiable
ou liquidation judiciaire) of the Issuer, bankruptcy proceedings or any other similar proceedings
affecting the Issuer, the rights of Noteholders to payment under the Senior Non Preferred Notes
rank:

junior to Senior Preferred Obligations; and

B. senior to any Eligible Creditors of the Issuer, Ordinarily Subordinated
Obligations and any other present or future claims otherwise ranking junior to
Senior Non Preferred Obligations.

"Eligible Creditors" means creditors holding subordinated claims (including subordinated
securities issued pursuant to article L. 228-97 of the French Code de commerce) that rank or
are expressed to rank senior to obligations or instruments of the Issuer that constitute Ordinarily
Subordinated Obligations.
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"Ordinarily Subordinated Obligations” means any subordinated obligations (including
subordinated securities issued pursuant to article L. 228-97 of the French Code de commerce)
or other instruments issued by the Issuer which rank, or are expressed to rank, pari passu
among themselves, and are direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of
the Issuer but in priority to préts participatifs granted to the Issuer, titres participatifs issued by
the Issuer and any deeply subordinated obligations of the Issuer (engagements dits "super
subordonnés”, i.e. engagements subordonnés de dernier rang).

"Senior Non Preferred Obligations" means any senior (chirographaires) obligations
(including the Senior Non Preferred Notes) of, or other instruments issued by, the Issuer which
fall or are expressed to fall within the category of obligations described in Article L. 613-30-3—
I-4°. of the French Code monétaire et financier.

"Senior Preferred Obligations" means any senior obligations (including the Senior Preferred
Notes) of, or other instruments issued by, the Issuer, which fall or are expressed to fall within
the category of obligations described in Article L. 613-30-3—I-3°. of the French Code monétaire
et financier.

(b) Status of Subordinated Notes

It is the intention of the Issuer that the proceeds of the issue of the Subordinated Notes
be treated for regulatory purposes as Tier 2 Capital. Condition 2(b)(i) will apply in
respect of the Subordinated Notes for so long as such Subordinated Notes are treated
for regulatory purposes as Tier 2 Capital (such Subordinated Notes being hereafter
referred to as "Qualifying Subordinated Notes"). Should the principal and interest of
any outstanding Qualifying Subordinated Notes be fully excluded from Tier 2 Capital
(the "Disqualified Subordinated Notes"), Condition 2(b)(ii) will automatically replace
and supersede Condition 2(b)(i) for such Disqualified Subordinated Notes without the
need for any action from the Issuer and without consultation of the holders of such
Subordinated Notes or the holders of any other Notes outstanding at such time.

The Subordinated Notes are issued pursuant to the provisions of Article L. 228-97 of
the French Code de commerce.

() Status of Qualifying Subordinated Notes

If the Notes are Qualifying Subordinated Notes, subject as provided in sub-
paragraph (ii) below, their principal and interest constitute and will constitute
direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of BNPP and
rank and will rank pari passu among themselves and pari passu with any
obligations or instruments of BNPP that constitute Ordinarily Subordinated
Obligations.

Subject to applicable law, in the event of the voluntary or judicial liquidation of
(liquidation amiable ou liquidation judiciaire) BNPP, bankruptcy proceedings,
or any other similar proceedings affecting BNPP, the rights of the holders in
respect of principal and interest to payment under the Qualifying Subordinated
Notes will be:

(A) subordinated to the full payment of:
(1) the unsubordinated creditors of BNPP;

(2) any subordinated creditor ranking or expressed to rank senior
to the Disqualified Subordinated Notes;

(3) any Disqualified Subordinated Note issued by BNPP; and
(4) Eligible Creditors of BNPP; and

(B) paid in priority to any préts participatifs granted to BNPP, titres
participatifs issued by BNPP and any deeply subordinated obligations
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of BNPP (obligations dites "super subordonnées” i.e. engagements
subordonnés de dernier rang).

Status of Disqualified Subordinated Notes

If the Notes are Disqualified Subordinated Notes, their principal and interest
constitute and will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated
obligations (in accordance with Paragraph 5° of Article L. 613-30-3 | of the
French Code monétaire et financier created by Ordinance No.2020-1636 dated
21 December 2020 relating to the resolution regime in the banking sector
implementing Article 48(7) of BRRD under French law) of BNPP and rank and
will rank pari passu (a) among themselves and (b) with any and all instruments
that have (or will have) such rank (including for the avoidance of doubt
instruments issued on or after 28 December 2020 initially treated as Additional
Tier 1 Capital and which subsequently lost such treatment).

Subject to applicable law, in the event of the voluntary or judicial liquidation of
BNPP (liquidation amiable ou liquidation judiciaire), bankruptcy proceedings,
or any other similar proceedings affecting BNPP, the rights of the holders in
respect of principal and interest to payment under the Disqualified
Subordinated Notes will be:

(A) subordinated to the full payment of the unsubordinated creditors of
BNPP and any subordinated creditor ranking or expressed to rank
senior to the Disqualified Subordinated Notes; and

(B) paid in priority to Eligible Creditors of BNPP, Qualifying Subordinated
Notes issued by BNPP, any préts participatifs granted to BNPP, titres
participatifs issued by BNPP and any deeply subordinated obligations
of BNPP (obligations dites "super subordonnées” i.e. engagements
subordonnés de dernier rang).

"Eligible Creditors" means creditors holding subordinated claims (including
subordinated securities issued pursuant to article L. 228-97 of the French Code
de commerce) that rank or are expressed to rank (i) senior to obligations or
instruments of the Issuer that constitute Ordinarily Subordinated Obligations
and (ii) junior to Disqualified Subordinated Notes.

"Ordinarily Subordinated Obligations" means any subordinated obligations
(including subordinated securities issued pursuant to article L. 228-97 of the
French Code de commerce) or other instruments issued by the Issuer which
rank, or are expressed to rank, pari passu among themselves, and are direct,
unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer but in
priority to préts participatifs granted to the Issuer, titres participatifs issued by
the Issuer and any deeply subordinated obligations of the Issuer (engagements
dits "super subordonnés”, i.e. engagements subordonnés de dernier rang).

Waiver of Set-Off

No holder of any Note, Receipt or Coupon may at any time exercise or claim any

Waived Set-Off Rights against any right, claim, or liability the Issuer has or may have

or acquire against such holder, directly or indirectly, howsoever arising (and, for the
avoidance of doubt, including all such rights, claims and liabilities arising under or in
relation to any and all agreements or other instruments of any sort or any non-

contractual obligations, in each case whether or not relating to such Note, Receipt or

Coupon) and each such holder shall be deemed to have waived all Waived Set-Off
Rights to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law in relation to all such actual and
potential rights, claims and liabilities.
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For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Condition 2(c) is intended to provide or shall
be construed as acknowledging any right of deduction, set-off, netting, compensation,
retention or counterclaim or that any such right is or would be available to any holder
of any Note, Receipt or Coupon but for this Condition 2(c).

For the purposes of this Condition 2(c), "Waived Set-Off Rights" means any and all
rights of or claims of any holder of any Note, Receipt or Coupon for deduction, set-off,
netting, compensation, retention or counterclaim arising directly or indirectly under or
in connection with any such Note, Receipt or Coupon.

There is no negative pledge in respect of the Notes nor any guarantee in respect of the
Notes.

Potential impact of resolution

The potential impact on the Notes in the event of the resolution of the Issuer is detailed
in Condition 17 (Recognition of Bail-in and Loss Absorption).

3. Interest and AER Rate

(@)

Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement
Date at the rate(s) specified per annum (or otherwise) equal to the Rate(s) of Interest.
Interest will accrue in respect of each Interest Period (which expressions shall in these
Terms and Conditions mean the period from (and including) an Interest Period End
Date (or if none the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first)
Interest Period End Date (each such latter date the "Interest Period End Final Date"
for the relevant Interest Period)).

Interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year up to
(and including) the Maturity Date. If an Interest Payment Date falls after the Interest
Period End Final Date in respect of the relevant Interest Period, no additional interest
or other amount shall be payable as a result of such interest being payable on such
later date.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms as applying to
an Interest Period End Date or an Interest Payment Date and (x) if there is no
numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Period End
Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, should occur or (y) if any Interest
Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, would otherwise fall
on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified
is:

(i) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End Date or
Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be postponed to the next day
which is a Business Day; or

(i) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End
Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be postponed to the
next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event such Interest Period End Date or Interest
Payment Date, as the case may be shall be brought forward to the immediately
preceding Business Day; or

(iii) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End Date or
Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding Business Day.
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If no Business Day Convention is specified as applicable to an Interest Period End Date
in the applicable Final Terms and the Notes are in definitive form except as provided in
the applicable Final Terms:

(A) The amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in
respect of the Interest Period ending on (but excluding) the Interest
Period End Final Date in respect of such Interest Period, will amount
to the Fixed Coupon Amount; and

(B) The amount of interest payable on any other Interest Payment Date
will, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, amount to the Broken
Amount so specified.

Interest shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to: (A) in the case of Fixed
Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding
nominal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes represented by such Global Note (or, if they
are Partly Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up); or (B) in the case of Fixed Rate
Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount, multiplying such sum by the applicable
Day Count Fraction. The resultant figure shall be rounded to the nearest sub-unit of the
relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or
otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note in definitive form comprises
more than one Calculation Amount, the amount of Interest payable in respect of such
Fixed Rate Note shall be the aggregate of the amounts (determined in the manner
provided above) for each Calculation Amount comprising the Specified Denomination
without any further rounding.

"sub-unit" means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of
such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with
respect to euro, means one cent.

Interest on Resettable Notes
Each Resettable Note bears or pays interest calculated as follows:

(i) for each Interest Period falling in the period from (and including) the Interest
Commencement Date to (but excluding) the First Reset Date, the Rate of
Interest will be the Initial Rate of Interest;

(i) for each Interest Period falling in the period from (and including) the First Reset
Date to (but excluding) the Second Reset Date or, if none, the Maturity Date,
the Rate of Interest will be the First Reset Rate of Interest; and

(iii) for each Interest Period in any Subsequent Reset Period thereafter, the Rate
of Interest will be the Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest in respect of the
relevant Subsequent Reset Period.

Interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year up to
(and including) the Maturity Date. If an Interest Payment Date falls after the Interest
Period End Final Date in respect of the relevant Interest Period, no additional interest
or other amount shall be payable as a result of such interest being payable on such
later date.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms as applying to
an Interest Period End Date or an Interest Payment Date and (x) if there is no
numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Period End
Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, should occur or (y) if any Interest
Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, would otherwise fall
on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified
is:
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(i) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End Date or
Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be postponed to the next day
which is a Business Day; or

(i) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End
Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be postponed to the
next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event such Interest Period End Date or Interest
Payment Date, as the case may be shall be brought forward to the immediately
preceding Business Day; or

(iii) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End Date or
Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding Business Day.

Interest in respect of each Interest Period will be determined by either the Principal
Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent as specified in the applicable Final Terms. The
Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will, on or as soon as
practicable after each Initial Rate Determination Date or Reset Determination Date, as
the case may be, determine the Initial Rate of Interest, First Reset Rate of Interest or
Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest, as the case may be, (subject to any Minimum
Interest Rate or Maximum Interest Rate specified in the applicable Final Terms) for the
relevant Interest Period. The amount of interest payable on the Notes will be calculated
in accordance with the provisions for calculating amounts of interest in Condition 3(a)
(Interest on Fixed Rate Notes) above and, for such purposes, references in Condition
3(a) (Interest on Fixed Rate Notes) to "Fixed Rate Notes" shall be deemed to be to
"Resettable Notes" and Condition 3(a) (/nterest on Fixed Rate Notes) shall be
construed accordingly.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes
(i) Interest Period End Dates and Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its nominal amount (or, if it is a Partly
Paid Note, in accordance with Condition 3(l)) or pays interest in respect of each
Interest Period (which expression shall in these Terms and Conditions mean
the period from (and including) an Interest Period End Date (or if none the
Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest
Period End Date (each such latter date the "Interest Period End Final Date"
for the relevant Interest Period)). For the purposes of this Condition 3(c)
"Interest Period End Date" shall mean either:

(1) the specified Interest Period End Date(s) in each year specified in the
applicable Final Terms; or

(2) if no Interest Period End Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final
Terms, each date which falls the number of months or other period
specified as the Specified Period in the applicable Final Terms after
the preceding Interest Period End Date or, in the case of the first
Interest Period End Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year
up to (and including) the Maturity Date. If an Interest Payment Date falls after
an Interest Period End Final Date in respect of the relevant Interest Period, no
additional interest or other amount shall be payable as a result of such interest
being payable on such later date.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms as
applying to an Interest Period End Date or an Interest Payment Date and (x) if
there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an
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Interest Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, should
occur or (y) if any Interest Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the
case may be, would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then,
if the Business Day Convention specified is:

(A) In any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with
Condition 3(c)(i)(2) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest
Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, (i) in
the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in
the relevant month and the provisions of (B) below shall apply mutatis
mutandis or (ii) in the case of (y) above (2) above, shall be postponed
to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall
into the next calendar month, in which event (aa) such Interest Period
End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be
brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (bb)
each subsequent Interest Period End Date or Interest Payment Date,
as the case may be, shall be the last Business Day in the month which
falls the Specified Period after the preceding applicable Interest Period
End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, occurred; or

(B) The Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End
Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be
postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or

(©) The Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest
Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall
be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would
thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest
Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall
be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or

(D) The Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End
Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be brought
forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes
will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amount

The Rate of Interest will be determined by either the Principal Paying Agent or
the Calculation Agent as specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Principal
Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will, on or as soon as
practicable after each date on which the Rate of Interest is to be determined
(the "Interest Determination Date"), determine the Rate of Interest (subject
to any Minimum Interest Rate or Maximum Interest Rate specified in the
applicable Final Terms) for the relevant Interest Period.

The Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will
calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount") payable on the Notes
for the relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

(A) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are represented by a Global
Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes
represented by such Global Note (or, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the
aggregate amount paid up); or
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(B) in the case of Floating Rate Notes in definitive form, the Calculation
Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the Day Count Fraction specified
in the applicable Final Terms and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest
sub-unit (defined above) of the relevant Specified Currency, one half of such a
sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable
market convention. Where the Specified Denomination of a Floating Rate Note
in definitive form comprises more than one Calculation Amount, the Interest
Amount payable in respect of such Note shall be the aggregate of the amounts
(determined in the manner provided above) for each Calculation Amount
comprising the Specified Denomination without any further rounding.

Where (i) the Calculation Agent is not specified as the Principal Paying Agent
in the applicable Final Terms or is not the same entity as the Principal Paying
Agent and (ii) the Calculation Agent determines the Rate of Interest and the
Interest Amount, then the Calculation Agent will notify the Principal Paying
Agent of the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amount for the relevant Interest
Period as soon as practicable after calculating the same.

Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest
Period in the applicable Final Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Interest
Period shall be calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two
rates based on the relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate
Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms), the FBF
Rate (where FBF Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable
Final Terms) or the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination
is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms), one of which shall be
determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates
are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period and
the other of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the
period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the
relevant Interest Period provided however that if there is no rate available for
a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the
Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, shall determine
such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines
appropriate.

"Designated Maturity" means (i) in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the
period of time designated in the Reference Rate or (ii) in relation to FBF
Determination, the period of time specified in the relevant FBF Rate.

(d) Interest on Linked Interest Notes

(i)

Interest Period End Dates and Interest Payment Dates

Each Linked Interest Note bears interest on its nominal amount (or, if it is a
Partly Paid Note, in accordance with Condition 3(I)) or pays interest in respect
of each Interest Period (which expression shall in these Terms and Conditions
mean the period from (and including) an Interest Period End Date (or if none
the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest
Period End Date (each such latter date the "Interest Period End Final Date"
for the relevant Interest Period)). For the purposes of this Condition 3(d)
"Interest Period End Date" shall mean either:
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(1) the specified Interest Period End Date(s) in each year specified in the
applicable Final Terms; or

(2) if no Interest Period End Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final
Terms, each date which falls the number of months or other period
specified as the Specified Period in the applicable Final Terms after
the preceding Interest Period End Date or, in the case of the first
Interest Period End Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year
up to (and including) the Maturity Date. If an Interest Payment Date falls after
an Interest Period End Final Date in respect of the relevant Interest Period, no
additional interest or other amount shall be payable as a result of such interest
being payable on such later date.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms as
applying to an Interest Period End Date or an Interest Payment Date and (x) if
there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an
Interest Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, should
occur or (y) if any Interest Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the
case may be, would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then,
if the Business Day Convention specified is:

(A) In any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with
Condition 3(d)(i)(2) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest
Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, (i) in
the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in
the relevant month and the provisions of (B) below shall apply mutatis
mutandis or (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next
day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event (aa) such Interest Period End Date or
Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be brought forward
to the immediately preceding Business Day and (bb) each subsequent
Interest Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may
be, shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the
Specified Period after the preceding applicable Interest Period End
Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, occurred; or

(B) The Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End
Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be
postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or

(©C) The Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest
Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall
be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would
thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest
Period End Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall
be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or

(D) The Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Period End
Date or Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, shall be brought
forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Linked Interest
Notes will be the Coupon Rate determined in the manner specified in the
applicable Final Terms which Coupon Rate may comprise one or more
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Additional Coupons determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amount

The Calculation Agent will, on or as soon as practicable after each date on
which the Rate of Interest is to be determined (the "Interest Determination
Date"), determine the Rate of Interest (subject to any Minimum Interest Rate
or Maximum Interest Rate specified in the applicable Final Terms) for the
relevant Interest Period. The Calculation Agent will notify the Principal Paying
Agent of the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period as soon as
practicable after calculating the same.

The Calculation Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest
Amount") payable on the Notes for the relevant Interest Period by applying
the Rate of Interest to:

(A) in the case of Linked Interest Notes which are represented by a Global
Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes
represented by such Global Note (or, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the
aggregate amount paid up); or

(B) in the case of Linked Interest Notes in definitive form, the Calculation
Amount,

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the Day Count Fraction specified
in the applicable Final Terms and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest
sub-unit (defined above) of the relevant Specified Currency, one half of such a
sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable
market convention. Where the Specified Denomination of a Linked Interest
Note comprises more than one Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount
payable in respect of such Note shall be the aggregate of the amounts
(determined in the manner provided above) for each Calculation Amount
comprising the Specified Denomination without any further rounding.

(e) ISDA, FBF and Screen Rate Determination

U

ISDA Determination

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
manner in which a Rate of Interest or Rate, as applicable, is to be determined,
such Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case may be, for each Interest Period will
be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final
Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this subparagraph (i), "ISDA
Rate" for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would
be determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, under an interest rate swap transaction if the Principal Paying
Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, was acting as Calculation Agent
(as defined in the ISDA Definitions (as defined below)) for that swap
transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA
Definitions as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first
Tranche of the Notes (the "ISDA Definitions") and under which:

(A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms;

(B) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final
Terms; and

(©C) the relevant Reset Date is either (x) if the applicable Floating Rate
Option is based on the Euro-zone inter-bank offered rate ("EURIBOR")

114



(iif)

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES

(or, in the event that EURIBOR has been discontinued, such other
successor benchmark rate as the financial industry shall have
accepted as a successor or substitute rate for EURIBOR), the first day
of that Interest Period or (y) in any other case, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (i), "Floating Rate", "Floating Rate
Option", "Designated Maturity" and "Reset Date" have the meanings given
to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

FBF Determination

Where so specified in the applicable Final Terms, interest will be payable on
such dates, at such a rate (the "FBF Rate") and in such amounts, plus or minus
(as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), as would have
been payable (regardless of any event of default or termination event
thereunder) by the Issuer if it had entered into an interest rate swap transaction
governed by an agreement in the form of the Master Agreement relating to
transactions on forward financial instruments (an "FBF Agreement"), as in
effect on the date of issue of the Notes, published by the Fédération Bancaire
Frangaise and evidenced by a Confirmation (as defined in the FBF Agreement)
with the holder of the relevant Note under which:

(A) the Issuer was the Floating Amount Payer;

(B) the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, was
the Agent (as defined in the FBF Agreement) or as otherwise specified
in the applicable Final Terms;

(®)] the Interest Commencement Date was the Transaction Date;

(D) the lowest Specified Denomination was the Notional Amount;

(E) the Interest Payment Dates were the Floating Amount Payment Dates;
and
(F) all other terms were as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

When the preceding sentence applies, in respect of each relevant Interest
Payment Date:

(1) the amount of interest determined for such Interest Payment Date will
be the Interest Amount for the relevant Interest Period for the purposes
of these Terms and Conditions as though determined under sub-
paragraphs 3(c)(iii) or 3(d)(iii) above, as applicable;

(2) the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period will be the Floating Rate
(as defined in the FBF Agreement) determined by the Principal Paying
Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, in accordance with the
preceding sentence; and

(3) the Principal Paying Agent or Calculation Agent, as applicable, will be
deemed to have discharged its obligations under subparagraphs
3(c)(iii) or 3(d)(iii) above, as applicable, if it has determined the Rate
of Interest and the Interest Amount payable on such Interest Payment
Date in the manner provided in the preceding sentence.

Screen Rate Determination
(1) BBSW, EURIBOR, NIBOR, PRIBOR, STIBOR or WIBOR

(A) Where "Screen Rate Determination — IBOR" or "Screen Rate
Determination — BBSW" is specified in the applicable Final
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Terms as the manner in which a Rate of Interest or Rate is to
be determined, such Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case may
be, for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be
either:

I the offered quotation; or

Il. the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the
fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 per cent.
(0.00005%) being rounded upwards) of the offered
quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the
Reference Rate(s) which appears or appear, as the case may
be, on the Relevant Screen Page (or such replacement page
on that service which displays the information) as at the
Specified Time indicated in the applicable Final Terms (which
will be 11.00 a.m., Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR,
Sydney time, in the case of BBSW, Oslo time, in the case of
NIBOR, Prague time, in the case of PRIBOR, Stockholm time,
in the case of STIBOR, or Warsaw time, in the case of WIBOR)
(the "Screen Page Reference Rate") on the relevant Interest
Determination Date plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined
by the Principal Paying Agent or Calculation Agent, as
applicable. If five or more of such offered quotations are
available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if
there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of
such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one
such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be
disregarded by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, for the purpose of determining the
arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered
quotations.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, in the case
of subparagraph (A)l., no offered quotation appears on the
Relevant Screen Page (or such replacement page on that
service which displays the information) or, in the case of
subparagraph (A)ll., fewer than three offered quotations
appear on the Relevant Screen Page (or such replacement
page on that service which displays the information), in each
case as at the Specified Time, except as provided in
paragraph (C) below, the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, shall request each of the
Reference Banks to provide the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, with its offered quotation
(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the
Reference Rate at the Specified Time on the Interest
Determination Date in question. If two or more of the
Reference Banks provide the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, with offered quotations, the
Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case may be, for the Interest
Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to
the nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.001%) with 0.0005 per cent.
(0.0005%) being rounded upwards) of the relevant quotations,
eliminating the highest quotation (or in the event that two or
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more quotations are identical, one of the highest) and the
lowest (or in the event that two or more quotations are
identical, one of the lowest), plus or minus (as applicable) the
Margin (if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying
Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable.

If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the
Reference Banks provides the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, with an offered quotation as
provided in the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest or
Rate, as the case may be, for the relevant Interest Period shall
be the rate per annum which the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, determines as being the
arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the nearest 0.001
per cent. (0.001%) with 0.0005 per cent. (0.0005%) being
rounded upwards) of the rates per annum, as communicated
to the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, by the Reference Banks or any two or more of
them, at which such banks were offered, at the Specified Time
on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the
Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have
been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in the
inter-bank market plus or minus (as applicable) the Margin (if
any), as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable.

If fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Principal
Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, with
offered rates, the Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case may
be, for the relevant Interest Period shall be the offered rate for
deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that
which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the
arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the offered
rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal
to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate,
at which, at the Specified Time on the relevant Interest
Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or
banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for the
purpose) informs the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, it is quoting to leading banks in the inter-
bank market applicable to the Reference Rate (which will be
the Euro-zone inter-bank market, if the Reference Rate is
EURIBOR, the Sydney inter-bank market, if the Reference
Rate is BBSW, the Oslo inter-bank market, if the Reference
Rate is NIBOR, the Prague inter-bank market, if the Reference
Rate is PRIBOR, the Stockholm inter-bank market, if the
Reference Rate is STIBOR, or the Warsaw inter-bank market,
if the Reference Rate is WIBOR) plus or minus (as applicable)
the Margin (if any), as determined by the Principal Paying
Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable.

If the Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case may be, cannot be
determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this
paragraph (B), the Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case may
be, shall be equal to the last Reference Rate available on the
Relevant Screen Page plus or minus (as applicable) the
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Margin (if any), as determined by the Principal Paying Agent
or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, except that if the
Issuer, the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, determines that the absence of the quotation is
due to the discontinuation of the Screen Page Reference Rate
or the occurrence of a Reference Rate Fallback Event, then
the Reference Rate will be determined in accordance with
paragraph (C) below.

If (i) the Issuer (where the Rate of Interest or Rate is to be
determined by the Principal Paying Agent (in the role of
Calculation Agent or otherwise)), or (ii) otherwise, the
Calculation Agent, determines at any time prior to any Interest
Determination Date, that the Screen Page Reference Rate
has been discontinued or a Reference Rate Fallback Event
has occurred, the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, will use, as a substitute for the Screen
Page Reference Rate, an alternative reference rate
determined by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, to be the alternative reference rate selected by the
central bank, reserve bank, monetary authority or any similar
institution (including any committee or working group thereof)
in the jurisdiction or region of the Specified Currency (each a
"Relevant Nominating Body") that is consistent with industry
accepted standards, provided that, if two or more alternative
reference rates are selected by any Relevant Nominating
Body, the Issuer or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, shall
determine which of those alternative reference rates is most
appropriate to preserve the economic features of the relevant
Notes. If the Issuer or Calculation Agent, as applicable, is
unable to determine such an alternative reference rate (and,
in the case of the Calculation Agent, has notified the Issuer
thereof), the Issuer or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will
as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event before
the Business Day prior to the applicable Interest
Determination Date) appoint an agent (the "Reference Rate
Determination Agent"), which will determine whether a
substitute or successor rate, which is substantially
comparable to the Screen Page Reference Rate, is available
for the purpose of determining the Reference Rate on each
Interest Determination Date falling on or after the date of such
determination. If the Reference Rate Determination Agent
determines that there is an industry accepted successor rate,
the Reference Rate Determination Agent will notify the Issuer
and, if applicable, the Calculation Agent, of such successor
rate to be used by the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, to determine the Rate of
Interest.

If the Reference Rate Determination Agent, the Issuer or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, has determined a substitute
or successor rate in accordance with the foregoing paragraph
(such rate, the "Replacement Reference Rate"), for the
purpose of determining the Reference Rate on each Interest
Determination Date falling on or after such determination:
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(i) the Reference Rate Determination Agent, the Issuer
or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will also
determine the changes (if any) required to the
applicable Business Day Convention, the definition of
Business Day, the Interest Determination Date, the
Day Count Fraction, and any method for obtaining the
Replacement Reference Rate, including any
adjustment needed to make such Replacement
Reference Rate comparable to the Screen Page
Reference Rate, including, where applicable, to
reflect any increased costs of the Issuer providing
such exposure to the Replacement Reference Rate,
in each case acting in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner that is consistent
with  industry-accepted  practices for  such
Replacement Reference Rate;

(ii) references to the Reference Rate in these Conditions
will be deemed to be references to the relevant
Replacement Reference Rate, including any
alternative method for determining such rate as
described in (i) above;

(iii) the Reference Rate Determination Agent or the
Calculation Agent, if applicable, will notify the Issuer
of the Replacement Reference Rate and the details
described in (i) above, as soon as reasonably
practicable; and

(iv) the Issuer will give notice to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 12 of the Replacement
Reference Rate and of the details described in (i)
above as soon as reasonably practicable but in any
event no later than 5:00 p.m. (London time) on the
Business Day prior to the applicable Interest
Determination Date.

The determination of the Replacement Reference Rate and
the other matters referred to above by the Reference Rate
Determination Agent, the Issuer, the Principal Paying Agent or
the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will (in the absence of
manifest error) be final and binding on the Issuer, the Principal
Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders,
unless the Issuer, the Reference Rate Determination Agent or
the Calculation Agent, as applicable, determines at a later
date that the Replacement Reference Rate is no longer
substantially comparable to the Reference Rate or does not
constitute an industry accepted successor rate, in which case
the Issuer or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, shall
appoint or re-appoint a Reference Rate Determination Agent
(which may or may not be the same entity as the original
Reference Rate Determination Agent or the Calculation
Agent) for the purpose of confirming the Replacement
Reference Rate or determining a substitute Replacement
Reference Rate in an identical manner as described in this
paragraph (C). If the Replacement Reference Rate
Determination Agent, the Issuer or the Calculation Agent, as
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applicable, is unable to or otherwise does not determine a
substitute Replacement Reference Rate, then the
Replacement Reference Rate will remain unchanged.

If (x) a Reference Rate Determination Agent is appointed by
the Issuer or the Calculation Agent and such agent determines
that the Screen Page Reference Rate has been discontinued
but for any reason a Replacement Reference Rate has not
been determined or (y) the Issuer determines that the
replacement of the Reference Rate with the Replacement
Reference Rate or any other amendment to the Conditions
necessary to implement such replacement would result in all
or part of the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of such
Series of Notes being excluded from the eligible liabilities
available to meet the MREL/TLAC Requirements (however
called or defined by then applicable regulations) and/or, in the
case of Subordinated Notes, all or part of the aggregate
outstanding nominal amount of Notes to be excluded from the
own funds of the Group or reclassified as a lower quality form
of own funds of the Group, the Issuer may decide that no
Replacement Reference Rate or any other successor,
replacement or alternative benchmark or screen rate will be
adopted and the Reference Rate for the relevant Interest
Period in such case will be equal to the last Screen Page
Reference Rate available on the Relevant Screen Page as
determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable.

The Reference Rate Determination Agent may be (i) a leading
bank, broker-dealer or benchmark agent in the principal
financial centre of the Specified Currency as appointed by the
Issuer or the Calculation Agent, as applicable; (ii) the Issuer;
(iii) an affiliate of the Issuer or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable; or (iv) such other entity that the Issuer in its sole
and absolute discretion determines to be competent to carry
out such role.

If the relevant Reference Rate Fallback Event may also
constitute an Administrator/Benchmark Event in the
determination of the Calculation Agent pursuant to
Condition 5(v), the provisions of this Condition 3(e)(iii)(1)(C)
will apply.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the provisions of
(and all provisions referred to in) this Condition 3(e)(iii)(1)(C),
the Issuer, the Calculation Agent or Reference Rate
Determination Agent (as applicable) may make all
determinations and/or adjustments and take all actions in
respect of the Notes as are provided for in connection with a
Reference Rate Fallback Event or Administrator/Benchmark
Event, as applicable, notwithstanding that such Reference
Rate Fallback Event or Administrator/Benchmark Event, as
applicable, may have occurred before the Issue Date of the
Notes.
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Where "Screen Rate Determination — SONIA" is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the manner in which a Rate of Interest or
Rate is to be determined, such Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case
may be, for each Interest Period will be calculated in accordance with
Condition 3(e)(iii)(2)(A) or 3(e)(iii)(2)(B) below, subject to the
provisions of Condition 3(e)(iii)(2)(D).

(A) Where the Calculation Method is specified in the applicable
Final Terms as being "Compounded Daily", the Rate of
Interest or Rate, as the case may be, for each Interest Period
will be the Compounded Daily SONIA plus or minus (as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all
as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable.

(B) Where the Calculation Method is specified in the applicable
Final Terms as being "Weighted Average", the Rate of Interest
or Rate, as the case may be, for each Interest Period will be
the Weighted Average SONIA plus or minus (as indicated in
the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as
determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, on the Interest Determination Date and
the resulting percentage being rounded (if necessary) to the
fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 per cent. (0.00005%) being
rounded upwards.

(C) The following definitions shall apply for the purpose of this
Condition 3(e)(iii)(2):

"Compounded Daily SONIA" means, with respect to an Interest
Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment in
Sterling (with the daily Sterling overnight reference rate as the
reference rate for the calculation of interest) calculated by the Principal
Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, on the relevant
Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula:

(x) if "Lag" or "Lock-out" is specified as the Observation Method
in the applicable Final Terms:

do
SONIA;_pipp X 1y 365
[n + 365 ) =X =

(y) if "Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms:

lnglgl (1 SONIAIXn ) 1] x 3_65 -or

365

(2) if "SONIA Index with Observation Shift" is specified as the
Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms:

(SONIA IndexXginal 1) % 365
SONIA Indexlnitial d ’

where, in each case, the resulting percentage will be rounded (if
necessary) to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 per cent.
(0.00005%) being rounded upwards.

"d" means the number of calendar days (x) if "Lag" or "Lock-out" is
specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms, in
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the relevant Interest Period, (y) if "Shift" is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms, in the relevant Observation
Lookback Period or (z) if "SONIA Index with Observation Shift" is
specified in the applicable Final Terms, from (and including) the day in
relation to which SONIA Indexuitial is determined to (but excluding) the
day in relation to which SONIA IndexFrinal is determined;

"do" means (x) if "Lag" or "Lock-out" is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms, in respect of an Interest Period,
the number of London Business Days in such Interest Period, or (y) if
"Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final
Terms, in respect of an Observation Lookback Period, the number of
London Business Days in such Observation Lookback Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing
the relevant London Business Days in chronological order from (and
including) the first London Business Day (x) if "Lag" or "Lock-out" is
specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms, in
the relevant Interest Period or (y) if "Shift" is specified as the
Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms, in the relevant
Observation Lookback Period;

"Lock-out Period" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period
from (and including) the day following the Interest Determination Date
to (but excluding) the Interest Period End Date falling at the end of
such Interest Period;

"London Business Day" means a day on which commercial banks
and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for
general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign
currency deposits) in London;

"Lookback Period" or "p" means, in respect of an Interest Period
where "Lag" or "Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, the number of London Business Days
specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, if no such number is
specified, five London Business Days);

"ni" means, in respect of a London Business Day i, the number of
calendar days from (and including) such London Business Day i up to
(but excluding) the following London Business Day;

"Observation Lookback Period" means, in respect of an Interest
Period, the period from (and including) the date falling p London
Business Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period and
ending on (but excluding) the date which is p London Business Days
prior to the Interest Period End Date falling at the end of such Interest
Period;

"Reference Day" means each London Business Day in the relevant
Interest Period that is not a London Business Day falling in the Lock-
out Period;

"SONIA i" means, in respect of a London Business Day i:

(a) if "Lock-out" is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms:

(1) in respect of any London Business Day i that is a
Reference Day, the SONIA Rate in respect of the
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London Business Day immediately preceding such
Reference Day; otherwise

(2) the SONIA Rate in respect of the London Business
Day immediately preceding the Interest Determination
Date for the relevant Interest Period; or

(b) if "Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, the SONIA Rate for such London
Business Day i;

"SONIA Index" means the rate of return of a daily compound interest
investment in Sterling (with the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average
("SONIA") as a reference rate for the calculation of interest)
determined by the Calculation Agent on the Interest Determination
Date by reference to the screen rate or index for compounded daily
SONIA rates administered by the administrator of the SONIA reference
rate that is published or displayed by such administrator or other
information service from time to time at the relevant time on the
relevant determination dates in respect of SONIA IndexXinitia and SONIA
Indexrinai, as further specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"SONIA Indexrina" means, with respect to an Interest Period, the
SONIA Index determined in relation to the day falling p London
Business Days prior to the Interest Period End Date falling at the end
of such Interest Period;

"SONIA Indexiitia” means, with respect to an Interest Period, the
SONIA Index determined in relation to the day falling p London
Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period;

"SONIA;.pLeD" Means:

(x) if "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, in respect of a London Business Day
i, the SONIA Rate in respect of the London Business Day
falling p London Business Days prior to such London Business
Day i; or

(y) if "Lock-out" is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, in respect of a London Business Day
i, SONIA i in respect of such London Business Day i;

"SONIA Rate" means, in respect of any London Business Day, a
reference rate equal to the daily SONIA rate for such London Business
Day, as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised
distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or, if
the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by
such authorised distributors) on the London Business Day immediately
following such London Business Day; and

"Weighted Average SONIA" means:

(x) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, the sum of the SONIA Rate in respect
of each calendar day during the relevant Observation
Lookback Period divided by the number of calendar days
during such Observation Lookback Period. For these
purposes, the SONIA Rate in respect of any calendar day
which is not a London Business Day shall be deemed to be
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the SONIA Rate in respect of the London Business Day
immediately preceding such calendar day; or

(y) where "Lock-out" is specified as the Observation Method in
the applicable Final Terms, the sum of the SONIA Rate in
respect of each calendar day during the relevant Interest
Period divided by the number of calendar days in the relevant
Interest Period, provided that, for any calendar day of such
Interest Period falling in the Lock-out Period for the relevant
Interest Period, the SONIA Rate for such calendar day will be
deemed to be the SONIA Rate in respect of the London
Business Day immediately preceding the first day of such
Lock-out Period. For these purposes, the SONIA Rate in
respect of any calendar day which is not a London Business
Day shall, subject to the preceding proviso, be deemed to be
the SONIA Rate in respect of the London Business Day
immediately preceding such calendar day.

SONIA Fallbacks

(x) If "Lag", "Lock out" or "Shift" is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms

If, in respect of any London Business Day, the SONIA Rate is not
available on the Relevant Screen Page (and has not otherwise been
published by the relevant authorised distributors), such SONIA Rate
shall be:

l. (i) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate")
prevailing at the close of business on the relevant London
Business Day; plus (ii) the arithmetic mean of the spread of
SONIA to the Bank Rate over the previous five days on which
SONIA has been published, excluding the highest spread (or,
if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those
highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than
one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads); or

I if the Bank Rate under I. (i) above is not available at the
relevant time, either (A) the SONIA Rate published on the
Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant
authorised distributors) for the immediately preceding London
Business Day on which the SONIA Rate was published on the
Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant
authorised distributors) or (B) if this is more recent, the latest
rate determined in accordance with (i) above, and

such rate shall be deemed to be the SONIA Rate for such London
Business Day.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of the Bank of England
publishing guidance as to (i) how the SONIA Rate is to be determined
or (i) any rate that is to replace the SONIA Rate, the Principal Paying
Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, shall follow such
guidance to determine the SONIA Rate for so long as the SONIA Rate
is not available or has not been published by the authorised
distributors.

In the event that the Rate of Interest or Rate, as applicable, cannot be
determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions in respect of
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an Interest Period, the Rate of Interest or Rate, as applicable, shall be
(i) that determined as at the immediately preceding Interest
Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin,
Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be
applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the
immediately preceding Interest Period, the Margin, Maximum Rate of
Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant
Interest Period, in place of the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest
and/or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the immediately preceding
Interest Period); or (i) if there is no such preceding Interest
Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest or Rate, as applicable,
which would have been applicable to such Series of Notes for the first
Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in
duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and
excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (subject to the
application of the relevant Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or
Minimum Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period).

(y) If "SONIA Index with Observation Shift" is specified as the
Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms

If the relevant SONIA Index is not published or displayed by the
administrator of the SONIA reference rate or other information service
by 5.00 p.m. (London time) (or, if later, by the time falling one hour
after the customary or scheduled time for publication thereof in
accordance with the then-prevailing operational procedures of the
administrator of the SONIA reference rate or of such other information
service, as the case may be) on the relevant Interest Determination
Date, the Compounded Daily SONIA for the applicable Interest Period
for which the SONIA Index is not available shall be "Compounded
Daily SONIA" determined in accordance with Condition 3(e)(iii)(2)(A)
where (i) the "Observation Method" will be deemed to be "Shift" and
(i) the "Observation Lookback Period" will be deemed to be equal to p
London Banking Days, as if those alternative elections had been made
in the applicable Final Terms.

SOFR

Where "Screen Rate Determination — SOFR" is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the manner in which a Rate of Interest or
Rate is to be determined, such Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case
may be, for each Interest Period will be calculated in accordance with
Condition 3(e)(iii)(3)(A) or 3(e)(iii)(3)(B) below, subject to the
provisions of Condition 3(e)(iii)(3)(D) below.

(A) Where the Calculation Method is specified in the applicable
Final Terms as being "SOFR Arithmetic Mean", the Rate of
Interest or Rate, as the case may be, for each Interest Period
will be the SOFR Arithmetic Mean plus or minus (as indicated
in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as
determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, on the relevant Interest Determination
Date and the resulting percentage being rounded (if
necessary) to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 per cent.
(0.00005%) being rounded upwards.

(B) Where the Calculation Method is specified in the applicable
Final Terms as being "SOFR Compound", the Rate of Interest
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or Rate, as the case may be, for each Interest Period will be
the Compounded Daily SOFR on the relevant Interest
Determination Date plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined
by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable.

The following definitions shall apply for the purpose of this
Condition 3(e)(iii)(3):

"Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page" means the
Bloomberg screen designated "SOFRRATE" or any
SUCCEeSSOr page or service;

"Compounded Daily SOFR" means, with respect to an
Interest Period, an amount equal to the rate of return for each
calendar day during the Interest Period, compounded daily,
calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, on the Interest Determination Date in
accordance with the following formula:

(a) if "SOFR Compound with Lookback" is specified as
the Obervation Method in the applicable Final Terms:

dO SOFRi—pUSBD X ni 360
1 -1 X —
[1_L=1< * 360 ) ] d

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if
necessary, to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005
per cent. (0.00005%) being rounded upwards.

Where:

"d" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the
number of calendar days in such Interest Period;

"do" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the
number of U.S. Government Securities Business
Days in such Interest Period;

"i" means, in respect of an Interest Period, a series of
whole numbers from one to do, each representing the
relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Days
in chronological order from (and including) the first
U.S. Government Securities Business Day in such
Interest Period;

"Lookback Period" or "p" means the number of U.S.
Government Securities Business Days specified as
such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such
number is specified, five U.S. Government Securities
Business Days;

"ni" means, in respect of a U.S. Government
Securities Business Dayi, means the number of
calendar days from (and including) such U.S.
Government Securities Business Dayi up to (but
excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities
Business Day; and
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"SOFRipusep” means, in respect of a U.S.
Government Securities Business Dayi, SOFR in
respect of the U.S. Government Securities Business
Day falling the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days equal to the Lookback Period prior to
such U.S. Government Securities Business Dayi
("pUSBD"), provided that, unless SOFR Cut-Off Date
is specified as not applicable in the applicable Final
Terms, SOFR; in respect of each U.S. Government
Securities Business Dayi in the period from (and
including) the SOFR Cut-Off Date to (but excluding)
the next occurring Interest Period End Date, will be
SOFR: in respect of the SOFR Cut-Off Date for such
Interest Period;

if "SOFR Compound with Observation Period Shift" is
specified as theObservation Method in the applicable
Final Terms:

u—[do <1 N SOFR; X ni> 1] 360
—_— — x —_—
i=1 360 d

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if
necessary, to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005
per cent. (0.00005%) being rounded upwards.

Where:

"d" means, in respect of an Observation Period, the
number of calendar days in such Observation Period;

"do" means, in respect of an Observation Period, the
number of U.S. Government Securities Business
Days in such Observation Period;

i" means, in respect of an Observation Period, a
series of whole numbers from one to do, each
representing the relevant U.S. Government Securities
Business Days in chronological order from (and
including) the first U.S. Government Securities
Business Day in such Observation Period;

"ni" means, in respect of a U.S. Government
Securities Business Dayi, the number of calendar
days from (and including) such U.S. Government
Securities Business Dayi up to (but excluding) the
following U.S. Government Securities Business Day;

"Observation Period” means, in respect of an
Interest Period, the period from (and including) the
date falling the number of Observation Shift Days prior
to the first day of such Interest Period and ending on
(but excluding) the date that is the number
Observation Shift Days prior to the next occurring
Interest Period End Date in such Interest Period;

"Observation Shift Days" means the number of U.S.
Government Securities Business Days specified in
the applicable Final Terms or, if no such number is
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specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business
Days; and

"SOFR;" means, in respect of each U.S. Government
Securities Business Dayi, the SOFR in respect of such
U.S. Government Securities Business Dayi;

if "SOFR Index with Observation Shift" is specified as
the Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms:

(SOFR Index gipga 1) 9 360
SOFR Index pjtial d.

Where:

"dc" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the
number of calendar days in such Interest Period;

"Observation Shift Days" means the number of U.S.
Government Securities Business Days specified as
such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such
number is specified, two U.S. Government Securities
Business Days;

"SOFR Index" means with respect to any U.S.
Government Securities Business Day, (i) the SOFR
Index value as published by the NY Federal Reserve
as such index appears on the NY Federal Reserve's
Website at the SOFR Determination Time; or (ii) if the
SOFR Index specified in (i) above does not so appear,
unless both a SOFR Transition Event and its related
Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred, the
SOFR Index as published in respect of the first
preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day
for which the SOFR Index was published on the NY
Federal Reserve's Website;

"SOFR Indexrina" means, in respect of an Interest
Period, the value of the SOFR Index on the date
falling the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days equal to the Observation Shift Days
prior to the next occurring Interest Period End Date in
such Interest Period; and

"SOFR Indexinitiai" means, in respect of an Interest
Period, the value of the SOFR Index on the date
falling the number of U.S. Government Securities
Business Days equal to the Observation Shift Days
prior to the first day of such Interest Period (or, in the
case of the first Interest Period, the Interest
Commencement Date);

"NY Federal Reserve" means the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York;

"NY Federal Reserve's Website" means the website of the
NY Federal Reserve, currently at www.newyorkfed.org, or any
successor website of the NY Federal Reserve or the website
of any successor administrator of SOFR,;
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"Reuters Page USDSOFR=" means the Reuters page
designated "USDSOFR=" or any successor page or Service;

"SOFR" means the rate determined by the Principal Paying
Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, in respect of a
U.S. Government Securities Business Day, in accordance
with the following provisions:

(a) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate in respect of
such U.S. Government Securities Business Day that
appears at approximately 3:00 p.m. (New York City
time) (the "SOFR Determination Time") on the NY
Federal Reserve's Website on such U.S. Government
Securities Business Day, as such rate is reported on
the Bloomberg Screen SOFRRATE Page for such
U.S. Government Securities Business Day or, if no
such rate is reported on the Bloomberg Screen
SOFRRATE Page, then the Secured Overnight
Financing Rate that is reported on the Reuters Page
USDSOFR= or, if no such rate is reported on the
Reuters Page USDSOFR=, then the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate that appears at
approximately 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the
NY Federal Reserve's Website on such U.S.
Government Securities Business Day (the "SOFR
Screen Page"); or

(b) if the rate specified in (a) above does not so appear
and the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, determines that a SOFR
Transition Event has not occurred, the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate published on the NY
Federal Reserve's Website for the first preceding U.S.
Government Securities Business Day for which the
Secured Overnight Financing Rate was published on
the NY Federal Reserve's Website;

"SOFR Arithmetic Mean" means, with respect to an Interest
Period, the arithmetic mean of SOFR for each calendar day
during such Interest Period, as calculated by the Principal
Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, provided
that, SOFR in respect of each calendar day during the period
from (and including) the SOFR Cut-Off Date to (but excluding)
the next occurring Interest Period End Date will be SOFR on
the SOFR Cut-Off Date. For these purposes, SOFR in respect
of any calendar day which is not a U.S. Government Securities
Business Day shall, subject to the preceding proviso, be
deemed to be SOFR in respect of the U.S. Government
Securities Business Day immediately preceding such
calendar day;

"SOFR Cut-Off Date" means, unless specified as not
applicable in the applicable Final Terms, in respect of an
Interest Period, the fourth U.S. Government Securities
Business Day prior to the next occurring Interest Period End
Date in such Interest Period (or such other number of U.S.

129



TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW NOTES

Government Securities Business Days specified in the
applicable Final Terms); and

"U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any
day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which the
Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association
("SIFMA") recommends that the fixed income departments of
its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of
trading in U.S. government securities.

Notwithstanding paragraphs (A) to (C) above, if the Principal
Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable,
determines on or prior to the SOFR Determination Time, that
a SOFR Transition Event and its related SOFR Replacement
Date have occurred with respect to the relevant SOFR
Benchmark (as defined below), then the provisions set forth in
Condition 3(e)(iii)(3)(D) (SOFR Replacement Provisions)
below will apply to all determinations of the Rate of Interest or
Rate, as the case may be, for each Interest Period thereafter.

SOFR Replacement Provisions

If the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, failing which the Issuer, determines at any time
prior to the SOFR Determination Time on any U.S.
Government Securities Business Day that a SOFR Transition
Event and the related SOFR Replacement Date have
occurred, the Calculation Agent will appoint an agent (the
"Replacement Rate Determination Agent") which will
determine the SOFR Replacement. The Replacement Rate
Determination Agent may be (x) a leading bank, broker-dealer
or benchmark agent in the principal financial centre of the
Specified Currency as appointed by the Calculation Agent, (y)
the Issuer, (z) an affiliate of the Issuer, or the Calculation
Agent or (zz) such other entity that the Calculation Agent
determines to be competent to carry out such role.

In connection with the determination of the SOFR
Replacement, the Replacement Rate Determination Agent will
determine appropriate  SOFR Replacement Conforming
Changes.

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by
the Calculation Agent or Replacement Rate Determination
Agent (as the case may be) pursuant to these provisions, will
(in the absence of manifest error) be conclusive and binding
on the Issuer, the Calculation Agent, the Principal Paying
Agent and the Noteholders.

Following the designation of a SOFR Replacement, the
Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable,
may subsequently determine that a SOFR Transition Event
and a related SOFR Replacement Date have occurred in
respect of such SOFR Replacement, provided that the SOFR
Benchmark has already been substituted by the SOFR
Replacement and any SOFR Replacement Conforming
Changes in connection with such substitution have been
applied. In such circumstances, the SOFR Replacement shall
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be deemed to be the SOFR Benchmark and all relevant
definitions shall be construed accordingly.

In connection with the SOFR Replacement provisions above,
the following definitions shall apply:

"2006 ISDA Definitions" means, in respect of a Series of
Notes, the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the
International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any
successor thereto ("ISDA"), as amended, updated or
supplemented as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of
Notes of such Series;

"2021 ISDA Definitions" means, in respect of a Series of
Notes, the latest version of the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate
Derivatives Definitions (including each Matrix (and any
successor Matrix thereto), as defined in such 2021 ISDA
Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions) as at the Issue Date of
the first Tranche of Notes of such Series, as published by
ISDA on its website (www.isda.org);

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions or the
2021 ISDA Definitions, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms;

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment
(which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would
apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA
Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of a SOFR
Transition Event with respect to SOFR for the applicable tenor;

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for
derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be
effective upon the occurrence of a SOFR Transition Event with
respect to SOFR for the applicable tenor excluding the
applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System and/or the NY
Federal Reserve or a committee officially endorsed or
convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System and/or the NY Federal Reserve or any successor
thereto;

"SOFR Benchmark" means (a) (unless "SOFR Compound" is
specified as the Calculation Method and "SOFR Index with
Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in
the applicable Final Terms) SOFR or (b) SOFR Index (each
as defined in Condition 3(e)(iii)(3)(C) above);

"SOFR Replacement" means any one (or more) of the SOFR
Replacement Alternatives to be determined by the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent as of the SOFR
Replacement Date if the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, failing which the lIssuer,
determines that a SOFR Transition Event and its related
SOFR Replacement Date have occurred on or prior to the
SOFR Determination Time in respect of any determination of
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the SOFR Benchmark on any U.S. Government Securities
Business Day in accordance with:

(a) the order of priority specified as the SOFR
Replacement Alternatives Priority in the applicable
Final Terms; or

(b) if no such order of priority is specified, in accordance
with the priority set forth below:

(i) Relevant Governmental Body Replacement;
(i) ISDA Fallback Replacement; and
(iii) Industry Replacement,

Provided, in each case, that, if the Replacement Rate
Determination Agent is unable to determine the SOFR
Replacement in accordance with the first SOFR Replacement
Alternative listed, it shall attempt to determine the SOFR
Replacement in accordance with the each subsequent SOFR
Replacement Alternative untii a SOFR Replacement is
determined. The SOFR Replacement will replace the then-
current SOFR Benchmark for the purpose of determining the
relevant Rate or Rate of Interest in respect of the relevant
Interest Period and each subsequent Interest Period, subject
to the occurrence of a subsequent SOFR Transition Event and
related SOFR Replacement Date;

"SOFR Replacement Alternatives" means:

(a) the sum of: (i) the alternative rate that has been
selected or recommended by the Relevant
Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-
current SOFR Benchmark for the relevant Interest
Period and (ii) the SOFR Replacement Adjustment
(the "Relevant Governmental Body Replacement”);

(b) the sum of: (i) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (ii) the
SOFR Replacement Adjustment (the "ISDA Fallback
Replacement”); or

(c) the sum of: (i) the alternative rate that has been
selected by the Replacement Rate Determination
Agent as the replacement for the then-current SOFR
Benchmark for the relevant Interest Period giving due
consideration to any industry-accepted rate as a
replacement for the then-current SOFR Benchmark
for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate securities at
such time and (ii) the SOFR Replacement Adjustment
(the "Industry Replacement");

"SOFR Replacement Adjustment” means the first alternative
set forth in the order below that can be determined by the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent as of the applicable
SOFR Replacement Date:

(a) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or
determining such spread adjustment (which may be a
positive or negative value or zero) that has been
selected or recommended by the Relevant
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Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted
SOFR Replacement;

(b) if the applicable Unadjusted SOFR Replacement is
equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, the ISDA
Spread Adjustment; or

(c) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or
negative value or zero) determined by the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent giving due
consideration to any industry-accepted spread
adjustment, or method for calculating or determining
such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the
then-current SOFR Benchmark with the applicable
Unadjusted SOFR Replacement for U.S. dollar-
denominated floating rate securities at such time;

"SOFR Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with
respect to any SOFR Replacement, any technical,
administrative or operational changes (including, but not
limited to, changes to timing and frequency of determining
rates with respect to each interest period and making
payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, day
count fractions, business day convention and other
administrative matters) that the Replacement Rate
Determination Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the
adoption of such SOFR Replacement in a manner
substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent determines that
adoption of any portion of such market practice is not
administratively feasible or if the Replacement Rate
Determination Agent determines that no market practice for
use of the SOFR Replacement exists, in such other manner
as the Replacement Rate Determination Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as the case may be, determines is
reasonably necessary, acting in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner);

"SOFR Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the
following events with respect to the then-current SOFR
Benchmark (including the daily published component used in
the calculation thereof):

(a) in the case of sub-paragraphs (a) or (b) of the
definition of "SOFR Transition Event" the later of (i)
the date of the public statement or publication of
information referenced therein and (ii) the date on
which the administrator of the SOFR Benchmark
permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the
SOFR Benchmark (or such component); or

(b) in the case of sub-paragraph (c) of the definition of
"SOFR Transition Event" the date of the public
statement or publication of information referenced
therein; or

(c) in the case of sub-paragraph (d), the last such
consecutive U.S. Government Securities Business
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Day on which the SOFR Benchmark has not been
published,

provided that, in the event of any public statements or
publications of information as referenced in sub-paragraphs
(a) or (b) above, should such event or circumstance referred
to in such a public statement or publication occur on a date
falling later than three months after the relevant public
statement or publication, the SOFR Transition Event shall be
deemed to occur on the date falling three months prior to such
specified date (and not the date of the relevant public
statement or publication).

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event giving rise to the SOFR
Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier
than, the SOFR Determination Time in respect of any
determination, the SOFR Replacement Date will be deemed
to have occurred prior to the SOFR Determination Time for
such determination.

"SOFR Transition Event" means the occurrence of any one
or more of the following events with respect to the then-current
SOFR Benchmark (including the daily published component
used in the calculation thereof):

(a) a public statement or publication of information by or
on behalf of the administrator of the SOFR
Benchmark (or such component, if relevant)
announcing that such administrator has ceased or will
cease to provide the SOFR Benchmark (or such
component, if relevant), permanently or indefinitely,
provided that, at the time of such statement or
publication, there is no successor administrator that
will continue to provide the SOFR Benchmark (or such
component, if relevant);

(b) a public statement or publication of information by the
regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the
Benchmark (or such component, if relevant), the
central bank for the currency of the SOFR Benchmark
(or such component, if relevant), an insolvency official
with jurisdiction over the administrator for the SOFR
Benchmark (or such component, if relevant), a
resolution authority with jurisdiction over the
administrator for SOFR (or such component, if
relevant) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency
or resolution authority over the administrator for the
SOFR Benchmark (or such component, if relevant),
which states that the administrator of the SOFR
Benchmark (or such component, if relevant) has
ceased or will cease to provide the SOFR Benchmark
(or such component, if relevant) permanently or
indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such
statement or publication, there is no successor
administrator that will continue to provide the SOFR
Benchmark (or such component, if relevant);
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(c) a public statement or publication of information by the
regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the
SOFR Benchmark (or such component, if relevant)
announcing that the SOFR Benchmark (or such
component, if relevant) is no longer representative,
the SOFR Benchmark (or such component, if
relevant) has been or will be prohibited from being
used or that its use has been or will be subject to
restrictions or adverse consequences, either
generally or in respect of the Notes; or

(d) the SOFR Benchmark is not published by its
administrator (or a successor administrator) for six
consecutive U.S. Government Securities Business
Days; and

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the SOFR
Replacement prior to the application of any SOFR
Replacement Adjustment.

€STR

Where "Screen Rate Determination — €STR" is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the manner in which a Rate of Interest or
Rate is to be determined, such Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case
may be, for each Interest Period, will be Compounded Daily €STR plus
or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if
any), as determined by Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, calculated in accordance with this Condition
3(e)(iii)(4)(A), subject to the provisions of Condition 3(e)(iii)(4)(B).

"Compounded Daily €STR" means, with respect to an Interest
Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment in
euro (with the daily euro short term rate as the reference rate for the
calculation of interest) calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, on the relevant Interest
Determination Date, in accordance with the following formula:

d
- Relevant €STR; X n; 360
[ [0+ )-1

360 d

i=1
where the resulting percentage will be rounded (if necessary) to the
nearest fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 per cent. (0.00005%) being
rounded upwards,

where:

"d" means the number of calendar days in (x) if "Lag" is specified as
the Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant
Interest Period or (y) if "Shift" is specified as the Observation Method
in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Observation Lookback
Period;

"do" means the number of T2 Business Days in (x) if "Lag" is specified
as the Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant
Interest Period or (y) if "Shift" is specified as the Observation Method
in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Observation Lookback
Period;
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"€STR" means, in respect of any T2 Business Day, the reference rate
equal to the daily euro short term rate (€STR) for such T2 Business
Day as provided by the European Central Bank, as the administrator
of such rate (or any successor administrator of such rate) on the
website of the European Central Bank at
https://www.ecb.europa.eu/home/html/index.en.html, or any
successor website or the website of any successor administrator for
the publication of such rate (the "ECB Website") on such T2 Business
Day or if the ECB Website is unavailable as otherwise published by or
on behalf of the relevant administrator;

"€STRi.preD" Means, in respect of any T2 Business Day i, €STR for the
T2 Business Day falling p T2 Business Days prior to the relevant T2
Business Day i;

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing
the relevant T2 Business Day in chronological order from, and
including, the first T2 Business Day in (x) if "Lag" is specified as the
Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant
Interest Period or (y) if "Shift" is specified as the Observation Method
in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Observation Lookback
Period;

"Lookback Period" or "p" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the
number of T2 Business Days specified in the applicable Final Terms
(or, if no such number is specified, five T2 Business Days);

"ni" means, in respect of any T2 Business Day i, the number of
calendar days from (and including) such T2 Business Day i to (but
excluding) the following T2 Business Day;

"Observation Lookback Period" means, in respect of an Interest
Period, the period from (and including) the date falling p T2 Business
Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period and ending on
(but excluding) the date which is p T2 Business Days prior to the
Interest Period End Date falling at the end of such Interest Period;

"Relevant €STR;" means, in respect of any T2 Business Day i:

(x) if "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, €STRiptsp; or

(y) if "Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, €STR:., where €STR.. is, in respect of
any T2 Business Day i falling in the relevant Observation
Lookback Period, €STR for such day; and

"T2 Business Day" means a day on which the T2 is open.
€STR Fallback provisions
Effect of €STR Transition Event on Notes

If the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable,
failing which the Issuer, determines at any time prior to the €STR
Reference Time on any T2 Business Day that a €STR Transition Event
and the related €STR Replacement Date have occurred, then the
Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, will
appoint an agent (the "Replacement Rate Determination Agent")
which will determine the €STR Replacement. The Replacement Rate
Determination Agent may be (x) a leading bank, broker-dealer or
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benchmark agent in the principal financial centre of the Specified
Currency as appointed by the Calculation Agent, (y) the Issuer, (z) an
affiliate of the Issuer or the Calculation Agent or (aa) such other entity
that the Calculation Agent determines to be competent to carry out
such role. In connection with the determination of the €STR
Replacement:

(1) the €STR Replacement will replace the then-current €STR
Benchmark for all purposes relating to the relevant Notes in
respect of such determination on such date and all
determinations on all subsequent dates;

(2) the Replacement Rate Determination Agent may make €STR
Replacement Conforming Changes with respect to the
relevant Notes from time to time;

(3) any determination, decision or election that may be made by
the Replacement Rate Determination Agent pursuant to this
Condition 3(e)(iii)(4), including any determination with respect
to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-
occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any
decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any
selection, in each case, solely with respect to the relevant
Notes, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error,
will be made by the Replacement Rate Determination Agent
acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner;

(4) to the extent that there is any inconsistency between this
Condition and any other Terms and Conditions, this Condition
3(e)(iii)(4) shall prevail with respect to any Notes for which the
Rate of Interest or Rate is calculated in accordance with this
Condition 3(e)(iii)(4);

(5) the Calculation Agent may determine that it is appropriate for
a €STR Replacement to replace the then-current €STR
Benchmark and apply any €STR Replacement Conforming
Changes in respect of any subsequent €STR Transition Event;
and

(6) where a €STR Transition Event or details of it are announced
prior to the relevant €STR Replacement Date then the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent may on or after such
earlier announcement date give notice to Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 12 of the relevant changes which
will be made to the Notes provided that such changes will only
take effect as of the €STR Replacement Date.

No €STR Transition Event has occurred and the €STR Benchmark is
unavailable

If, by the relevant €STR Reference Time on a relevant determination
date, the €STR Benchmark is unavailable in respect of such
determination date and a €STR Transition Event has not occurred,
then the rate for such determination date will be the €STR Benchmark,
where applicable, of the Corresponding Tenor, as provided by the
administrator of the €STR Benchmark and published by an alternative
authorised distributor or by or on behalf of the administrator of the
€STR Benchmark itself. If no such rate has been published by the Rate
Cut-Off Time specified in the applicable Final Terms (or if no time is so
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specified, 4 p.m. (London time)), then the rate for such determination
date will be the rate determined by the Calculation Agent to be a
commercially reasonable alternative for the €STR Benchmark by
applying one of the following rates:

(1) a rate formally recommended for use by the administrator of
the €STR Benchmark; or
(2) a rate formally recommended for use by the Relevant

Governmental Body or any other supervisor which is
responsible for supervising the €STR Benchmark or the
administrator of the €STR Benchmark,

in each case, during the period of non-publication of the €STR
Benchmark and for so long as a €STR Transition Event has not
occurred. If a rate described in sub-paragraph (1) is available, the
Calculation Agent shall apply that rate. If no such rate is available but
a rate described in sub-paragraph (2) is available, the Calculation
Agent shall apply that rate. If neither a rate described in sub-paragraph
(1) nor a rate described in sub-paragraph (2) is available, then the
Calculation Agent shall determine a commercially reasonable
alternative for the €STR Benchmark taking into account where
available any rate implemented by central counterparties and/or
futures exchanges, in each case with trading volumes in derivatives or
futures referencing the €STR Benchmark that the Calculation Agent
considers sufficient for that rate to be a representative alternative rate.

€STR Fallback Definitions

Notwithstanding any other definitions to the contrary in these Terms
and Conditions, the following definitions shall apply with respect to this
Condition 3(e)(iii)(4):

"2006 ISDA Definitions" means, in respect of a Series of Notes, the
2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto ("ISDA"), as
amended, updated or supplemented as at the Issue Date of the first
Tranche of Notes of such Series;

"2021 ISDA Definitions" means, in respect of a Series of Notes, the
latest version of the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions
(including each Matrix (and any successor Matrix thereto), as defined
in such 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions) as at the
Issue Date of the first Tranche of Notes of such Series, as published
by ISDA on its website (www.isda.org);

"Corresponding Tenor" with respect to a €STR Replacement means
a tenor (including overnight) having approximately the same length
(disregarding business day adjustment) as the applicable tenor for the
then-current €STR Benchmark.

"€STR Benchmark" means, initially, Compounded Daily €STR (as
defined in Condition 3(e)(iii)(4)(A) above) of the appropriate tenor (if
applicable), provided that, if a €STR Transition Event and its related
€STR Replacement Date have occurred with respect to Compounded
Daily €STR, or the then-current €STR Benchmark, then "€STR
Benchmark" means the applicable €STR Replacement.
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"€STR Reference Time" with respect to any determination of the
€STR Benchmark means 11:00 am (Brussels time) on the T2 Business
Day immediately following the date of such determination.

"€STR Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order
below that can be determined by the Replacement Rate Determination
Agent as of the €STR Replacement Date:

(1) the ISDA Fallback Rate;

(2) the alternative rate of interest that has been selected or
recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the
replacement for the then-current €STR Benchmark, where
applicable for the applicable Corresponding Tenor; or

(3) the alternative rate of interest that has been selected by the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent as the replacement
for the then-current €STR Benchmark, where applicable for
the applicable Corresponding Tenor, giving due consideration
to any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for
the then-current €STR Benchmark for floating rate notes
denominated in the currency of the €STR Benchmark (the
"Relevant Benchmark Currency") calculated at such time.

"€STR Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to
any €STR Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational
changes (including, but not limited to, timing and frequency of
determining rates with respect to each interest period and making
payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, day count
fractions, business day convention, amendments to any other
Condition and other administrative matters) that the Replacement
Rate Determination Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the
adoption of such €STR Replacement in a manner substantially
consistent with market practice (or, if the Replacement Rate
Determination Agent determines that adoption of any portion of such
market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Replacement
Rate Determination Agent determines that no market practice for use
of the €STR Replacement exists, in such other manner as the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
the case may be, determines is reasonably necessary, acting in good
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner).

"€STR Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the
following events with respect to the then-current €STR Benchmark:

(1) in the case of paragraph (1) or (2) of the definition of "€STR
Transition Event", the later of (a) the date of the public
statement or publication of information referenced therein and
(b) the date on which the administrator of the €STR
Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide such
€STR Benchmark; or

(2) in the case of paragraph (3) of the definition of "€STR
Transition Event", the date of the public statement or
publication of information referenced therein,

for the avoidance of doubt, if the event giving rise to the €STR
Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the
€STR Reference Time in respect of any determination, the €STR
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Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the €STR
Reference Time for such determination.

"€STR Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the
following events with respect to the then-current €STR Benchmark:

(1) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf
of the administrator of the €STR Benchmark announcing that
the administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the €STR
Benchmark permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the
time of such statement or publication, there is no successor
administrator that will continue to provide the €STR
Benchmark;

(2) a public statement or publication of information by the
regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the €STR
Benchmark, the central bank for the currency of the €STR
Benchmark, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the
administrator for the €STR Benchmark, a resolution authority
with jurisdiction over the administrator for the €STR
Benchmark or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or
resolution authority over the administrator for the €STR
Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the €STR
Benchmark has ceased or will cease to provide the €STR
Benchmark permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the
time of such statement or publication, there is no successor
administrator that will continue to provide the €STR
Benchmark; or

(3) a public statement or publication of information by the
regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the €STR
Benchmark announcing that the €STR Benchmark is no
longer representative, the €STR Benchmark has been or will
be prohibited from being used or that its use has been or will
be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, either
generally or in respect of the Notes.

"ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions or the 2021
ISDA Definitions, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which
may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for
derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be
determined upon the occurrence of a €STR Transition Event with
respect to the €STR Benchmark for the applicable tenor.

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives
transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the
occurrence of a €STR Transition Event with respect to the €STR
Benchmark for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA
Fallback Adjustment.

"Rate Cut-off Time" has the meaning given to it in the applicable Final
Terms.

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the European Central Bank
(including any board thereof) or any committee officially endorsed
and/or convened thereby.

SARON
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Where "Screen Rate Determination — SARON" is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest or
Rate is to be determined, such Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case
may be, for each Interest Period will be Compounded Daily SARON
plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin
(if any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, calculated in accordance with this
Condition 3(e)(iii)(5)(A), subject to the provisions of Condition
3(e)(ii)(5)(B).

The following definitions shall apply for the purpose of this Condition

3(e)(iii)(5):

"Compounded Daily SARON" means, with respect to an Interest
Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment in
Swiss francs (with the daily overnight interest rate of the secured
funding market for Swiss franc as the reference rate for the calculation
of interest) calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, on the relevant Interest Determination Date, in
accordance with the following formula:

do ( SARONixni) _ ] 360
[Hi=1 I+ x5
where the resulting percentage will be rounded (if necessary) to the
nearest fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 per cent. (0.00005%) being
rounded upwards;

"d" means, in respect of a SARON Observation Period, the number of
calendar days in such SARON Observation Period;

"do" means, in respect of a SARON Observation Period, the number
of Zurich Banking Days in such SARON Observation Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing
the relevant Zurich Banking Days in the relevant SARON Observation
Period in chronological order from, and including, the first Zurich
Banking Day in such SARON Observation Period;

"Lookback Period" or "p" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the
number of Zurich Banking Days specified in the applicable Final Terms
(or, if no such number is specified, five Zurich Banking Days);

"ni" means, in respect of any Zurich Banking Day i, the number of
calendar days from (and including) such Zurich Banking Day i to (but
excluding) the first following Zurich Banking Day;

"SARON" means, in respect of any Zurich Banking Day:

(a) the Swiss Average Rate Overnight for such Zurich Banking
Day published by the SARON Administrator on the Relevant
Screen Page (or such replacement page which displays the
information) at the SARON Reference Time;

(b) if such rate is not so published on the Relevant Screen Page
at the SARON Reference Time on such Zurich Banking Day,
other than as a consequence of a SARON Index Cessation
Event for which a SARON Index Cessation Effective Date has
occurred at or prior to the SARON Reference Time on such
Zurich Banking Day, the Swiss Average Rate Overnight
published on the Relevant Screen Page for the first preceding
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Zurich Banking Day for which the Swiss Average Rate
Overnight was published on the Relevant Screen Page; or

(c) if such rate is not so published on the Relevant Screen Page
at the SARON Reference Time on such Zurich Banking Day
as a consequence of a SARON Index Cessation Event for
which a SARON Index Cessation Effective Date has occurred
at or prior to the SARON Reference Time on such Zurich
Banking Day, the SARON Replacement determined in
accordance with Condition 3(e)(iii)(5)(B) below ;

"SARON Administrator" means SIX Swiss Exchange AG (or any
successor administrator);

"SARON Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest
Period, the period from (and including) the date falling p Zurich
Banking Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period and
ending on (but excluding) the date which is p Zurich Banking Days
prior to the Interest Period End Date falling at the end of such Interest
Period;

"SARON Reference Time" means, in respect of any Zurich Banking
Day, the close of trading on the trading platform of SIX Repo AG (or
any successor thereto) on such Zurich Banking Day, which is expected
to be at or around 6 p.m. (Zurich time);

"SARON;" means, in respect of any Zurich Banking Day i, SARON as
provided by the SARON Administrator to, and published by, authorised
distributors of SARON in respect of that day at the SARON Reference
Time (or any amended publication time as specified by the SARON
Administrator in the SARON benchmark methodology) on such Zurich
Banking Day; and

"Zurich Banking Day" means any day (other than a Saturday and
Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits)
in Zurich.

SARON Replacement Provisions

If the Calculation Agent determines at any time prior to the SARON
Reference Time on any Zurich Banking Day that a SARON Index
Cessation Event and the related SARON Index Cessation Effective
Date have occurred, the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation
Agent, as applicable, shall determine the SARON Replacement.

If there is no Recommended SARON Replacement Rate and the SNB
Policy Rate for any Zurich Banking Day with respect to which SARON
is to be determined has not been published on such Zurich Banking
Day (the "Affected Zurich Banking Day"), then the Calculation Agent
will appoint an agent (the "Replacement Rate Determination Agent")
on or prior to the first Zurich Banking Day in respect of which a SARON
Index Cessation Event and related SARON Index Cessation Effective
Date have occurred and for which the SNB Policy Rate has not been
published. The Replacement Rate Determination Agent may be (x) a
leading bank, broker-dealer or benchmark agent in the principal
financial centre of the Specified Currency as appointed by the
Calculation Agent, (y) the Issuer (z) an affiliate of the Issuer or the
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Calculation Agent or (aa) such other entity that the Calculation Agent
determines to be competent to carry out such role.

The Replacement Rate Determination Agent will determine whether to
use an alternative rate to SARON for the Affected Zurich Banking Day
and for all subsequent Zurich Banking Days in the SARON
Observation Period in which the Affected Zurich Banking Day falls (the
"Affected SARON Observation Period") and all SARON Observation
Periods thereafter.

For the purposes of determining the Rate of Interest or Rate, as the
case may be:

I the Replacement Rate Determination Agent shall determine:
(A) the method for determining the SARON Replacement
(including any alternative method for determining the SARON
Replacement if such alternative rate is unavailable on the
relevant Interest Determination Date), which method shall be
consistent with industry-accepted practices for the SARON
Replacement and (B) any adjustment factor as may be
necessary to make the SARON Replacement comparable to
the then-current SARON Benchmark consistent with industry-
accepted practices for the SARON Replacement;

Il. for the Affected Zurich Banking Day and all subsequent Zurich
Banking Days in the Affected SARON Observation Period and
all SARON Observation Periods thereafter, references to
SARON in the Terms and Conditions shall be deemed to be
references to the SARON Replacement, including any
alternative method for determining such rate and any
adjustment factor as described in sub-clause | above;

M. the Replacement Rate Determination Agent may make
SARON Replacement Conforming Changes with respect to
the Notes from time to time;

V. any determination, decision or election that may be made by
the Replacement Rate Determination Agent pursuant to this
Condition 3(e)(iii)(5)(B) including any SARON Replacement
Conforming Changes or of the occurrence or non-occurrence
of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or
refrain from taking any action or any selection, in each case,
solely with respect to the relevant Notes, will be conclusive
and binding absent manifest error and will be made by the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent acting in good faith
and a commercially reasonable manner;

V. to the extent that there is any inconsistency between this
Condition and any other Terms and Conditions, this Condition
3(e)(iii)(5)(B) shall prevail with respect to any Notes for which
the Rate of Interest or Rate is calculated in accordance with
this Condition 3(e)(iii)(5);

VI. the Calculation Agent may determine that it is appropriate for
a SARON Replacement to replace the then-current SARON
Benchmark and apply any SARON Replacement Conforming
Changes in respect of any subsequent SARON Index
Cessation Event; and
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VII. where a SARON Index Cessation Event or details of it are
announced prior to the relevant SARON Index Cessation
Effective Date then the Replacement Rate Determination
Agent may on or after such earlier announcement date give
notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 of the
relevant changes which will be made to the Notes, provided
that, such changes will only take effect as of the SARON Index
Cessation Effective Date.

As used in this Condition 3(e)(iii)(5), the following definitions shall
apply:

"Recommended SARON Adjustment Spread" means, with respect
to any Recommended SARON Replacement Rate:

I the spread (which may be positive, negative or zero), formula
or methodology for calculating such a spread, that the
Recommending Body has recommended be applied to such
Recommended SARON Replacement Rate in the case of
fixed income securities with respect to which such
Recommended SARON Replacement Rate has replaced the
Swiss Average Rate Overnight as the reference rate for the
purposes of determining the applicable rate of interest
thereon; or

Il. if the Recommending Body has not recommended such a
spread, formula or methodology as described in clause (i)
above to be applied to such Recommended SARON
Replacement Rate, for the purposes of determining SARON,
the Calculation Agent will determine the spread, acting in good
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, to reduce or
eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable under the
circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as
applicable) to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of
the Swiss Average Rate Overnight with such Recommended
SARON Replacement Rate. The Calculation Agent will take
into account industry-accepted practices for fixed income
securities with respect to which such Recommended SARON
Replacement Rate has replaced the Swiss Average Rate
Overnight as the reference rate for the purposes of
determining the applicable rate of interest thereon;

"Recommended SARON Replacement Rate" means the rate that
has been recommended as the replacement for the Swiss Average
Rate Overnight by any working group or committee in Switzerland
organised in the same or a similar manner as the National Working
Group on Swiss Franc Reference Rates that was founded in 2013 for
the purposes of, among other things, considering proposals to reform
reference interest rates in Switzerland (any such working group or
committee, the "Recommending Body");

"SARON Benchmark" means, initially, Compounded Daily SARON
(as defined in Condition 3(e)(iii)(5) above), provided that, if a SARON
Index Cessation Event and its related SARON Index Cessation
Effective Date have occurred with respect to Compounded Daily
SARON, or the then-current SARON Benchmark, then "SARON
Benchmark" means the applicable SARON Replacement.
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"SARON Index Cessation Effective Date" means the earliest of:

(@)

in the case of the occurrence of a SARON Index Cessation
Event described in clause (a) of the definition thereof, the date
on which the SARON Administrator ceases to provide the
Swiss Average Rate Overnight;

in the case of the occurrence of a SARON Index Cessation
Event described in sub clause (b)(x) of the definition thereof,
the latest of:

(A) the date of such statement or publication;

(B) the date, if any, specified in such statement or
publication as the date on which the Swiss Average
Rate Overnight will no longer be representative; and

(C) if a SARON Index Cessation Event described in sub-
clause (b) of the definition thereof has occurred on or
prior to either or both dates specified in sub-clauses
(A) and (B) of this clause (b), the date as of which the
Swiss Average Rate Overnight may no longer be
used; and

in the case of the occurrence of a SARON Index Cessation
Event described in sub clause (b)(y) of the definition thereof,
the date as of which the Swiss Average Rate Overnight may
no longer be used;

"SARON Index Cessation Event" means the occurrence of one or
more of the following events:

(@)

a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf
of the SARON Administrator, or by any competent authority,
announcing or confirming that the SARON Administrator has
ceased or will cease to provide the Swiss Average Rate
Overnight permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the
time of such statement or publication, there is no successor
administrator that will continue to provide the Swiss Average
Rate Overnight; or

a public statement or publication of information by the SARON
Administrator or any competent authority announcing that (x)
the Swiss Average Rate Overnight is no longer representative
or will as of a certain date no longer be representative, or (y)
the Swiss Average Rate Overnight may no longer be used
after a certain date, which statement, in the case of sub-clause
(y), is applicable to (but not necessarily limited to) fixed income
securities and derivatives;

"SARON Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the
order below that can be determined by the Replacement Rate
Determination Agent as of the SARON Index Cessation Effective Date:

(@)

the Recommended SARON Replacement Rate for such
Zurich Banking Day, giving effect to the Recommended
SARON Adjustment Spread, if any, published on such Zurich
Banking Day;
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(b) the policy rate of the Swiss National Bank (the "SNB Policy
Rate") for such Zurich Banking Day, giving effect to the SNB
Adjustment Spread, if any; or

(c) the alternative rate of interest that has been selected by the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent as the replacement
for the then-current SARON Benchmark, being such industry-
accepted successor rate or, if no such rate exists, it shall
select such rate that it has determined is most comparable to
the Swiss Average Rate Overnight;

"SARON Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect
to any SARON Replacement, any technical, administrative or
operational changes (including, but not limited to, timing and frequency
of determining rates with respect to each interest period and making
payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, day count
fractions, business day convention, amendments to any other
Condition and other administrative matters) that the Replacement
Rate Determination Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the
adoption of such SARON Replacement in a manner substantially
consistent with market practice (or, if the Replacement Rate
Determination Agent determines that adoption of any portion of such
market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Replacement
Rate Determination Agent determines that no market practice for use
of the SARON Replacement exists, in such other manner as the
Replacement Rate Determination Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
the case may be, determines is reasonably necessary, acting in good
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner); and

"SNB Adjustment Spread" means, with respect to the SNB Policy
Rate, the spread to be applied to the SNB Policy Rate in order to
reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable under the
circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to
Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the Swiss Average Rate
Overnight with the SNB Policy Rate for the purposes of determining
SARON, which spread will be determined by the Calculation Agent,
acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, taking
into account the historical median between the Swiss Average Rate
Overnight and the SNB Policy Rate during the two year period ending
on the date on which the SARON Index Cessation Event occurred (or,
if more than one SARON Index Cessation Event has occurred, the
date on which the first of such events occurred).

TONA

Where "Screen Rate Determination — TONA" is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the manner in which a Rate of Interest or
Rate is to be determined, such Rate of Interest or Rate, as the case
may be, for each Interest Period will be Compounded Daily TONA plus
or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if
any), all as determined by the Principal Paying Agent or the
Calculation Agent, as applicable, calculated in accordance with this
Condition 3(e)(iii)(6)(A), subject to the provisions of Condition
3(e)(iii)(6)(B) and 3(e)(iii)(6)(C).

The following definitions shall apply for the purpose of this Condition

3(e)(iii)(6):
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"Compounded Daily TONA" means, with respect to an Interest
Period, an amount equal to the rate of return of a daily compounded
interest investment in Japanese yen (with the daily Tokyo Overnight
Average rate as the reference rate for the calculation of interest),
calculated by the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as
applicable, on the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance
with the following formula:

(@)

if "TONA Compound with Lookback" is specified as the
Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms:

do TONA;_ X n; 365
1_[ (1 n i—pTBD l) 1] %22
i=1 365 d

with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to
the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 per cent. (0.00005%)
being rounded upwards;

"d" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the number of
calendar days in such Interest Period;

"do" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the number of
Tokyo Banking Days in such Interest Period;

"I'" means, in respect of an Interest Period, a series of whole
numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant Tokyo
Banking Days in chronological order from (and including) the
first Tokyo Banking Day in such Interest Period;

"Lookback Period" or "p" means the number of Tokyo
Banking Days specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no
such number is specified, 5 Tokyo Banking Days;

"ni" means, in respect of a Tokyo Banking Dayi, the number of
calendar days from (and including) such Tokyo Banking Dayi
up to (but excluding) the following Tokyo Banking Day; and

"TONA;,BD" Means, in respect of a Tokyo Banking Dayi,
TONA in respect of the Tokyo Banking Day falling p Tokyo
Banking Days prior to such Tokyo Banking Day;

if "TONA Compound with Observation Period Shift" is
specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final
Terms:
do ( TONAl-xnl-) _ ] ﬁ
[Hi=1 1+ 365 1] % d
with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to

the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 per cent. (0.00005%)
being rounded upwards;

"d" means, in respect of a TONA Observation Period, the
number of calendar days in such TONA Observation Period;

"do" means, in respect of a TONA Observation Period, the
number of Tokyo Banking Days in such TONA Observation
Period;

"I"" means, in respect of a TONA Observation Period, a series
of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the Tokyo
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Banking Days in chronological order from (and including) the
first Tokyo Banking Day in such TONA Observation Period;

"ni" means, in respect of a Tokyo Banking Dayi, the number of
calendar days from (and including) such Tokyo Banking Dayi
up to (but excluding) the following Tokyo Banking Day;

"Observation Shift Days" means the number of Relevant
Business Days specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no
such number is specified, 5 Relevant Business Days;

"Relevant Business Day" means a day which is (i) a Tokyo
Banking Day, (ii) if one or more Observation Shift Business
Centre(s) (other than T2) are specified in the applicable Final
Terms, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle
payments and are open for general business (including dealing
in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the
relevant Observation Shift Business Centre(s) and (iii) if "T2"
is specified as an Observation Shift Business Centre, a day on
which the real time gross settlement system operated by the
Eurosystem or any successor or replacement for that system
(the "T2") is open;

"TONA Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest
Period, the period from (and including) the date falling the
number of Observation Shift Days prior to the first day of such
Interest Period and ending on (but excluding) the date that is
the number Observation Shift Days prior to the next occurring
Interest Period End Date in such Interest Period;

"TONA;" means, in respect of a Tokyo Banking Dayi, TONA in
respect of such Tokyo Banking Dayi; and

"Tokyo Banking Day" means a day on which commercial banks are
open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and
foreign currency deposits) in Tokyo; and

"TONA" means the rate determined by the Principal Paying Agent or
the Calculation Agent, as applicable, in respect of a Tokyo Banking
Day, being the Tokyo Overnight Average (TONA) rate administered by
the Bank of Japan (or any successor administrator) for such Tokyo
Banking Day as provided by the administrator of TONA to authorised
distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or, if
the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by
such authorised distributors) in each case as of approximately 10.00
a.m. (Tokyo time) (or any amended publication time as specified by the
administrator of such rate) on the Tokyo Banking Day immediately
following such Tokyo Banking Day. If no such rate is published by the
administrator of TONA or an authorised distributor and is not otherwise
provided by the administrator of TONA other than as a consequence of
a TONA Index Cessation Event, then TONA for such Tokyo Banking
Day will be TONA last provided or published on the Relevant Screen
Page (or as otherwise published by relevant authorised distributors)
that appears at approximately 10.00 a.m. (Tokyo time) on the Bank of
Japan's Website on the Tokyo Banking Day immediately following such
Tokyo Banking Day.

Correction of TONA
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If TONA in respect of any Tokyo Banking Day is subsequently
corrected and provided by the administrator of TONA to authorised
distributors of TONA and published on the Relevant Screen Page no
later than the Correction Cut-off Time (if any) or, if later (or there is no
such Correction Cut-off Time), one hour after the rate for such Tokyo
Banking Day is published on the Relevant Screen Page, then TONA in
respect of such Tokyo Banking Day shall be the subsequently
corrected and published rate appearing on the Relevant Screen Page.

Where:

"Correction Cut-off Time" means the time specified as such by the
administrator of TONA in the TONA benchmark methodology.

TONA Fallbacks

If the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable,
failing which the Issuer, determines at any time prior to the TONA
Reference Time on any Tokyo Banking Day that a TONA Index
Cessation Event has occurred, then the rate in respect of each Tokyo
Banking Day falling on or after the TONA Index Cessation Effective
Date will be the JPY Recommended Rate.

If there is a JPY Recommended Rate before the end of the first Tokyo
Banking Day following the TONA Index Cessation Effective Date, but
neither the administrator nor authorised distributors provide or publish
the JPY Recommended Rate, then, subject to the below, in respect of
any day for which the JPY Recommended Rate is required, references
to the JPY Recommended Rate will be deemed to be references to the
last provided or published JPY Recommended Rate. However, if there
is no last provided or published JPY Recommended Rate, then in
respect of any day for which the JPY Recommended Rate is required,
references to the JPY Recommended Rate will be deemed to be
references to the last provided or published TONA.

If:

(a) (there is no JPY Recommended Rate before the end of the first
Tokyo Banking Day following the TONA Index Cessation
Effective Date; or

(b) there is a JPY Recommended Rate and a JPY Recommended
Rate Index Cessation Effective Date subsequently occurs in
respect of such JPY Recommended Rate,

then the rate in respect of each Tokyo Banking Day falling on or after
the TONA Index Cessation Effective Date or a JPY Recommended
Rate Fixing Day occurring on or after the JPY Recommended Rate
Index Cessation Effective Date, as the case may be, will be a
commercially reasonable alternative for TONA or the JPY
Recommended Rate, as the case may be, as determined by the
Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, acting
in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, taking into
account any rate implemented by central counterparties and/or futures
exchanges, in each case with trading volumes in derivatives or futures
referencing TONA or the JPY Recommended Rate (as applicable) that
the Principal Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent, as applicable,
considers sufficient for that rate to be a representative alternative rate.

For the purposes of this Condition 3(e)(iii)(6)(C):
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"JPY Recommended Rate" means, in respect of any Tokyo Banking
Day, the rate (inclusive of any spreads or adjustments) recommended
as the replacement for TONA by a committee officially endorsed or
convened by the Bank of Japan for the purpose of recommending a
replacement for TONA (which rate may be produced by the Bank of
Japan or another administrator) and as provided by the administrator
of that rate or, if that rate is not provided by the administrator thereof
(or a successor administrator), published by an authorised distributor
in respect of such day;

"JPY Recommended Rate Fixing Day" means, in respect of the JPY
Recommended Rate and any day, the publication day specified by the
administrator of the JPY Recommended Rate for the JPY
Recommended Rate in its benchmark methodology;

"JPY Recommended Rate Index Cessation Effective Date" means,
in respect of the JPY Recommended Rate and a JPY Recommended
Rate Index Cessation Event, the first date on which the JPY
Recommended Rate would ordinarily have been published or provided
and is no longer published or provided;

"JPY Recommended Rate Index Cessation Event" means, in
respect of the JPY Recommended Rate:

(a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf
of the administrator of the JPY Recommended Rate
announcing that it has ceased or will cease to provide the JPY
Recommended Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that,
at the time of the statement or publication, there is no
successor administrator that will continue to provide the JPY
Recommended Rate; or

(b) a public statement or publication of information by the
regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the JPY
Recommended Rate, the central bank for the currency of the
JPY Recommended Rate, an insolvency official with
jurisdiction over the administrator of the JPY Recommended
Rate, a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the
administrator of the JPY Recommended Rate or a court or an
entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the
administrator of the JPY Recommended Rate, which states
that the administrator of the JPY Recommended Rate has
ceased or will cease to provide the JPY Recommended Rate
permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of the
statement or publication, there is no successor administrator
that will continue to provide the JPY Recommended Rate;

"TONA Index Cessation Effective Date" means, in respect of TONA
and a TONA Index Cessation Event, the first date on which TONA
would ordinarily have been published or provided and is no longer
published or provided;

"TONA Index Cessation Event" means, in respect of TONA:

(a) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf
of the administrator of TONA announcing that it has ceased or
will cease to provide TONA permanently or indefinitely,
provided that, at the time of the statement or publication, there
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is no successor administrator that will continue to provide
TONA; or

(b) a public statement or publication of information by the
regulatory supervisor for the administrator of TONA, the central
bank for the currency of TONA, an insolvency official with
jurisdiction over the administrator of TONA, a resolution
authority with jurisdiction over the administrator of TONA or a
court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority
over the administrator of TONA, which states that the
administrator of TONA has ceased or will cease to provide
TONA permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of
the statement or publication, there is no successor
administrator that will continue to provide TONA; and

"TONA Reference Time" means, with respect to any determination of
TONA, 10.00 a.m. (Tokyo time) on the Tokyo Banking Day immediately
following the date of such determination.

(f) Definitions

In these Conditions

"BBSW" means the Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate;

"Business Day" means:

(i

a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle
payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign
exchange and foreign currency deposits) in any Additional Business Centre
(other than T2) specified in the applicable Final Terms;

if T2 is specified as an Additional Business Centre in the applicable Final
Terms, a day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross
Settlement Express Transfer (T2) System (the "T2") is open; and

either (A) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than
euro or CNY, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets
settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign
exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the
country of the relevant Specified Currency (any such centre, an "Additional
Business Centre" and which, if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or
New Zealand dollars shall be Sydney or Auckland, respectively), or (B) in
relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the T2 is open or (C) in
relation to any sum payable in CNY, unless otherwise specified in the
applicable Final Terms, a day on which commercial banks and foreign
exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the
CNY Settlement Centre(s);

"Calculation Period" means each Interest Period, AER Calculation Period, FR Calculation
Period, SPS Call Valuation Period or SPS Put Valuation Period, as applicable;

"CMT Rate" means, in respect of an Initial Period or a Reset Period and the related Initial Rate
Determination Date or Reset Determination Date, as the case may be, the rate determined by
the Calculation Agent and expressed as a percentage equal to:

(i)

the yield for U.S. Treasury Securities at "constant maturity” for the relevant
CMT Rate Maturity, as published in the H.15(519) under the caption "Treasury
constant maturities (Nominal)", as that yield is displayed, for the relevant Initial
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Rate Determination Date or Reset Determination Date, as the case may be,
on the CMT Rate Screen Page; or

(ii) if the yield referred to in (i) above is not published by 4:00 p.m. (New York City
time) on the CMT Rate Screen Page on such Initial Rate Determination Date
or Reset Determination Date, as the case may be, the yield for U.S. Treasury
Securities at "constant maturity" for the relevant CMT Rate Maturity as
published in the H.15(519) under the caption "Treasury constant maturities
(Nominal)" for such Initial Rate Determination Date or Reset Determination
Date, as the case may be; or

(iii) if the yield referred to in (ii) above is not published by 4:30 p.m. (New York City
time) on such Initial Rate Determination Date or Reset Determination Date, as
the case may be, the Reset Reference Dealer Rate on such Initial Rate
Determination Date or Reset Determination Date, as the case may be; or

(iv) if fewer than three Reference Dealers selected by the Calculation Agent
provide bid prices for the purposes of determining the Reset Reference Dealer
Rate referred to in (iii) above as described in the definition of Reset Reference
Dealer Rate, the CMT Rate applicable to the last preceding Reset Period or,
in the case of (x) the Initial Period, the Initial CMT Rate or (y) the Reset Period
commencing on the First Reset Date, the Initial Rate of Interest minus the First
Margin;

"CMT Rate Maturity" means the designated maturity for the CMT Rate to be used for the
determination of the Reset Rate, as specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"CMT Rate Screen Page" means page H15T5Y on the Bloomberg L.P. service or any
successor service or such other page as may replace that page on that service for the purpose
of displaying "Treasury constant maturities" as reported in the H.15(519);

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of a rate or an amount of interest
for any Interest Period:

(a) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms:

(i) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period
from (and including) the most recent Interest Period End Date (or, if
none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the
relevant payment date (the "Accrual Period") is equal to or shorter
than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends,
the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of
(1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the
number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Final
Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; or

(ii) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the
Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum
of:

(x) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the
Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins
divided by the product of (a) the number of days in such
Determination Period and (b) the number of Determination
Dates (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would
occur in one calendar year; and

(y) the number of days In such Accrual Period falling in the next
Determination Period divided by the product of (a) the number
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of days in such Determination Period and (b) the humber of
Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year;

"Determination Date(s)" means the date(s) specified in the applicable Final
Terms;

"Determination Period" means each period from (and including) a
Determination Date to but excluding the next Determination Date (including,
where either the Interest Commencement Date or the Interest Period End Date
is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination
Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such
date);

if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" or "Actual/Actual" is specified in the applicable Final
Terms, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or,
if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (1) the
